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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market desighed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of L & A International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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CORPORATE INFO
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REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS
Maples Corporate Services Limited

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit No. D, 5th Floor, Wing Hong Centre,

No. 18 Wing Hong Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Chun Kavan

Ms. Wang Tsz Yue

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (appointed on 24 October 2019)
Mr. Ng Ka Ho (Chairman) (resigned on 7 May 2019)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie (appointed on 6 June 2019)

Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis (appointed on 6 June 2019)

Mr. Chan Pak Qiu (appointed on 8 January 2020)

Mr. Ma Chi Ming (resigned on 7 May 2019)

Ms. Guo Yan Xia (removed on 6 June 2019)

Mr. Li Kin Ping (resigned on 8 January 2020)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie (Chairman)
(appointed on 6 June 2019)
Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis (appointed on 6 June 2019)
Mr. Chan Pak Qiu (appointed on 8 January 2020)
Mr. Ma Chi Ming (resigned on 7 May 2019)
Ms. Guo Yan Xia (removed on 6 June 2019)
Mr. Li Kin Ping (resigned on 8 January 2020)

2 i
€<

2222222222222l
e o o S e . . . S T, N . ., Y o, s .

FEREEMREE
Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.0. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

BERANREEEE R

BB NLBKERA185E
KEEHOSEDE

BTES
Bl st
e
RMREE (R-B—AF+A-+mAEEE)
[RRBEE (FF) R-T-NFRALARHE)

BYFHITES

BRANESEE (R=B—NFRANBEERE)
KEREE (R=-T—AFXAXBEERE)
RIESE (R_E-FF—A/\BEEI)
BERLE (R=F—NFRALARE)
BEELLT (R NFAAXARER)
FEFPHEE (R_T_TF—A\BEE)

BEREEY
PRABSE (/)
(R=Z—NFXANARERE)

REFRE (R-B—NFAANAEEE)
RIEHELE (R A/\ABEE)
FERLE (R NFRALARE)
BHELL (R-T-AFAANARER)
FRTEE (R=B=FF—A/\BEHE)

TR RARAE / 2020 F3k 1



CORPORATE INFORMATION
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Chan Pak Qiu (Chairman)
(appointed on 8 January 2020)
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan (appointed on 7 May 2019)
Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis (appointed on 6 June 2019)
Mr. Ng Ka Ho (resigned on 7 May 2019)
Ms. Guo Yan Xia (removed on 6 June 2019)
Mr. Li Kin Ping (resigned on 8 January 2020)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Chan Pak Qiu (Chairman)
(appointed on 8 January 2020)
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan (appointed on 7 May 2019)
Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis (appointed on 6 June 2019)
Mr. Ng Ka Ho (resigned on 7 May 2019)
Ms. Guo Yan Xia (removed on 6 June 2019)
Mr. Li Kin Ping (resigned on 8 January 2020)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan (appointed on 7 May 2019)
Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon
(appointed on 27 November 2019)
Mr. Ng Ka Ho (resigned on 7 May 2019)
Mr. Wong Tin King Richard (resigned on 27 November 2019)

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited

P.0. Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Union Registrar Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F

Two Chinachem Exchange Square

338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong
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PRINCIPAL BANKER

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
Dah Sing Bank

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon
(appointed on 27 November 2019)
Mr. Wong Tin King Richard (resigned on 27 November 2019)

AUDITOR
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

COMPANY'S WEBSITE
Wwww.lna.com.hk

STOCK CODE
8195
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally derives its revenue from the following
business arms: (i) OEM business segment, which entails product
design and development, raw materials sourcing and procurement,
manufacturing and product quality control management (the “OEM
Business”); (i) apparel retail business segment, which entails
designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing of pure
cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as accessories
through the retail network in Hong Kong under the Group's own
brand and high-end fashion brand (the “Retail Business”); (i) money
lending business segment, which provides financing to customers
for interest income (“Money Lending Business”); (iv) wholesaling
business segment, which covers the wholesaling and distribution
of seafood (“Wholesaling Business”); (v) financial quotient and
investment education business segment, which provides financial
quotient and investment education courses for the customers in
return of tuition fees from them (“Financial Quotient and Investment
Education Business”); and (vi) property investment business
(“Property Investment Business”).

OEM Business

The garment sector of the consumer market has experienced a
downturn in recent years. Nonetheless, the Group had stepped
up the efforts in securing new customers and orders, controlling
expenses and looking for ways to improve the business. During the
year ended 31 March 2020, the Group continued to implement the
operation model for placing orders with other OEM manufacturers,
while maintaining the quality control standard, which attributed to
the substantial reduction in the costs of operation.

Retail Business

While the economic slowdown in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), the social unrest and the outbreak of coronavirus in Hong
Kong eroded consumer confidence, the shifting of pattern to online
shopping further negatively impacted the Retail Business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
R EHRR D

Under such an unfavorable ambience, the Group has adopted
a prudent approach in restructuring its sales network aiming at
minimising the operating costs amid meeting the shift of consumers’
preference towards shopping online.

Money Lending Business

The Group obtained the money lender licence and commenced
Money Lending Business from June 2016. During the year ended 31
March 2020, the Money Lending Business had generated interest
income of approximately HK$2.6 million, representing an increase of
approximately 9.2% as compared to that of last financial year.

Wholesaling Business

The Wholesaling Business commenced operation during the year
ended 31 March 2019 and generated revenue of approximately
HK$23.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The products are
mainly seafood.

Financial Quotient and Investment Education
Business

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group established the
Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business. The Group
provides financial quotient and investment education courses for
the customers, aiming at enhancing their knowledge in the areas of
finance and investment.

The Group in return earns tuition fee income from the provision
of courses. Certain courses were completed with inspiring
achievements and revenue of approximately HK$0.3 million was
generated during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Property Investment Business

The Group also established the Property Investment Business during
the year ended 31 March 2020. The Group acquired a property
in Japan in June 2019. The appreciation potential of the property
acquired is expected to be promising.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
EREN B R AT

PROSPECTS

For the OEM Business, the management of the Group (the
“Management”) is committed to strengthening the customer base.
The Group will continue to find new orders and customers. Also, with
the implementation of this OEM operation model, the Management
expects that there will be a better control of costing.

For the Retail Business, the Management will closely monitor the
consumers’ behaviour and will continue the promotion campaigns.
The Management is also closely monitoring the movement of
rental for the retail outlets and will adjust the business plan for
the Retail Business if necessary. Because of the social unrest and
the outbreak of coronavirus in Hong Kong, there was an adverse
impact to the Group and accordingly, the Management will actively
keep monitoring the performance of the Group, and will implement
appropriate strategy in a timely manner. Despite the uncertainties,
the Management still remains positive towards the Retail Business in
the long run.

For Money Lending Business, the Group will continue to expand in a
prudent and balanced risk management approach.

The Group will (i) invest resources to expand the share in the
financial quotient and investment education market, and (i) strive to
broaden its customer base. The Group is also seeking opportunities
of asset appreciation and cash flow return in the property market
within Hong Kong and in the Asia-Pacific region.

The Group will cooperate with the stakeholders in the market when
necessary, so as to diversify and expand its businesses.

6 L & A International Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2020

Al

ERBREHEREXRGIE  ASEEEE ([B12
B BNEARIR - REBBEESIHITER
B o WO T RBRERELERAR &
B ETREAR AL B B U B IR A -

EZEXERTH ERERBIERBEBETT
R WHEEETHERETY ERENEBIESR
ZEEHNESED  YEERERARTER
BB - ERTELEBERERRSH
B HEAKEELETANEE Bt €28
BREEBERARE IR - YKEREGR
EHRYERE BEFETHMRE  HEERE
HEEXBNREZRMDARFEBRLE -

EREEBIE  AEESEEUARERERF
R EEN T IREER -

AEEHNRAERABEART B RREHAETS
D - RINBNBEBAFR - AEEITRERES
NEFAMRNMET ST REEREBERBESR
(O] R

AEEBEETERETS NN EAE &
RLEEBEBL T RIBAER -

57 S A T T, . T, . ./ A,



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased from approximately HK$71.7 million
for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$74.3 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020, representing an increase of
approximately 3.5%. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
social unrest and the outbreak of corona virus in Hong Kong
eroded customer confidence, the revenue of OEM Business slightly
decreased by approximately 9.4% to approximately HK$40.2 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020 as compared to the year ended
31 March 2019. Revenue from the Retail Business increased to
approximately HK$7.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2020, this
was mainly due to the one-off and bulky sales of its aged and slow-
moving inventories. On the other hand, the Money Lending Business
and Wholesaling Business contributed revenue of approximately
HK$2.6 million and HK$23.4 million respectively during the year
ended 31 March 2020.
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Cost of Sales

The majority of the Group’s cost of sales was raw material costs.
The Group's cost of sales increased by approximately 7.4% to
approximately HK$66.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 as
compared to the year ended 31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

EXxpenses

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 March
2020 was approximately HK$18.5 million (2019: HK$33.4 million),
representing an decrease of approximately HK$14.9 million. The
decrease was due to the Management's efforts in controlling our
expenses and costs of operations.

Loss for the year

The loss for the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK$34.0 million. The loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
approximately HK$10.1 million.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Capital structure

As at 31 March 2020, the share capital and equity attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$51.2 million
and HK$52.6 million respectively (2019: HK$51.2 million and HK$98.2
million respectively). Details of the capital management are set out in
the Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Cash position

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of the Group’s unpledged
bank balances and cash was approximately HK$2.1 million (2019:
HK$5.2 million), representing a decrease of approximately 59.3% as
compared to that of at 31 March 2019.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s total borrowings were HK$16.5
million (31 March 2019: Nil). The gearing ratio was approximately
31.4% as at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019: approximately Nil).

8 L & A International Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE R AT

Exchange Rate Exposure

The Group's business operations are denominated mainly in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") and United States Dollars (“USD"). The Group’s
assets and liabilities are mainly denominated in HK$. Currently, the
Group has not entered into agreements or purchased instruments to
hedge the Group’s exchange rate risks.

The Management considers that the foreign exchange risk with
respect to USD is not significant as HK$ is pledged to USD. The Group
manages foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement
of the foreign currency rates.

Significant Investments Held, Material
Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Affiliated Companies, and Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

During year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has disposed of three
inactive subsidiaries and a gain of approximately HK$0.14 million
was generated. On 8 October 2019, Able Glorious Limited (the
“Purchaser”), a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and the Vendor entered into the Agreement, pursuant to which, the
Purchaser has agreed to acquire and the Vendor has agreed to sell
the Sale Shares, representing 30% of the issued share capital of the
Prestige Concord Limited (the “Target Group”), at the Consideration
of HK$15,400,000, which has been fully satisfied in cash upon
Completion. The Target Group was engaged in the development
of the business in provision of financial quotient and investment
experience-sharing seminars in Hong Kong. Details of the transaction
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 8 October 2019.

Save for the above as these acquisitions and disposal and as
disclosed elsewhere in this report, there were no significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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On 11 May 2020, the Purchaser entered into another agreement,
pursuant to which, the Purchaser agreed to acquire the entire issued
share capital of the Bewisekid Holding Limited (“Bewisekid Group”),
at the Consideration of HK$33,250,000, which has been fully satisfied
by the issue and allotment of the consideration shares at the issue
price of HK$0.135 per consideration share by the Company upon
completion. Bewisekid Group is principally engaged in provision of
seminars on the UK property investment experience sharing in Hong
Kong, together with the provision of play-based learning activities
to enhance the overall development for children aged from 6 to 14
years old in Hong Kong. Details of the transaction were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 11 May 2020.

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no future plan for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 March 2020.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2020
(2019: Nil).

Capital Commitments
The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March 2020
(2019: Nil).

Employees and Emolument Policies

The Group had approximately 30 employees (including Directors)
as at 31 March 2020 (2019: 30). The Group recruits and promotes
individuals based on their performance and development potential
in the positions held. In order to attract and retain high quality staff
and to enable smooth operation within the Group, the Group offers
competitive remuneration packages (with reference to market
conditions and individual qualifications and experience) and various
in-house training courses. The remuneration packages are subject
to review on a regular basis. The emoluments of the Directors
and senior management are reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results, market
competitiveness, individual performance and achievement, and
approved by the Board.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DM

Legal Proceedings SEEREA

Details of the legal proceedings of the Group as at 31 March 2020 AEER-ZZ=TF=F=+—HZEEFLF
are set out in Note 47 to the consolidated financial statements. BERP RS W TSR M 5E47 -

Securities Investment Held by the Group AEEFEFERFRE

Details of the investment in equity securities listed in Hong Kong and ~ R&EB LEMRIRABEHIGE RERIFBFHIBLT -
their performance are as follows:

Movement during the
year ended 31 March 2020
BE-E-EE-BoT-RLERNED

% of
% interest % of interest Loss
to the total of the %o the ofthe  on disposal/
assets of  respective total assets  respective  redemption
the Group  investments  Fair value Fair valug ~of the Group  investments  for the year
asat asat asat  Addition/ Change asat asat asat ended
1 April 1 April {Aprl  (disposall, ~onfair  3(March  31March  31March  31March

Name of investments Notes 2019 2019 2019 net  value, net 2020 2020 2020
NE-NE g2
BE-A HZ5-nE 3EE WOECBE N33R
x50  BA-A RE-AE 2 =R=t-A =R=f-A
EEAEN (EBRE TMA-AN & ATE B fEBRE LLEEHE
Al ERHEMY ATE (tE)FE  #9FE ERIEAM
HKS000 s o0 ko0
7 T
(Auditec) (Audited

Equiy securies fisted FALIRAER

inHong Kong

Food Idea Holdings HEEARERLE

Limited (8179) B179 (@) 081% 057% 926 924) - - NATER  NAKER 91
CoolLink (Holdings) CoolLink (Holdings)

Limited 8491) Limited 8491) W 651% 083% 7450 - i) 780 877% 083

My Heart Bodibra Group DUEEAREE

Limited 8297) ERLE 89 ] 058% 097% 5% (&) - - NATEE  NATEB (159
Tota fat il (158 0 780 (5
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Notes:

12

Food Idea Holdings Limited (“Food Idea”) and its subsidiaries (“Food
Idea Group”) were mainly engaged in: (i) catering services, (ii)
production, sales and distribution of food products to supermarket
chains in Hong Kong; (i) investment in securities; (iv) money lending
business; and (v) wine trading. According to the latest annual report
of Food Idea for the year ended 31 December 2019, Food Idea Group
recorded revenue and net loss of approximately HK$230.69 million and
HK$53.33 million respectively.

In view of the volatile market conditions and the trend of the share
price of Food Idea, the Management disposed of all shares of Food
Idea and recorded a realised loss of approximately HK$0.10 million
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

This investment represented 5,000,000 shares, which was
approximately 0.83% of the total issued shares of Cool Link (Holdings)
Limited (“Cool Link") as at 30 September 2019. Cool Link and its
subsidiaries (“Cool Link Group”) are principally engaged in food supplies
business.

The Group recorded an unrealised fair value gain of approximately
HK$0.40 million in respect of its investment in Cool Link for the year
ended 31 March 2020. According to Cool Link’s annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2019, Cook Link Group recorded revenue
and net loss of approximately Singapore Dollar (“S$") 23.83 million and
$$0.88 million respectively.

As disclosed in Cool Link’s latest annual report, the listing of shares is
a platform for the Cool Link Group to meet and achieve its business
opportunities and strategies which will further strengthen its market
position in the supply of food products industry. The Management
would also continue to monitor the performance and share price of
Cool Link.

My Heart Bodibra Group Limited (“My Heart Bodibra”)and its
subsidiaries (“My Heart Bodibra Group”) were mainly engaged in the
designing, manufacturing and sales of core lingerie products under
the core brand of “Bodibra” and sub-brands, namely “June”, “ooobiki”,
“Bodicare” and “invisi”. According to the latest annual report of My
Heart Bodibra for the year ended 31 March 2019, My Heart Bodibra
Group recorded revenue and net loss of approximately HK$72.86
million and HK$24.4 million respectively.

In view of the volatile market conditions and the trend of the share
price of My Heart Bodibra, the Management disposed of all the shares
of My Heart Bodibra and recorded a realised loss of approximately
HK$0.16 million during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENCGREEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Chun Kavan (% &), aged 40, was appointed as an
executive Director on 16 May 2018. He obtained a bachelor degree
in fashion design from Central Saint Martins College of Art & Design
in 2001 and a master degree in fashion design from Royal College of
Art, London in 2003. Mr. Lau is a UK trained designer with extensive
international experiences of the US, European and Asian fashion
industries. He has experience in various design positions both
internationally and in Hong Kong, and is also involved in a creative
academic institution. His notable posts include Chief Designer of
China Ting Group and head of design in the Asia Pacific region for
Lacoste.

He is the member of the remuneration committee (“Remuneration
Committee”) and nomination committee (“Nomination Committee”),
of the Board and the authorised representative (“Authorised
Representative”) and the compliance officer (“Compliance Officer”)
of the Company as at the date of this annual report. Mr. Lau is also a
director of several subsidiaries of the Group.

Ms. Wang Tsz Yue (GE£#), aged 32, was appointed as an
executive Director on 5 March 2019. Ms. Wang obtained a bachelor
degree in Communication Studies and Marketing from Hong Kong
Baptist University and University of Wollongong. Ms. Wang has four
years of experience in education sector and has more than eight
years of experience in sales and marketing industry. Ms. Wang is
also a director of several subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (= # %), aged 32, was appointed as an
executive Director on 24 October 2019. He obtained a bachelor
degree in Social Sciences (Honours) in Administration and Public
Management from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yuen has
over four years' experience in event management and organizing
investment experience-sharing courses and seminars. Mr. Yuen
currently serves as a director of associated company of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENCGREEEBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie (BR#I#), aged 48, FCCA, CPA (Practising),
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 6 June
2019 and is a chairman of the audit committee (“Audit Committee”)
of the Board. He holds a master degree in Professional Accounting
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Diploma in
Accounting from Kwai Chung Technical Institute. He has engaged
in the accounting industry since 1993 and has over 20 years of
extensive experience in accounting and auditing. He is the sole
proprietor of PASICO CPA & Co.

Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis (R % %), aged 61, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director and a member of each of
the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee on 6 June 2019. Mr. Ng has extensive experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate affairs. He
is a chartered accountant of The Chartered Accountants Australia
and New Zealand (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in Australia) as well as a fellow member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a practising
certified public accountant.

Mr. Ng is how a company secretary of MEIGU Technology Holding
Group Limited (HKEx Stock Code: 8349). He is also an independent
non-executive director of Media Asia Group Holdings Limited (HKEx
Stock Code: 8075), an independent non-executive director of Kirin
Group Holdings Limited (HKEx Stock Code: 8109) and an independent
non-executive director of China City Infrastructure Group Limited
(HKEX Stock Code: 2349).

Mr. Chan Pak Qiu (BR # #8), aged 38, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 8 January 2020. He is also a
chairman of each of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee and a member of Audit Committee. He obtained a
bachelor degree in Information Technology from University of
Western Sydney and a degree of Master of Arts in Housing Studies
from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan has over 13 years
of experience in management and development of commercial,
residential and industrial properties projects. Mr. Chan is a chartered
member of Chartered Institute of Housing and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Housing. He is also a professional member of
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.
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The Board is pleased to present their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally derives its revenue from six business arms: (i)
OEM Business, which entails product design and development, raw
materials sourcing and procurement, manufacturing and product
quality control management; (i) Retail Business, which entails
designing, procuring, manufacturing, marketing and retailing of pure
cashmere apparel and other apparel products as well as accessories
through the retail network in Hong Kong under the Group’s own
brand and high-end fashion brand; (i) Money Lending Business,
which provides financing to customers for interest income; (iv)
Wholesaling Business, which covers the wholesaling and distribution
of seafood; (v) Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business,
which provides financial quotient and investment education courses
for the customers in return of tuition fees from them; and (vi)
Property Investment Business.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2020 are set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 52 to 226.
During the year ended 31 March 2020, no interim dividend (2019:
Nil) was declared and paid. The Directors do not recommend the
payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020. (2019:
Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there was no arrangement
under which any shareholder waived or agreed to waive any
dividend.

Further details of dividends are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its financial performance and financial position
can be found in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on pages 4 to 12.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group commits to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection
and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources,
energy saving and waste reduction. The Group also commits to the
principle and practice of recycling and reducing. To help conserve
the environment, it implements green office practices such as
redeployment of office furniture as far as possible, encourages use
of recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided printing
and copying and reduces energy consumption by switching off idle
lightings, air conditioning and electrical appliances.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.
During the year, the Group has complied, to the best of our
knowledge, with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"),
the GEM Listing Rules, the applicable employment ordinance both in
the PRC and Hong Kong, the local standards and regulations for our
project works as well as other relevant rules and regulations. Save
as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has some
deviations from the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 15 of the
GEM Listing Rules and disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report
of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and other stakeholders to
meet its immediate and long-term goals. Save as disclosed elsewhere
in this report, there were no material and significant dispute between
the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association (“Articles of
Association”) of the Company, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their offices.
Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the
year. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers'
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM")

The 2020 AGM will be held on Friday, 31 July 2020. A circular
containing the details of 2020 AGM and the notice of 2020 AGM and
form of proxy accompanying thereto will soon be despatched to
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020 the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to Nil (2019: HK$7.6 million). The amount includes
the Company's share premium, special reserve and accumulated
losses which may be distributable provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in Note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2020.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group, as extracted from the consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 226 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital and movements during the
year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 79.4% of the total sales for the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: 80.9%) and sales to the largest customer included
therein accounted for approximately 54.2% of the total sales for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: 36.0%). Purchase from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 73.5% of
the total purchase for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: 63.6%)
and purchase from the Group's largest supplier included therein
accounted for approximately 57.4% of the total purchase for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: 21.8%).

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the
date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Kavan

Ms. Wang Tsz Yue

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum (appointed on 24 October 2019)
Mr. Ng Ka Ho (Chairman) (resigned on 7 May 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie (appointed on 6 June 2019)
Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis (appointed on 6 June 2019)
Mr. Chan Pak Qiu (appointed on 8 January 2020)

Mr. Ma Chi Ming (resigned on 7 May 2019)

Ms. Guo Yan Xia (removed on 6 June 2019)

Mr. Li Kin Ping (resigned on 8 January 2020)

By virtue of Article 16.18 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Lau Chun Kavan, Ms. Wang Tsz Yue, Mr. Yuen Yu
Sum, Mr. Chan Pak Qiu, Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis and Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie shall retire at the 2020 AGM and, being eligible, shall offer
themselves for re-election at the said meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 13 and 14 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract or an appointment letter (as the case may be) with
the Company for an initial term of one year.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, none of the Directors
being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five individuals
with highest emoluments are set out in Notes 11 and 12 to the
consolidated financial statements. For the year ended 31 March
2020, the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
whose details are included in the “Biographical Details of The
Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual report fell
within the following bands:

Frif

Remuneration Bands

EERBEEH
BHBUFPTEELBAD AT IRBAOR
ZEE (RBERAE)  MSERR—F -

BRARIREH M A D PIEEE SN - MEERRIEF
AR TERAEEEEINESF  UEEARQFET
MARBRAR—FRANMERME OXEMERSN)
& IEE RIS A 4 ©

b VA
ARREERERBIIFNTERERIBEGEM TR
RIS 0VRIEH 2 FEMR  MREBIIE - A
RAIRBABREILFTESHRBEIAL »

EERSAEEERBEFMALZ
240

EEFHRAERSFMA L ZFBHNGEAY
BREMTENR122 - BHEZTZTF=A=+—
HIEEE EZERafRERE (BN AER
[E=kafEEBREE] —8) 2FHiaE
T

Number of Individuals*
ANE*

Below HK$1,000,000 1K 731,000,0007% 7T

* Resigned Director and Senior Management during the year is not included.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
As at 31 March 2020, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and administration contracts in respect of the whole or
any principal business of the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable
smooth operation within the Group, the Group offers competitive
remuneration packages (with reference to market conditions and
individual qualifications and experience) and various training courses.
The remuneration packages are subject to review on a regular basis.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Group’s operating results, market competitiveness, individual
performance and achievement, and approved by the Board.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in
Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Details of the share option scheme of the Group are set out in Note
35 to the consolidated financial statement.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for share option scheme of the Group, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issues shares were entered into during
the year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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KMFE34 -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Saved as disclosed under the section “Connected Transactions”
below, no contract of significance to which the Company, or any
of its holding company or subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
None of the Directors and their respective associates had an interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2020 or as at 31 March 2020.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’' INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the change in
information of the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2020 and
up to the date of this annual report is set out below:

()  Mr. Lau Chun Kavan was appointed as a member of
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
Authorised Representative and Compliance Officer in place of
Mr. Ng Ka Ho on 7 May 2019,

(i) Mr. Ng Ka Ho resigned from his office as an executive Director,
Authorised Representative, Compliance Officer, the chairman
of the Board, a member of the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee on 7 May 2019;

(i)~ Mr. Ma Chi Ming resigned from his office as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee
on 7 May 2019;

(iv)  Ms. Guo Yan Xia was removed as an independent non-
executive Director at the extraordinary meeting on 6 June 2019;

(v)  Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee on 6
June 2019, and was re-designated as the chairman of the Audit
Committee on 8 January 2020,

22

L & A International Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2020

EERENTHER

BIX[FERS | —EpmEN  RERIBE
TECEE-A=T-RIEFEEARRE AE
AR R FEEERRRHMBERRRITH—T
MEEXHEEEENHETERIHEREEEXN
HENEZLEH -

EERNHFEUERPHER

RBE-_Z-_ZF=-A=1+—HLFEIN_F

“EE-A=FH BEEEREREREZH

EAREERIEEEREERBERBHEF X
A REBACHF RSP A M -

EEEREH

RIEGEM E MR AIE17.50AMNE - RBE-ZT =
SF A=+ ALFEREEAFHRAHNE
EEREFBFIIWT ¢

() BIEREER-_F-NFRALREZEIRE
FLZEGRFHEEGKE RERXRKRA
REE UEBERRSFEL

(il RREAEEVR-Z-NFRALABHENRT

BEE BERK ARIE EFgXFE-
REZEGLFMEESSKERT

(i) BEALER_Z-NEFRA-HEEET
FRTEERERZZBEXNERT -

(v) ZFBEZTR_FT—NFRNANBNBRE
RIKE F1AR R B IFNTTE RIS



DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESERE

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee on 6
June 2019;

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum was appointed as an executive Director on
24 October 2019;

Mr. Wong Tin King, Richard resigned from his office as
the company secretary of the Company and Authorised
Representative on 27 November 2019;

Mr. Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company and Authorised Representative on
27 November 2019,

Mr. Li Kin Ping resigned from his office as an independent
non-executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 8
January 2020; and

Mr. Chan Pak Qiu was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee on 8 January 2020.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in this report, there is no
other information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1)
of the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to
the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company had, or deemed to have, any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 to Rule
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2020 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors or chief executives of the Company (including their spouse
and children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporates.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option Scheme”
and “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions
in the Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company
and Its Associated Corporations” above, at no time during the year
ended 31 March 2020 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or
any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) to have any right
to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 March 2020, other than
the Directors or chief executives of the Company whose interests
or short positions are disclosed under the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executives' Interests and Short Positions in the
Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and Its
Associated Corporations” above, the following parties have interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which have to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, and who
were expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company are
listed as follows:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company

Name of shareholder

Capacity/Nature of interests

RRES LB g EmtE

Interest in controlled corporations
RZ A B R RS

Lau Lan Ying (Note)
2R (Ma)

Wong Kwan Mo (Note)
BRR (M)

Interest in controlled corporations
REEEE R R

Strong Light Investments Beneficial owner
Limited (Strong Light”)

(/\lote)
ERERRA EniE A
(r&sl) (/3/7,5{)
Ge Qingfu Beneficial owner
BEEE EnEEA

Flying Mortgage Limited
REMELRBER DA EnlEBEA

FERRREMALTREAQT R KA
B R ROR R

%%%%ﬂ R-FE-ZTF=A=+—H" KA
W% RBENEX TEFZRERITRABRA
T&Eﬁ%ﬁl%%@*ﬁﬁ%@iﬁ%@%
BmlORRE | —BRE T RENESHARF R
BABSN » AT AL HRA R R ) S ARRE A )
hiEEE S RAE G EXVEBE2 M3 B IR
TR R R MR R 5 N B 151 25 336 16
CHNATHFENTCMANEMERIAR
Eﬁ%%ﬁ&iﬁ&%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂT%Eﬂh/
THEARRZBERAE FREOEAERIRAE
{E5%3R A LN

REXTRGRBBERGHNETR

Percentage of
the Company’s

issue share

capital as at

Number of 31 March
ordinary shares 2020
HRA-ZE-2F

=A=+—H#

RATEBITR

REDLE

322,314,800 25.18%
322,314,800 25.18%
299,694,000 23.41%
128,266,200 10.02%
70,512,000 5.51%
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Note:

299,694,000 shares are owned by Strong Light. Strong Light is a company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The entire issued share capital of Strong Light is
owned as to 50% by Lau Lan Ying and 50% by Wong Kwan Mo. Lau Lan Ying
is the spouse of Wong Kwan Mo.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or
chief executives as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares or Debentures of the Company and Its Associated
Corporations” above) who had, or deemed to have, interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which has to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO,
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company'’s shares during the year ended 31
March 2020.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save for the key management personnel compensation and as
disclosed elsewhere in the annual report, the Group did not have
other significant related party/connected party transactions entered
into during the year ended 31 March 2020.

INTEREST OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed Central China International Capital Limited (“CCIC")
as the compliance adviser. CCIC has declared its independence
pursuant to Rule 6A.07 of the GEM Listing Rules. None of CCIC or its
directors, employees or close associates (as defined under the GEM
Listing Rules) had any interests in relation to the Company or in the
share capital of any member of the Group which is required to be
notified to the Group pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules
as at 31 March 2020.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Directors are
not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken
place subsequent to 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this annual
report.

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to Rule 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company periodically issues notices to its
Directors reminding them of the general prohibition on dealing in
the Company's listed securities during the blackout periods before
the publication of announcements of financial results. The Company
has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the Directors, that
all the Directors have complied with the required standards of
dealings throughout the year. The Company was not aware of any
noncompliance during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company'’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “"Corporate Governance Report” section of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
amount of public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or reappointment
and removal of external auditors; review financial statements of
the Company and judgments in respect of financial reporting;
oversee internal control procedures of the Company; and review risk
management and internal control system of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee consists of 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis and Mr. Chan Pak Qiu. Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

On 6 June 2019, pursuant to the votes by Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 6 June 2019, Ms. Guo Yan
Xia was removed and Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie and Mr. Ng Chi Ho
Dennis were appointed as independent non-executives Directors and
members of the Audit Committee.

On 9 January 2020, Mr. Li Kin Ping resigned as the Chairman of the
Audit Committee, Mr, Chan Pak Qiu was appointed as a member of
the Audit Committee, and Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie was re-designated
to be the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2020 had been
reviewed by the Audit Committee before submission to the Board
for approval. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31
March 2020 comply with applicable accounting standards, GEM
Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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AUDITOR

On 8 April 2019, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) resigned
as auditor of the Group and Crowe (HK) CPA Limited was appointed
as auditor of the Group on 17 April 2019 to fill such casual vacancy
following the resignation of Elite Partners as auditor of the Group.
Elite Partners, who acted as auditor of the Group for the financial
year of 2018.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2020
have been audited by Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, who will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Crowe (HK) CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the 2020 AGM.

By order of the Board
wong Tsz Yue
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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The Board has adopted various policies to ensure compliance
with the code provisions of the CG Code under Appendix 15 of
the GEM Listing Rules. For the year ended 31 March 2020, save for
the deviations as further explained below, the Company has fully
complied with all applicable provisions of the CG Code. The Company
will continue to enhance its corporate governance appropriate to
the conduct and growth of its business and to review its corporate
governance from time to time to ensure they comply with the
statutory and the CG Code and align with the latest developments.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six members, of which three are
executive Directors namely Mr. Lau Chun Kavan, Ms. Wang Tsz Yue
and Mr. Yuen Yu Sum and three are independent non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie, Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis and
Mr. Chan Pak Qiu.

On 7 May 2019, Mr. Ng Ka Ho resigned from his office as an executive
Director, the authorised representative, compliance officer, the
chairman of the Board and a member of the Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee; Mr. Ma Chi Ming resigned from his
office as an independent non-executive Director and a member
of the Audit Committee on 7 May 2019; and Ms. Guo Yan Xia was
removed as an independent non-executive Director on 6 June 2019,
and Mr. Li Kin Ping resigned from his office as an independent non-
executive Director, chairman of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 8 January 2020.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of the
Board, there is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material relationship(s)) among the Board members.

Save for as the resigned and removed Directors, each of the
Directors’ respective biographical details are set out in the
section headed "Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

The Board comprised of two independent non-executive Directors
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise during the year ended 31
March 2020.
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Following the resignation of Mr. Ma Chi Ming from his office as
an independent non-executive Director and a member of the
Audit Committee with effect from 7 May 2019, the number of the
independent non-executive Director fell short of the minimum
number required under Rule 5.05 (1) of the GEM Listing Rules. The
required composition of the Audit Committee did not meet the
requirements under Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules that the
Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three (3) members
comprising non-executive directors only.

On 6 June 2019, the Company has appointed Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie
and Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis as independent non-executive Directors
and members of the Audit Committee. Accordingly, the Company
has already complied with the GEM Listing Rules and code provision
as mentioned in the above paragraph since 6 June 2019, upon the
aforesaid appointments of Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie and Mr. Ng Chi Ho
Dennis.

In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association
(the "Articles of Association”), at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least
once every three years and any director appointed to fill a causal
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the
next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting. The procedures and process
of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are laid down in
the Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for reviewing the Board composition, considering and formulating
the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of Directors
and monitoring the appointment and succession planning of
Directors and assessing the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CEO

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman (“Chairman”) and the chief executive officer (“CEQ") should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
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Following the resignation of Mr. Ng Ka Ho on 7 May 2019, the Board
is in the process of finding an appropriate person to fill the vacancy
of the Chairman and CEO as soon as practicable. Meanwhile,
the Board considers that the existing Board members are able to
share the power and responsibilities of Chairman and CEO among
themselves.

As the position of chairman is vacant since 7 May 2019, no meeting
was held between the independent non-executive directors and the
chairman without the presence of other Directors during the year
ended 30 March 2020. Save for the deviation from code provision
of A.2.7 and A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Company has applied the
principles and complied all the applicable code provisions of the CG
Code set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31
March 2020.

Each of the independent non-executive Director has entered into
a service contract or an appointment letter (as the case may be)
with the Company for an initial term of one year and is subject to
termination provisions therein and retirement and re-election at the
annual general meetings of our Company in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company or any other applicable laws
from time to time whereby he/she shall vacate his office.

ROLE AND FUNCTION OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for overall management of the Group’s
business, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and
control of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising its affairs.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters of the
Group, including the approval and monitoring of major policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are reviewed
from time to time. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to any significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned
officers.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and revised in 2018 setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience. The ultimate decision will be
based on the merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company also adopted a nomination policy (The “Nomination
Policy”) on 20 December 2018. The purpose of the Nomination Policy
is to identify candidates who are suitable to become a member
of the Board and to make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of candidates nominated for directorships. The Board
shall be composed of members with balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to accomplish the Group's
business development, strategies, operation, challenges and
opportunities. The core criteria for selection include gender, age,
cultural and education background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience, number
of directorship in other listed/public companies and in case of
independent non-executive Directors, the number of years they
have already served. According to the nomination procedure,
the Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying potential
new Directors and recommends to the Board for decision. The
appointment shall be subject to the approval by the Board in
accordance with the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing Rules
and the Nomination Policy.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS
All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials regarding
the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws
and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interests and business of the Group and such induction materials
will also be provided to the newly appointed Directors before
their appointment as Directors. All Directors have been updated
on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirement to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
There is a procedure agreed by the Board to ensure Directors, upon
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. During the year
ended 31 March 2020, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/in-house briefing/
reading materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
and provided a record of training to the Company. These covered
a broad range of topics including Directors’ duties, corporate
governance and recent updates on the GEM Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all Directors for all
regular Board meetings and the Directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
Board papers in respect of regular Board meetings are sent out
in full to all Directors within reasonable time before the meeting.
Draft minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to Directors for
comment within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board committees meetings are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and
all Directors have access to Board papers and related materials, and
are provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
RECORDS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, 12 Board meetings were held,
out of which 4 were regular Board meetings for reviewing and
approving the financial and operating performance, and considering
and approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. The
attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings and
Board committees’ Meetings are set out in the table below:
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 25 September
2014 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The written terms of reference
of the Audit Committee was adopted in compliance with paragraph
C3.3 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules. On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted a set of the revised
terms of reference of the Audit Committee in line with the GEM
Listing Rules requirement. The revised terms of reference setting
out the Audit Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are
available on both the GEM website and the Company’s website. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to
assist the Board in overseeing and reviewing () the effectiveness
of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
and regulatory compliance of the Group; (i) the integrity of the
Company’s financial statements and application of accounting
standards and significant judgements contained in the financial
statements; and (jii) the relationship with the external auditors by
reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and
terms of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on
the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors.

As at 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kim Fai
Eddie, Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis and Mr. Chan Pak Qiu. Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie was the chairman of the Audit Committee. During the year
ended 31 March 2020, 4 meetings of Audit Committee were held
for, inter alia, reviewing the Group's quarterly, interim and annual
results, the financial reporting and compliance procedures, the risk
management and internal control systems, and considering the
appointment of auditors of the Company.

On 6 June 2019, Ms. Guo Yan Xia was removed and Mr. Chan Kim
Fai Eddie and Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis were appointed as independent
non-executives Directors and members of the Audit Committee.

On 9 January 2020, Mr. Li Kin Ping resigned as the Chairman of the
Audit Committee, Mr, Chan Pak Qiu was appointed as a member of
the Audit Committee, and Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie was re-designated
to be the Chairman of the Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph B1.2 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules. On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted
a set of the revised terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee in line with the GEM Listing Rules requirement. The
terms of reference setting out the Remuneration Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on both the GEM
website and the Company’s website. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to make recommendation to the
Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating
to all Directors and senior management of the Group and ensure
none of the Directors determine their own remuneration, which is
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
has adopted the operation model where it performs an advisory role
to the Board, with the Board retaining the final authority to approve
the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management.

As at 31 March 2020, the Remuneration Committee consists of
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Chi Ho
Dennis, Mr. Chan Pak Qiu and one executive Director, Mr. Lau Chun
Kavan. Mr. Mr. Chan Pak Qiu was the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 3 meetings of Remuneration
Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration
policy and structure and determining the annual remuneration
packages of the Directors and the senior management and
determining the annual remuneration packages of the newly
appointed Directors and senior management, if any.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 25
September 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with paragraph A5.2 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules. On 31 December 2018, the Board adopted a
set of the revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
in line with the GEM Listing Rules requirement. The revised terms
of reference setting out the Nomination Committee’s authority,
duties and responsibilities are available on both the GEM website
and the Company's website. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on
nomination and appointment of Directors and Board succession, with
a view to appoint to the Board individuals with suitable experience
and capabilities to maintain and improve the competitiveness of the
Company.

As at 31 March 2020, the Nomination Committee consists of two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Chi Ho Dennis,
Mr. Chan Pak Qiu and one executive Director, Mr. Lau Chun Kavan.
Mr. Chan Pak Qiu was the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, 3 meetings of Nomination
Committee were held for, inter alia, considering the retirement and
re-election of the Directors and the appointment of the new Directors
and senior management, if any. The Nomination Committee has also
reviewed the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group achieved the effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is also delegated with corporate governance functions
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board has reviewed
and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Group and is
satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions of the Company. Upon
the Company’s specific enquiry, each Director had confirmed that,
they had fully complied with the required standard of dealings and
there was no event of non-compliance for the year ended 31 March
2020.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the fees paid/payable to the
auditor of the Company, and its affiliate companies in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by them to the Group were as
follows:

22 Gl ke
BE-Z-ZHFE-A=+-BUFE ARAR
ELEH B R S SR 1 K S R R R B AR 7S B
FRBMBMEN R RS2 ERMT

Fees paid/payable HK$

Service rendered FriR it AR 7% B ENERET
Audit services ZH RS 1,200,000
Non-audit services: IERZEURT

Other services HAb AR 188,000
Total #Et 1,388,000

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute assurance against misstatement or
loss. Given the relatively simple corporate and operation structure,
the Group currently does not have an internal audit department.
The Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
as well as overseeing the formation, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems. In addition, the
Group engages an independent professional advisor with the aim of
setting up and maintaining an effective internal audit function. The
independent professional advisor assists the Board and the Audit
Committee in conducting an annual review of the effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control system in various
material aspects, including strategic, financial, operational and
compliance controls at entity and operational levels.

REREE R AR EE
EXeREFAEEARERE AR EHIEIAR
WA EARME - BEE S EERMIER ARG
EREBBEzRR  BEREHREEMIFRYER
EAT R RO SRR - R R R KRG ERE
BYHE  AEERTENPRAMIT - EFF
2HABMEREERERASEREE RS
RERzMERIEZE  BHFTREFBEERBR
R E IR R R BRI BIE o

ERREENDEEeREREEREERRE
8K ARSI E 2 BIRT - AT M BRHE o itk
REBELREEIEXRERE  BERIIERFER
HWABMEZDE - BLEXBERRDEETS LEF
RZEeUASERBREERAMBEENEZS
BEASE (BIEEKE - M5 KERNER
IKFHAREE) 2 BMIBETFEER °

=

STERERARAT /202058 39



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SEEARE

The Group reviews the internal audit charter to define the scope,
duties and responsibilities and reporting protocol of the internal
audit function. The Group also conducts an annual risk assessment
to identify potential strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks
and compliance risks of its major business. Respective internal
control measures are proposed to mitigate the consequences of the
potential risks to the Group. A continuous three-year audit plan is
devised upon the results of the risk assessment and under a risk-
based approach. An annual internal audit project is executed by the
independent professional advisor according to the three-year audit
plan with a view to assisting the Board and the Audit Committee
to evaluate the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems. The risk assessment report, three-year
audit plan and internal control report are submitted and reviewed by
the Audit Committee at least once a year. Summary of findings and
recommendations are discussed at the Audit Committee meeting
with a view to improving the Group's operations.

The Company has also formulated policies on handling and
dissemination of inside information that set out procedures in
handling inside information in a secure and proper manner and to
avoid mishandling of inside information of the Group.

The Board has received a confirmation from management on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board, through its Audit
Committee, with the professional advices and opinions from the
external professional consultant, is satisfied that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems () are adequate to meet
the needs of the Group in its current business environment; and (ii)
comply with the code provisions on internal control as set out in
Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensure
that the consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have been
adopted, appropriate accounting policies have been used and
applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates have been made. Having made appropriate enquiries, the
Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt over the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board
has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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The statement of external auditor of the Company, Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited, about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all shareholders. The Company encourages two-way
communications with both its institutional and private investors.
A shareholder’'s communication policy was adopted by the Board
on 25 September 2014 aiming at providing the shareholders and
potential investors with ready and timely access to balanced
and understandable information of the Company. Extensive
information about the Company’s activities is provided in its interim
report, quarterly reports and this annual report, which are sent
to shareholders of the Company. The AGM provides a valuable
forum for direct communication between the Board and the
Company's shareholders. The Board as well as Chairmen of the
Board committees together with the auditor will present to answer
shareholders’ questions. The circular of the AGM is distributed to
all shareholders at least 21 clear days before the meeting. Separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each separate
issue and voting of which are taken by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules. Any results of the poll are published on both the GEM
website and the Company’s website. All corporate communication
with shareholders will be posted on the Company’s website for
shareholders” information.

The 2019 AGM was held on 30 September 2019 and two
extraordinary general meetings were held on 6 June 2019 and 23
March 2020 respectively. Save as the attendance of the Board
disclosed under the paragraph headed “Number of Meetings and
Attendance Records” above, the auditor also attended the 2019
AGM to answer questions of the shareholders. The Company keeps
on promoting investor relations and enhancing communication
with the existing shareholders and potential investors. It welcomes
suggestions from investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries
to the Board or the Company may be sent by post to the Company’s
head office or by email to info@lna.com.hk.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to the approval of the shareholders and requirement of
the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends to the
shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is
stable and there is no significant investment or commitment made
by the Group. The aggregate amount of dividend per year shall
not exceed 20% of the consolidated annual net profits (excluding
extraordinary items, if any) attributable to the shareholders of the
Company, taking into consideration the criteria described below.
The remaining net profits will be used for Group’s development
and operations. The dividend policy allows the Company to declare
special dividends from time to time in addition to the annual
dividends.

The Company's ability to pay dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the Group's current and future operations, financial
position, development pipeline, prevailing economic environment,
contractual restrictions, capital and other reserve requirements,
dividends received from the Company'’s subsidiaries and associates,
as well as any other conditions or factors which the Board deems
relevant and having regard to the Directors’ fiduciary duties.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary (‘Company Secretary”) of the Company, Mr.
Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon (“Mr. Au Yeung"), was appointed on 27
November 2019. Mr. Au Yeung is appointed a representative from
an external secretarial services provider as the Company Secretary.
Mr. Au Yeung is a member of Hong Kong Institute of certified Public
Accountants. The primary contact person of the Company with the
company secretary is Ms. Wang Tsz Yue, an executive Director.
The role of the Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating the
Board meeting process, as well as communications among Board
members, with shareholders and Management. During the year
ended 31 March 2020, Mr. Au Yeung undertook not less than 15
hours of professional training to update his skills and knowledge.
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MANAGEMENT OF INSIDE INFORMATION

In order to promote transparency, accountability and responsibility
in respect of the operation of a listed company, and for the
maintenance of good corporate governance, the Company, assisted
by legal advisers and financial advisers, would notify the Stock
Exchange and make relevant disclosure to the public as soon as
practicable of any inside information of the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong).

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, extraordinary
general meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of
any two or more shareholders’ holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such
requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 3
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at a
General Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the head office of the Company at Unit
No. D, 5th Floor, Wing Hong Centre, No. 18 Wing Hong Street,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/ business and its supporting documents.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries
to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns to
the Board in writing through the Company Secretary at the head
office of the Company at Unit No. D, 5th Floor, Wing Hong Centre,
No. 18 Wing Hong Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong, or send email to
info@ina.com.hk. Shareholders may also make enquiries with the
Board at the general meetings of the Company.

Constitutional Documents
There are no significant changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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Crowe

BEEEE (F8) SHASHEMBERAR
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

& REE SRET7R BEPOME
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF L & A INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of L & A
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 52 to 225, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B AHERE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BEETEH
BRETFEERERMANEEHE - REYE
PG AR BREANEARAEENTH - FLR
AR MEERAMEHRRERETEALVKE
SOBRTETRIE  BRATEELEREHRE
BER -

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRESNEE EMNETNAEEZER

Impairment assessment of loan receivables FER B AR E RS

Refer to the significant accounting policies in note Our audit procedures included the following:
2, significant accounting estimates in note 4 and the HFIBZIZFEIEATRIE -

disclosure of loan receivables in note 25 to financial

Statements. o Assessing controls over the origination, segmentation,
SHMBREMT2EZGSETECR - M 4ERSFHEET M ongoing internal credit quality assessments, recording
FE2SE W E R HEFR © and monitoring of loan receivables;
o HMEHEKERWELE 9 BEANBEEESTE
S8R EER AR

o Engaging our internal modelling specialist to assist us
with our assessment of the Group's methodology of
ECL model and its appropriateness;

] ZERMOANTREZI KB B M EEEEEREEE
BREW T EREES M
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BRETEE

BRETEE (F)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RPN E R E ZE1E

Impairment assessment of loan receivables
(Continued)

The measurement of expected credit loss (“ECL")
requires the application of significant judgement which
include the identification of exposures with a significant
deterioration in credit quality, and assumptions used in
the ECL models, such as the probabilities of default, loss
given default, expected future cash flows and forward-
looking macroeconomic factors.

EHEEEE (BHEEEE] NtEERkEREXRA
i EeERMGEEERRER AR  UREHEES
BERRERANMRE - PINEAOE  BLBAE - JHER
KB E RARERBKBEREE -

Due to the significance of loan receivables (representing
49.2% of total assets) and the corresponding subjectivity
inherent in the estimation of ECL allowances, we
considered this as a key audit matter.
HREWEFEBEERN ((REEELWN2%) REBAEHRES
EEBEETTOEEEEN - RMRAL D —HEREAE
I8 o

FEW & R EVRE R G ()

Assessing the effectiveness of key controls over
the application of the impairment methodology,
the governance for the ECL models, inputs and
assumptions used by the Group in calculating the
ECL and the mathematical accuracy of the ECL
calculations;

HEE2EHERERANER  HHREEEBREREE
A BB EEHEEEEMANGE ABERRRRERTE
HEEEETENSSEERENE L ;

Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL
models, including the model input, model design,
model performance and calculation;

M EEETEREEBHERANSIEN - REELEAY
B BERET  REIRIBNETE

Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s criteria
for assessing if there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and so allowances for financial assets
should be measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the
qualitative assessment;

M EEE G EERRESEREE L NBFeREEN
BEER2 BRBEEEEEEN 2 RE M TEOEES
BN
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BRETEE ()

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
AEETSE KA EF I EEZEE

Impairment assessment of loan receivables EWEXMEETE (&)

(Continued)

o Challenging whether historical experience is
representative of current circumstances and of
the recent losses incurred in the portfolios and
assessing the reasonableness of the forward-looking
adjustments,

J ERBELEHBEANRRERERUARIGEREREENR
HfETiE - WRHARTIE M AEN S BN

o Reviewing the Group’s assumptions on the expected
future cash flows, including the value of realisable
collateral based on available market information; and

. B EEEHERRRRESMNENRR - BEENTISA
FERMATERERARER &

o Assessing the financial statement disclosures relating

to the Group's exposure to credit risk.
. FEEEEEERRM BN ERERIFE
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
Process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
18 M A BN R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020

Sze Chor Chun, Yvonne
Practising Certificate Number P05049
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBm R HMEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_Z-ZF=A=+—HILFE

2020

—ECEF

Notes HK$'000
KiaF F#ET

Revenue Wz 56
Cost of sales SHE R AN
Net impairment (losses)/gains FEREFURE (B518), Yas

on loan receivables HEE 9
Other income HapgA 7
Other net (losses)/gains Hith (B518), W F58 8
Selling and distribution costs SHEE D $HR AR
Administrative expenses TERAZ
Loss from operations LB E1E
Finance costs IR iDL 9a@)
Share of profits less losses of PaR (kN K =N

associate E518
Loss before taxation BRBLAIE R 9
Income tax expenses FriSHif sz 10
Loss for the year FREE
Other comprehensive expense SREM2EBES -

for the year, net of income tax  #BERFTEH

[tem that will not be reclassified to  Fe&EHoEEER

profit or loss: HIER :
Fair value loss on investment in BAFEFTARMEE
equity instrument at fair value WA T A E
through other comprehensive K AFEEE

income
[tems that may be reclassified

HRg s o A= B

subsequently to profit or loss: HIER :
Exchange differences arising on MEGINETFEER
translation of foreign operations N ZE5
Reclassification adjustments o E BN ERS R R BR
arising from exchange [EREEEE
differences released upon ENOLEEE
disposal of foreign operations
Other comprehensive expense FREM2EEX
for the year, net of income tax  IBRFFEH
Total comprehensive expense FRE2HEBBXAEHE

for the year
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74,271
(66,608)

(4,337)
2
(17,636)

(133)
(18,368)

(& 2%:10))]
(829)

1,190

(32,448)
(1,567)

(34,015)

(14,000)

(14,000)

(48,015)

S A S S AR 7 o s

2019
—NF
HK$'000
T

71,731
(62,019)

15,847
595

141
(3,004)
(30,365)

(7,074)

(7,074)
(3,057)

(10,131)

(5,481)

(2,708)

1,633

(6,556)

(16,687)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  /
meBm R M2 EKER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-_Z-_ZF=-A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—g-%5 TG

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET

Loss for the year attributable to: T%I A TFE(LEREE :
Oowners of the Company RRAEEB A (31,600) 9,427)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR (2,415) (704)

(34,015) (10,131)

Total comprehensive expense  THATEEERZEBEX

for the year attributable to: s .
Owners of the Company E/NCIEZ SN (45,600) (16,077)
Non-controlling interests FEIRALAERS (2,415) (610)
(48,015) (16,687)
HK cent HK cent
AL il
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted HANEE 14 (2.47) 0.74)
The notes on pages 60 to 225 form part of these financial statements. F60E 2258 2 BN Z S BIREN—5 5 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R &

At 31 March 2020
R-E-_ZTF=ZA=+—H

Notes

Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB RERE 15
Investment property wEmE 16
Goodwill S 18
Interests in associates REEE N F)HERS 19
Equity instrument at fair value BAHEAARBEE

through other comprehensive WarIR AT A

income 20
Deferred tax assets BIETIREE 32
Rental deposits HE%S 24
Loan receivables JEWE R 25
Current assets REBEE
Financial assets at fair value BAFER ABED

through profit or loss TREE 21
Inventories =& 23
Trade and other receivables E 5 Kk EAEWGRIA 24
Loan receivables JEWE R 25
Cash and cash equivalents ReERRSEEY 26
Tax recoverable AT EI R IR
Assets classified as disposal group S AR ERE 2 HEAES

held for sale BE 22
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAERFRIA 27
Contract liabilities BHBE 28
Other borrowings HibfgE 30
Lease liabilities HERE 31
Tax payable JERTTRIR
Provision for litigation B ] 33
Liabilities directly associated with HEAOERSIERE 2 HER

assets classified as disposal group  RIBEHERBEHEE

held for sale 22

Net current assets

REEEFE

Total assets less current
liabilities

BEERABRRBAE
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144
19,460

45,240

7,850
940
8,629
24,573
2,130
174

44,296

21,682

22,614

67,854

14,000
1,567
156
780

17,774

9,034
6,487
11,442
63,145
5,229
174

95,511

1,123

96,634

12,682
135

1,114
1,735

15,666

294

15,960

80,674

98,448
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ;
mE AR R &

At 31 March 2020
RZZEZZEF=RA=+—H

2019
—F-NF

HK$'000
e

Non-current liabilities REBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 31 -
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIEE E 32 122
Other borrowings HibigE \ 30 -
Loans from a shareholder KE—BRRIERK 29 -
122
Net assets EEFE 98,326
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital A&z 36(a) 51,200 51,200
Reserves HE 1,377 46,977
Equity attributable to owners RATREE AEGERER
of the Company 52,577 98,177
Non-controlling interests =R R (2,598) 149
Total equity REME 49,979 98,326

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 RZ-Z_TFNA-+tNHEEFSIEREE

June 2020. FE o

Wang Tsz Yue Lau Chun Kavan

EER 2k

Director Director

4 EF

The notes on pages 60 to 225 form part of these financial statements. F60E 2258 2 BN Z S BIREN—5 5 -
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2

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY /
mERBREHR

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_Z-ZF=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RORER AR
Fair
value
reserve Non:
Share Share  Translation (non- Special Other  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reseve  recycling) TRServe Teserve losses interests equity
AYEER
i i Eige  (F7dE) GRRE  REBE  RfEE G AERER  EREE
HKS1000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$000 HKS 000 HKS 000 K000 | HKS 000 HKS 000
T4 A A &7 A1 A &1 7 A
1Ay 208 H-3-\EmA-A 510 618,13 1169 0 B Kl 596569 114250 (&1 106
Lossfor e year FRER - - - - - - pan (o ) (1031)
Exchange diferences ansing on ranlation #1355 £a 4
0f oreign operatons EizE - - (280 - - - - 28) % A0

Reclassfication acjustments arsing from 551 &pe &
echange diferences eleased upon - EE4Y

disposal o foreign operafons T 13 - - - - 16 - 16
Changes nfair value o equity nstument AT\ Bk

atfarvalue through other BETELTR

Comorefensive ncome, netoftax 29 IBHE - - - (480 - - - 040 - (L]
Totalcomprefiensve expenses forthe year £33 48 - - (1169 ()] - - b (18) 510 (1887
Disposal o nonutll-ouned HER2ENEL

subsidaries 1ot 9 () - - - - - - - - 138 138
At 31 March 2019 AE-NE
Zh=t-H 5120 1813 - 19 B 130 (%% B 17 0 ki

1A 2019 HZ5-NERA-8 5,0 61813 - ] B 137 59 Al 0 B3

Loss for ey EREE - - - - - [ ! : (34015)
Changes n fairvalue of equityms Tument  ZATEIAERRE

t farvalue trough other comorehensive s ZRAT A
income, net oftax DESE IRRA - ® | - - | - (14000)

Totalcomprefiensve expenses forthe year £33 48 - - | - - (31,600) | (2415) (48,015)

=
=TT}

Disposalof on-wholy-wned subsiciay -~ &332 4187
(note 390) (k)

(332) (332

At 31 Marh 2000 HIECREZRT-A I 618,133 (21924) B4 430 (627,590) . (2598) 9979

The notes on pages 60 to 225 form part of these financial statements. F60E2258 7 MBS BEHREN—& 5 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
faN= iﬁﬁ/}lbié‘%

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_Z-ZF=A=+—HILFE

2020 2019

—ECEF “T-NEF

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
HizE FH T BT

Operating activities REEE
Loss before taxation KRR A 1B (32,448) (7,074)
Adjustments for: B TIIEE EITHREE
Depreciation of property, plant Y% - WEREETE
and equipment 15 336
Depreciation of investment BEYETE
property 16 1,014
Amortisation of intangible assets B 7 1.771
Finance costs B TR AR %) -
Bank interest income SRITFLSUA 7 )
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ST A R Ak E 8 (6,106)
Fair value gain on financial BATHER ABEE
assets at fair value through eRMEENLTE
profit or loss g 8 (2,799)
Loss on disposal of HEZRAFETA
financial assets at fair value BaEr e EEN
through profit or loss BB 8 4,250
Share of profits less losses of DER TR S A 7
associate E518 19 -
Provision for litigation claim FARERE 33 1,735
Net impairment losses/(gains) on RWERZRE
loan receivables g /(M) 38 25 (15,847)
Inventory loss caused by flood AN EEER
damage 23 4,380
Inventory written off MiEEE 23 -
Trade receivables written off W2 5 MUK IE 8 134
Impairment loss for trade B S RWFIE 2 R ERE
receivables 42(b) -
Deposit and other receivables T K H A UGBS
written off 8 -
Loan receivables written off MEEERE K 8 -
Impairment loss for property, W - WEERE
plant and equipment PERIEN ! 15 -
Loss on written off of property, plant  #fi$5¥2 - BE LB
and equipment 2B 8 -
Modification loss upon extension of gt 3k HAfE UL B ZR & [E
loan receivable E1E 8 -
(18,247)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_Z-ZF=A=+—HILFE

Changes in working capital

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

(Increase)/decrease in trade and
other receivables

Decrease/(increase) in loan
receivables

Purchase of financial assets at fair
value through profit or 10ss

Proceeds from disposal of financial

assets at fair value through profit or

loss
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase in contract liabilities

EEASRD
HEAD / (H0)
5 RAL AR
(), />
REORD /(1)

BERATEF ABR
MEREE

HER A FER ABRD
EREEMSHA

B 5 K E AR FRIEE A
SHREIE N

e & ¢ £
T T T T T O . . O R R S
EC r £ 7 L2 7 7 ¢ ¢l e e e e

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS )

2020

t el =523

Notes HK$'000
Kt FHET

Cash generated from/(used in)
operations
Income tax paid

gEmE (A B

ENPEH

Net cash generated from/
(used in) operating activities

REEBHME (R Be
FH

Investing activities

Acquisition of an associate

Bank interest received

Net proceed from disposal of
subsidiaries

Payment for the purchase of
investment property

Payment for the purchase of
property, plant and equipment

REFS

Wi — Rl & Q)
EHERTTH S

HE KB R RS FIRFE

BEREMEZNR

R

(15,400)
1

39

Net cash (used in)/generated
from investing activities

REEH (i), MRS
T

(19,828)
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2019
—FT—NF
HK$'000
FHETT

(6,297)

7,878

(31,479)

(6,950)

7,163

6,241
135

(41,556)
(615)

(42,177)

41

35,508

(1,506)

34,043
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BHE_Z-ZF=A=+—HILFE

Financing activities

Capital element of lease rentals paid

Interest element of lease rentals paid

Repayment of other borrowings

Repayment of loans from a
shareholder

Shareholder’s loan cost paid

Other borrowing costs paid

Proceeds from loans from a
shareholder

Proceeds from other borrowings

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

<< CC <

2020
—E-F
HK$°000
TR

2019
—F—NF
HK$'000

- TT

Notes

[f+23
"‘ﬁﬂf

BMEEH
ENHEES 2 ERED
ENHEES 2FE D
BEAMEES
BERB—BBRERZER

ERRRERKA
EffEMEERA
K —BBRRERZ
TS 30A
HAfE B S 50R

Net cash generated from
financing activities

BMEZEE

RERE 16,618 -

Net decrease in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes

RERRLEMY
WO HE (8,129)

FONRERAEEEY
16,097

SNEERBEHR
(2,708)

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

FREERRESEY
5,261

Analysis of balances of cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances
included in assets classified as
disposal group held for sale

RERRESEWER
D

Re MIRTTHEE

AN BARELEN
HEARNEE RS
KARTTHE R 22

26(a) 5,229

32

Cash and cash equivalents as
stated in the consolidated
statement of cash flows

FEUERERF
PSR ER

RE%EY 5,261

The notes on pages 60 to 225 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(@i
1.

60

—EF-A=T-HILFE)

GENERAL INFORMATION

L & A International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and the principal place
of business of the Company are P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands and Unit No. D, 5th
Floor, Wing Hong Centre, No. 18 Wing Hong Street, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, respectively.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 40 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
which are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
3 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from the initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R MY AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi —EE=A=+—HItFE)

EBRERBR @)
(b) MBERRMNERERE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea) 2.
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2020 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the
Group’s interests in associates.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity
in the Group are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). These consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$") which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency, and all value are rounded to the
nearest thousand HK$ except where otherwise indicated.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that equity securities (note 2(f)) are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Non-current assets and disposal group classified as held
for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell (see note 2(w)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

HE-T-FF=A=+—ALEE
AN AR AR AR
AT (BB A EE]) RAEEHR
BHE AT 2 -

E%ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzlﬁﬁ
#® ERERECE
’A@(II E%I)ﬁ‘I’E"Bﬁ%EIEEH
FO o KR M BRRIAE T (B
T REARRZMEEERESE
%) 2% MAAEEINBERAR
BREEETATT

tt—

REAMBHRERAATEEERES
PRARERE - HERARE 7 (aE2() &=
BEZRFEIIR (W TXAEEa
BERFIELEA)

FRBEERDBARBIELEZLE
BAMEEELREOERDFER
HERAMENSKRETIR (R
2(w)) °

BREBVHREEREG B RE
FREEB LA - A5 RRER
ZEHE - AR RERETEBERN
J?EFHL‘A&QF CRBE - WARRXZ

TR - ZFAETRAERERRIR
Iﬂfﬂ/{&%ﬁﬁﬁ&?ﬁﬂ ATRAEHE
MZEEMEAREL  RERBKE
BEEMRBELCHEMREARENNE
ERBEREEM G2 ER - B
REE R RE A RIN L EEE o
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NOTES TO

THE CONSO

e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

(c)

statements (continuea)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 4.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. Loans from
holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(j)), unless the investment
is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale) (see
note 2(w)). Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group's equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee's net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment (see note 2(j)). Any acquisition-
date excess over cost, the Group's share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in profit or
loss, whereas the Group's share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate (after applying the expected credit loss model
to such other long-term interests where applicable (see
note 2()()).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Associates (continued)

(e)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for
as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or 10ss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.
(e) Goodwill continued) (e)

66

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently whenever
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-
generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Other investments in equity securities
The Group's policies for investments in equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries and associates,
are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for
which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit
or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, see note 42(a). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an irrevocable election
to designate the investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer's perspective. Where such an election is made,
the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to accumulated losses. It is
not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income in accordance with the policy set
out in note 2(t)(iv).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g8) Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising land and
buildings, are held for long-term rental yields or for
capital appreciation or both. The Group adopts the
alternative treatment by using the cost model provided
under the HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Investment
properties are initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs.
After initial recognition, investment properties are stated
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation of investment properties, except for the
freehold land which is not subject to depreciation, is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives of 50 years.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.
(h) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2())):

- Right-of-use assets arising from leases over
leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest; and

- ltems of plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets arising from leases of underlying plant
and equipment (see note 2(i)).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates for
depreciation are as follows:

A%~ BUE MR TE B 1R AR
EZHITE RREEETIR (RH
2()) -

- REEMEELmEELIF
YR EMEA AR
BEE &

- BEERHEHNER  BFEHA
RS LR EEEENE
RERE (M) -

WEFEINAEREREIMRYE -
TR BS Ko 5% TR B B AR B S 2 (A AT
ERFHANEFTREREER - TBF
B EXRHIILT

Estimated useful lives
fhEt Al e 5

Leasehold land HELH

Buildings situated on leasehold land W& L EET
Furniture and equipment NS G

Office equipment NS
Leasehold improvements HEMEEE
Motor vehicles E

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life
of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

Over the unexpired term of lease

e NEp L

Over the shorter of the unexpired term
of lease and the buildings’ estimated
useful lives, being no more than

50 years after the date of completion
RADEAEE RIEFH
HETAEEAER (REE) -
iBimTeAk A BifE 505

20% per annum

BF20%

20%-33% per annum

FF20%-33%

Over the remaining term of the

lease or 5 years, whichever is shorter
RRISTAE R ST - LB E A%
20%-30% per annum

B F20%-30%

(R ER =Y &
ERFHTR - BIZIBEBWKARE
BEREENRESD - MEEDES
WE - —HEENAERFHRER
HEE (WE) aBFETEN -

REEB NS EOA
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised
when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net proceeds on disposal
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

L & A International Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2020

2.

FEETEE @)
(h) #% - BENKE @)

B RABEWEZEHE BREN
MRS

H A& RANME E SL7% 08 B ARB RO AR R AL
FERE RPN AKE - AR
SHEFTEZIARKRANBERT - A
EREENREE HERREBEE
EMER) (FREBEEARD
LRI R D B BR (B 1 R B A% L E T
R B EMEE REERAREER
ELMNRE REAEREDHER

FEEMEREESNEGFTREE
B HEEENEHREKRES
e

Y% - WE RRER R mAERS R
EENBEREERGFORFHRE
BHEMRAECHNZHETE - 85
R¥RRERHE BN BRRARER




"""..‘

A€ €<
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EEEFBX (@)
(i) Leased assets (i) HEEE
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether REBEEGNRENTIRERR T HZE
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or HELBHEXREHE - WEHAE
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to BB T 45 T 1 — BRI el 42 )R]
control the use of an identified asset for a period of BRIEEFAOERN - AlZE0EH

non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate.

time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed EXPEHE - WMEPEEETENH
where the customer has both the right to direct the use RIHYE E R A SR a4 i A p I ER A
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of FERRARK BN - BIRREHER
the economic benefits from that use. B o
(i) As alessee (i) MEREBA
(a) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (@ HB=-ZE—-AFHA—AE
BB E
Where the contract contains lease WMeENBREHEE S I
component(s) and non-lease component(s), HERY  AEEDRE
the Group has elected not to separate TEDIEMED - Wi
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

(a) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019

(Continued)

After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the lease
liability and hence are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, discounted
to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 2(h) and 2())(iii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that
do not meet the definition of investment
property in property, plant and equipment
and presents lease liabilities separately in the
statement of financial position.

(Eti —EE=A=1+—HILFE)
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. FEEFER (&)
(i) Leased assets (continued) iy HEEE#®
(i) As alessee (Continued) (i) EREEAE)
(@) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (a) B=-E—-AFHF—HE
(Continued) BAKNEE (&)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i) Leased assets (continued)
(i) As alessee (Continued)
(b) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the
Group classified leases as finance leases if
the leases transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the Group.
Leases which did not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
Group were classified as operating leases,
with the following exceptions:

- property held under operating leases
that would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property
was classified as investment property
on a property-by-property basis and, if
classified as investment property, was
accounted for as if held under a finance
lease (see note 2(g)); and

- land held for own use under an
operating lease, the fair value of which
could not be measured separately from
the fair value of a building situated
thereon at the inception of the lease,
was accounted for as being held under
a finance lease, unless the building was
also clearly held under an operating
lease. For these purposes, the inception
of the lease was the time that the lease
was first entered into by the Group, or
taken over from the previous lessee.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leased assets (continued)

(i)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)
(b) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

(Continued)

Where the Group acquired the use of
assets under finance leases, the amounts
representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, of such assets
were recognised as property, plant and
equipment and the corresponding liabilities,
net of finance charges, were recorded as
obligations under finance leases. Depreciation
was provided at rates which wrote off the
cost or valuation of the assets over the term
of the relevant lease or, where it was likely
the Group would obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note
2(h). Impairment losses were accounted for
in accordance with the accounting policy as
set out in note 2()). Finance charges implicit
in the lease payments were charged to profit
or loss over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant periodic
rate of charge on the remaining balance of
the obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals were charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they
were incurred.

Where the Group had the use of assets
held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases were charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis was
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the leased asset. Lease
incentives received were recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments made.

Contingent rentals were charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they
were incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Leased assets (continued)
(ii) As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance
lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the
case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in accordance
with note 2(t)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-
leases are classified as a finance lease or as an
operating lease with reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the
exemption described in note 2()(), then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets

0}

Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLS) on financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and
loan receivables, which are held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest).

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including equity securities measured at FVPL
and equity securities designated at FVOCI (non-
recycling), are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLS

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

(Continued)

Measurement of ECLS (Continued)

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLS, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items to
which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic
conditions at the reporting date.

In respect of all other financial instruments, the
Group recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECLS unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLS.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

()

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date
of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs
when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security
(if any is held); or (i) the financial asset is 90 days
past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(M

Credit losses from financial instruments

(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the
ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 2(t)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less
loss allowance) of the financial asset.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

()

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)
At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

-  significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

()

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the "holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.
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(Eti ZEF=A=+—ALFE)
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EEEFBX (@)
() credit losses and impairment of assets () FEBFEREERE @)
(Continued)
(ii) credit losses from financial guarantees (i) EREMBERZEEBE
issued (Continued) (#)
Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised BEL VW BERTNTSEAT
within “trade and other payables” at fair value, BR B S REMERNFKIE] A
which is determined by reference to fees R MZEATFAETIELEER
charged in an arm'’s length transaction for similar EARBERT YRR ERF
services, when such information is obtainable, EHER N EERT B EK

or to interest rate differentials, by comparing
the actual rates charged by lenders when the
guarantee is made available with the estimated
rates that lenders would have charged, had the
guarantees not been available, where reliable
estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the
issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is
recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount
initially recognised as deferred income is amortised
in profit or loss over the term of the guarantee as
income from financial guarantees issued (see note
2(t)(V)).

The Group monitors the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract and recognises
a provision when ECLS on the financial guarantees
are determined to be higher than the amount
carried in “trade and other payables” in respect of
the guarantees (i.e. the amount initially recognised,
less accumulated amortisation).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees

issued (Continued)

To determine ECLS, the Group considers changes
in the risk of default of the specified debtor since
the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is
measured unless the risk that the specified debtor
will default has increased significantly since the
guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is
measured. The same definition of default and the
same assessment of significant increase in credit
risk as described in note 2(j)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only
in the event of a default by the specified debtor in
accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based on the
expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the
Group expects to receive from the holder of the
guarantee, the specified debtor or any other party.
The amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(iii) Impairment of non-financial assets
Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets;

- investment property;,
- prepayments;

- interests in associates;
- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company'’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether
or not there is any indication of impairment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(iii) Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss whenever the carrying amount of an
asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying amount of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or
value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(iv) Interim financial reporting and
impairment
Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial report
in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim Financial
Reporting, every three months. At the end of
the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(see notes 2(j)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in
a subsequent period. This is the case even if no
loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised
had the impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim period
relates.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be
consumed in the production process or in the rendering
of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

)

Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 2(t)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 2(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note
2(0)ii).
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(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(m) Trade and other receivables

(n)

(0)

(p)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see note 2(j)(i))

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note
2(v)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured
in accordance with note 2())(ii), trade and other payables
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for expected credit losses (ECLS) in accordance
with the policy set out in note 2()()
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Employee benefits

()

(ii)

90

Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in share option reserve
within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the Binomial Model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the share options, the total estimated
fair value of the share options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)
(q) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share option reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of share options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve) except where forfeiture is only due
to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the Company’s shares. The
equity amount is recognised in the share option
reserve until either the option is exercised (when
it is transferred to the share premium account) or
the option expires (when it is released directly to
accumulated losses).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when it recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

n

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided that
those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group has
the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Provisions, contingent liabilities and
onerous contracts

()

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received
from the contract. Provisions for onerous contracts
are measured at the present value of the lower of
the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the net cost of continuing with the contract.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.
(t) Revenue and other income (t)

96

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services
or the use by others of the Group's assets under leases
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business. Revenue
from other sources is arising from interest income from
money lending business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective
interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration
for any effects of a significant financing component if the
period of financing is 12 months or less.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)
(t) Revenue and other income (continued)
Further details of the Group's revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

(i

Sale of goods and services

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products or services.
If the products or services are a partial fulfilment of
a contract covering other goods and/or services,
then the amount of revenue recognised is an
appropriate proportion of the total transaction price
under the contract, allocated between all the goods
and services promised under the contract on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue and other income (Continued)

(t)

(iii)

(iv)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e.
gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see note 2()(i)

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established. Dividend income from
listed investments is recognised when the share
price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

Income from financial guarantees issued

Income from financial guarantees issued is
recognised over the term of the guarantees (see
note 2()(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R MY AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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(ﬁi —EE=A=+—HItFE)
2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EEEFBX (@)
(u) Translation of foreign currencies (u) HMEER

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss, except those arising from foreign currency
borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a foreign
operation which are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
HK$ at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items, including goodwill
arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired
on or after 1 April 2005, are translated into HK$ at
the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the translation
reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign
operation acquired before 1 April 2005 is translated at
the foreign exchange rate that applied at the date of
acquisition of the foreign operation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(u) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

(v)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of
the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(w) Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and the asset
(or disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to be
disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that
will be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when
the above criteria for classification as held for sale are
met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale,
the measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the accounting
policies before the classification. Then, on initial
classification as held for sale and until disposal, the non-
current assets (except for certain assets as explained
below), or disposal groups, are recognised at the lower
of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
The principal exceptions to this measurement policy
so far as the financial statements of the Group and the
Company are concerned are deferred tax assets, assets
arising from employee benefits, financial assets (other
than investments in subsidiaries and associates) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for sale,
would continue to be measured in accordance with the
policies set out elsewhere in note 2.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale,
are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current
asset is classified as held for sale, or is included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale, the non-
current asset is not depreciated or amortised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(x) Related parties
(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

0)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(y) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group'’s executive directors (the chief operating decision
maker) for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines
of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share
a majority of these criteria.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time in the current

year:

HKFRS 16
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Leases
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

Amendments to Prepayment Features with Negative
HKFRS 9 Compensation

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
HKAS 19 Settlement

Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates and
HKAS 28 Joint Ventures

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-
HKFRSs 2017 Cycle

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments have
had a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been prepared
or presented. The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases
— incentives, and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of
transactions involving the legal form of a lease. It introduces a
single accounting model for lessees, which requires a lessee to
recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases,
except for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less (“short-term leases”) and leases of low-value assets. The
lessor accounting requirements brought forward from HKAS 17
substantially unchanged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the
financial statements to assess the effect that leases have on
the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of
an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 April 2019.
The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective
approach and has therefore recognised the cumulative effect
of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance of
equity at 1 April 2019. Comparative information has not been
restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options applied
are set out below:

a. New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates
to the concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease
on the basis of whether a customer controls the use
of an identified asset for a period of time, which may
be determined by a defined amount of use. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in HKFRS
16 only to contracts that were entered into or changed
on or after 1 April 2019. For contracts entered into before
1 April 2019, the Group has used the transitional practical
expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of
which existing arrangements are or contain leases.
Accordingly, contracts that were previously assessed
as leases under HKAS 17 continue to be accounted
for as leases under HKFRS 16 and contracts previously
assessed as non-lease service arrangements continue to
be accounted for as executory contracts.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

b.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance
leases, as was previously required by HKAS 17. Instead,
the Group is required to capitalise all leases when it is the
lessee, including leases previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, other than those short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets which are exempt.
As far as the Group is concerned, these newly capitalised
leases are primarily in relation to property, plant and
equipment as disclosed in note 15. For an explanation of
how the Group applies lessee accounting, see note 2 (i)().

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 April 2019),
the Group determined the length of the remaining lease
terms and measured the lease liabilities for the leases
previously classified as operating leases at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the relevant incremental borrowing rates at 1 April 2019.
The incremental borrowing rates used for determination
of the present value of the remaining lease payments
was 4.9%-22.2%.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)
To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients
at the date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

- the Group elected not to apply the requirements
of HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets to leases for which
the remaining lease term ends within 12 months
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, i.e.
where the lease term ends on or before 31 March
2020,

- when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group applied
a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics (such as leases
with a similar remaining lease term for a similar
class of underlying asset in a similar economic
environment); and

- when measuring the right-of-use assets at the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group relied
on the previous assessment for onerous contract
provisions as at 31 March 2019 as an alternative to
performing an impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. ERHIREBURBHELNZE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 7] (#)

STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) EAVMBREEAE16HEE (©)

b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact bh. AREASTEERBEMNEE
(Continued) (&)
The following table reconciles the operating lease TNRASDMEIVAIEER T —NF
commitments as disclosed in note 37 as at 31 March ZA=S T EMREHEAEER
2019 to the opening balance for lease liabilities T-NFNA—BEINEEAEN
recognised as at 1 April 2019: HAAseA -

At 1 April 2019

—E-NF
MmA—H
HK$'000
FAT
Operating lease commitments at RZE—NF=ZA=+—H0H
31 March 2019 TSR 674
Less: commitments relating to leases W B RERNME A EE R EIE
exempt from capitalisation:
— short-term leases and other leases with —RBpHERNR —_ZE_ZTF =4
remaining lease term ending on or =+—Hz A& /ﬁﬁﬁﬁb,ﬁﬂfﬂf‘f
before 31 March 2020 LEMBEE (352)
322
Less: total future interest expenses W ARRF B BER (35)
Present value of remaining lease payments, R =—Z—h 4/ A —BLUREER
discounted using the incremental ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ’ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂfﬁ KIRE R
borrowing rate at 1 April 2019 and total RZE—NFUA—HERH
lease liabilities recognised at 1 April 2019 HEaERT 287
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(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

b. Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)
The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
classified as operating leases have been recognised
at an amount equal to the amount recognised for the
remaining lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease
recognised in the statement of financial position at 31
March 2019.

The following table summarises the impacts of the
adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated

PE ST R B BB e R 2 5
7] (%)
BB EEEN B 16HAR ()

b. EREASTEERBEMEE

()

ST D 1B AT SR BT E AR
EﬁEETﬁHF%TEfaﬁaﬁ
RNSERR  LER =B —NE=
A= +— BRI RN S R
AR RN L ERES
SBIEEE -

TREANAEBRA
BRI RS

BRI AR
HRIE6RTE -

statement of financial position:

Line items in the consolidated
statement of financial position

ERPBBYBES
RERE165FHEMN

impacted by the adoption of HKFRS SEMBMRRE

16: EAB:
Property, plant and equipment W - B R
Total non-current assets FRBEELE
Lease liabilities (current) HEAE (OREh)
Current liabilities mEEE
Net current assets REEERE
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE
Lease liabilities (non-current) HEAE GERE)
Total non-current liabilities FRBABAE
Net assets EEFE

Carrying
amount at
31 March

HK$ 000
FHET

1,271
17,774

15,960
80,674
98,448

122
98,326

Capitalisation
of operating
lease
contracts

KEHE
BRERL
HK$'000
TET

287
287
250
250
(250)
37
37
37

Carrying
amount at
1 April
2019

RZZE—N4
MmA—H
HEREE

HK$'000
FHT

1,558
18,061
250
16,210
80,424
98,485
37

159
98,326
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

C.

Impact on the financial result, segment
results and cash flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee
is required to recognise interest expense accrued on
the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the
previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. This results in a positive impact on the
reported loss from operations in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, as compared to the results if HKAS 17 had been
applied during the year.

In the statement of cash flows, the Group as a lessee is
required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases into
their capital element and interest element (see note 31).
These elements are classified as financing cash outflows,
similar to how leases previously classified as finance
leases under HKAS 17 were treated, rather than as
operating cash outflows, as was the case for operating
leases under HKAS 17. Although total cash flows are
unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore results in
a significant change in presentation of cash flows within
the statement of cash flows.

The following tables give an indication of the estimated
impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group's
financial result, segment results and cash flows for the
year ended 31 March 2020, by adjusting the amounts
reported under HKFRS 16 in these consolidated financial
statements to compute estimates of the hypothetical
amounts that would have been recognised under HKAS
17 if this superseded standard had continued to apply
in 2019 instead of HKFRS 16, and by comparing these
hypothetical amounts for 2020 with the actual 2019
corresponding amounts which were prepared under
HKAS 17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. ERHIREBURBHELNZE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEE -,

STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) ERMKRELEAFE167EE (&)

c. Impact on the financial result, segment c. HAEBUKEE 7HEER
results and cash flows of the Group (Continuead) RERBEZTE (&)

2019
“RhF
Deduct;
Add back: Estimated Hypothetical Compared to
HRrRg 16 AMONMSTEIMENtO o s tor 2020 amounts reported
o operating leases as )
Amounts reported  depreciation and it ynder HKAS 17 asifunder  for 2019 under
under HKFRS 16 interest expense (note 182) HKAS 17 HKAS 17

1. EURE hEERE

mE:  EREEEREH EheEl EHEER

REEAEE BEEBRE  EAEUEE ETEHE H-E-1F

RERNEGE  EUBGETH  HEELRELH -3 it el

FegmesE  FERMEEX (KiEH182) RS i
(A (8) () (D=A+BC)

HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000

T T T AT T

Financial result for year ended & e K28
31 March 2020 impacted by the  E16%2&%8Z

adoption of HKFRS 16: ZECEESPST-ALE
ENaREE:
Loss from operations fggR (32809 83 (1373 (33309) (7074)
Finance costs Ep i () 30 - (59) -
Loss hefore taxation REREHER (32448 1183 (1373 (32669 (7,074
Loss for the year EhER (301 153 (1373 (34,239) (10,13
Reportable segment profit/(loss) SiftE e 28
for the year ended 31 March ~ %16%28hE2
2020 (note 5) impacted by the ~ =E-B£=p=t-ALE
adoption of HKFRS 16; B (Hits) W 2Hp i
/(58
- OEM Business - FRERERE 172 8 8 1724 (3072
- Retal business -28%% 31 8 @) 131 (3831)
-Maney lending -1E 662 M (55) 866 14
- WWholesaling busingss - HERE (1874) 199 (483) (1858) (123
-Financial quotient and investment - B RIAEAE 2K
education businss (627) i 719 (876) -
Total ot 316 1,004 (1213 87 (6,882)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R R Y T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. ERHIREBURBHELNZE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 7] (#)

STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) EAVMBREEAE16HEE (©)

c. Impact on the financial result, segment c. HAXREEBBEE FHEER
results and cash flows of the Group (Continued) RERBEZTE (&)

2020 2019
3 ZE-nf
Estimated
amounts related to Hypothetical Compared to
operating leases as  amounts for 2020  amounts reported
Amounts reported  if under HKAS 17 as if under for 2019 under
under HKFRS 16 (note 182) HKAS 17 HKAS 17

Bk REERE

RRESERE FheEl EURURE

BEERNE  ENRURE EATE S Bo%-nf

FEENR6R  EROLRECE “EoEEN fiESER L

JES LiEx ] (HiE182) e it
() ®) (C=A+B)

HKS000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS'000

TR TEL TR TETL

Ling items in the consolidated statement of - SHGEREKE LA 162LNAE
cash flows for year ended 31 March 2020  —E=F£zA=t-ALEEN
impacted by the adoption of HKFRS 16;  £AB4HERAER

Cash generated from/{used in) operations LEmE /(7R Be 106 (1373 (1,67) (11,5%)
Net cash generated from/(used in) GeRnmE /(R 5T

operating activities 79 (1373) (1.29) @1
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENRERE ZEREH (10%) 1073 - -
Interest element of lease rentals paid BfifEReZHIEHS (300) 30 - -
Net cash generated from financing HEEBRERLTE

activities 16,618 1373 1791 -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

c. Impact on the financial result, segment

results and cash flows of the Group (Continuead)

Notes:

1 The “estimated amounts related to operating leases” is
an estimate of the amounts of the cash flows in 2020
that relate to leases which would have been classified
as operating leases, if HKAS 17 had still applied in 2020.
This estimate assumes that there were no differences
between rentals and cash flows and that all of the new
leases entered into in 2020 would have been classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17, if HKAS 17 had still
applied in 2020. Any potential net tax effect is ignored.

2 In this impact table these cash outflows are reclassified
from financing to operating in order to compute
hypothetical amounts of net cash generated from/used in
operating activities and net cash generated from financing
activities as if HKAS 17 still applied.

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests
in Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments clarify that an entity applies HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9), including the impairment
requirements, to long-term interests in an associate or joint
venture to which the equity method is not applied that form
part of the net investment in the investee. Furthermore, in
applying HKFRS 9 to long-term interests, an entity does not take
into account adjustments to their carrying amount required by
HKAS 28 (i.e. adjustments to the carrying amount of long-term
interests arising from the allocation of losses of the investee or
assessment of impairment in accordance with HKAS 28).

SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

€KX

FERFEI REBMBRELED 28
7] (#)

ERNBHRELERFE1657EE (&)
c. HEAKEMBEE sHEER
RERBHE (B)
Bt -

1 F*ﬁ‘ﬁiﬁ@“fﬂfﬂéﬁé“ﬁj RER
BEERE1T7RN T _ZF]
%iﬁ)ﬂZl RT - BEEH ALK
%%ﬁgzmgm:z@_gizfﬁ@
MEBMEFT S - BRAMETRE
%Eﬁiﬁﬁ}miiﬂiﬁ LA&Z—E?
G ERE1THER - _TFN
%DFHZI AT AERZZE=F
FRIZ 2 HHERBEET B G
FVURELERLCEHE - EE
EFRGE BRI -

2 EhFERD  ZERSREER
BEMOEREE  UEESRE
SRHEMBRMDAERZER
T EEEBREE AZRSE
FREANBERSAELZRSF
Bz BRDHE -

BB ETHERIE285 2 BT AR
ERNAIREGELE RS
ZEEERERBEEM B RELERE
e R T A ([BRMBRMSENENR])
(BREBERE) BANEBREQRKEE
EERPEBRAPRETNFRENTRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eizi —EE=A=+—RHItFE)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES

(a) Critical accounting judgements
Principal versus agent consideration
(principal)

The Group engages in trading of OEM garment products
and wholesaling of seafood. The Group concluded that
the Group acts as the principal for such transactions as
it controls the specified good before it is transferred to
the customer after taking into consideration indicators
such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the goods. The Group has
inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the performance
obligation, the Group recognises trading revenue in
the gross amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
recognised revenue relating to trading of OEM garment
products and wholesaling of seafood amounted to
HK$40,241,000 and HK$23,449,000 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e & BRI T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

()

Impairment allowances on loan
receivables

The measurement of impairment losses under
HKFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets
requires judgement, in particular, the estimation
of the amount and timing of future cash flows and
collateral values when determining impairment
losses and the assessment of a significant increase
in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, changes in which can result in
different levels of allowances.

The Group’s ECL calculations are outputs of
complex models with a number of underlying
assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs
and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL
models that are considered accounting judgements
and estimates include:

° The Group's internal credit grading model,
which assigns probabilities of default to the
individual grades;

. The Group's criteria for assessing if there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
so allowances for financial assets should be
measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the
gualitative assessment;

4. ERETHERMGE @)

(b) fEETTFRERZEZERIR

(i)

FEW & SR B B

EFRWHRELEFIRAE T
BRI SR E E MR ER
IBEF B EREH HE - 75
EREEREBRIIEEER
R H R LT RfAET R R
RenEREMmEENSE
KB - ZEFEFTHZERER
Sl MERBATEHTRE
EEEHEE

AEENERERERAER
BEHERNEHER YRS
wZEEBRIREAEEER
ZERERBIENBERR
WAR R T H B R ET TR
EEEBRENN TR

o AKEMRIEEFTRER
B B2 e R oR
EJEGIEZ 4

. AEEFEEEARES
EESENBFSREE
BRI R R
BRI 8 R
Ky

anEmERERAT /202088 115
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

0}

Impairment allowances on loan
receivables (Continued)

The segmentation of financial assets based
on risk characteristics of the customers and
by product types when their ECL is assessed
on a collective basis;

Development of ECL models, including the
various formulas and the choice of inputs
over determination of the period over which
the entity is exposed to credit risk based on
the behavioural life of the credit exposures,
loss given default and collateral recovery of
the credit exposures;

Determination of associations between
macroeconomic scenarios and, economic
inputs, and the effect on probabilities of
default, exposures at default and losses given
default; and

Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic
scenarios and their probability weightings,
to derive the economic inputs into the ECL
models.

It has been the Group’s policy to regularly review
its models in the context of actual loss experience
and adjust when necessary.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and
credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.
In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to
calculate ECL for the trade receivables which are
individually insignificant. The provision matrix is
based on the Group’s historical default rates taking
into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group's trade receivables are disclosed in note
A2(b)(ii).

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 March 2020, a deferred tax asset of HK$nil
(2019: HK$1,567,000) in relation to deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses for
certain operating subsidiaries has been recognised
in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits
or taxable temporary differences will be available in
the future. In cases where the actual future taxable
profits generated are less or more than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a
material reversal or further recognition of deferred
tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in
profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal
or further recognition takes place.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(iv) Fair value measurement of financial

(v)

instruments

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's investment
in unguoted equity instruments amounting to
HK$Nil (2019: HK$14,000,000) are measured at fair
value with fair value being determined based on
significant unobservable inputs using valuation
technigues. Judgment and estimation are required
in establishing the relevant valuation technigues
and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in
assumptions relating to these factors could result
in material adjustments to the fair value of the
instrument. See note 42(a) for further disclosures.

Estimates used to assess the
impairment of the investment in
associates

At each end of the reporting period, the
Group reviews internal and external sources
of information to identify indications that the
interests in associates which are significant to the
Group may be impaired or an impairment 10ss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An impairment l0ss is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income whenever
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(v)

Estimates used to assess the
impairment of the investment in a joint
venture (Continued)

The sources utilised to identify indications of
impairment are often subjective in nature and the
Group is required to use judgement in applying
such information to its business. The Group's
interpretation of this information has a direct
impact on whether an impairment assessment is
performed as at any given reporting date.

If an indication of impairment is identified, such
information is further subject to an exercise that
requires the Group to estimate the recoverable
amount, representing the greater of the asset’s
fair value less cost to sell or its value in use.
Depending on the Group's assessment of the
overall materiality of the asset under review and
complexity of deriving reasonable estimates of
the recoverable amount, the Group may perform
such assessment utilising internal resources or the
Group may engage external advisors to counsel
the Group in making this assessment. Regardless
of the resources utilised, the Group is required to
make many assumptions to make this assessment,
including the utilisation of such asset, the cash
flows to be generated, appropriate market discount
rates and the projected market and regulatory
conditions. Changes in any of these assumptions
could result in a material change to future
estimates of the recoverable amount of any asset.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. EBEAESTHERMEE )
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(vi) Estimated impairment of property, plant

(b) AFTERERZZTERR (&)

(vi) M1% - BERRBEUARKRE

and equipment and investment property MEREEHRIE
Property, plant and equipment and investment M BENEEARIZEY
property are stated at costs less accumulated ERERARRITE RRE

depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgment and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.

As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment, and investment
property are HK$8,208,000 and HK$838,000 (2019:
HK$1,271,000 and HK$nil) respectively, after taking
into account the impairment losses of HK$924,000
and HK$nil (2019: HKS$nil and HK$nil) in respect of
property, plant and equipment, and investment
property that have been recognised respectively.
Details of the impairment of property, plant and
equipment, and investment property are disclosed
in notes 15 and 16 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Eﬁzi
4.

—EF-A=THLFEE)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(vii) Estimated useful lives and estimated

residual values of property, plant and
equipment and investment property

In determining the estimated useful lives and
estimated residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment and investment property,
the Group has to consider various factors, such as
technical or commercial obsolescence arising from
changes or improvements in production, or from
a change in the market demand for the product or
service output of the asset, expected usage of the
asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care
and maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar
limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the
useful life of the asset is based on the experience
of the Group with similar assets that are used in a
similar way. Additional depreciation is made if the
estimated useful lives and/or the residual values
of items of property, plant and equipment and
investment property are different from the previous
estimation. Useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at the end of the reporting period based
on changes in circumstances.

(viii) Write-down of inventories to net

realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is
made based on the estimated net realisable value
of inventories. The assessment of the required
write-down amount involves management’s
judgement and estimates. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from
the original estimate, such difference will have an
impact on the carrying amounts of inventories and
the write-down charge/write-back amount in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(ix) Determining the lease term

As explained in policy note 2(i), the lease liability
is initially recognised at the present value of the
lease payments payable over the lease term. In
determining the lease term at the commencement
date for leases that include renewal options
exercisable by the Group, the Group evaluates the
likelihood of exercising the renewal options taking
into account all relevant facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive for the Group
to exercise the option, including favourable terms,
leasehold improvements undertaken and the
importance of that underlying asset to the Group’s
operation. The lease term is reassessed when
there is a significant event or significant change
in circumstance that is within the Group’s control.
Any increase or decrease in the lease term would
affect the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-
use assets recognised in future years.
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(%ti
5.

—EFEZA=1+—RALFE)

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines (products and services). In a
manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s executive directors (the
chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following six reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

(0)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

OEM Business: manufacturing and sales of OEM garment
products;

Retail Business: retailing and wholesaling of garment
products under the Group's own brand and high-end
fashion brand;

Money Lending: provision of loan services to generate
interest income,

Wholesaling Business: wholesaling of seafood (2019:
seafood and baby products),

Financial Quotient and Investment Education Business:
provision of financial quotient and investment education
courses; and

Property Investment Business: investing properties in
Asia Pacific region to generate rental income and to gain
from the appreciation in the properties values in the long
term.

DERE

AEBEBPIERER  BPIAEBER
(ERRRH) 85 - AEE25UTAE
ARENH - ERAEERERHMRRER
SHEBNTES (EBHBREE) RHE
BEMZ R B - AT RN RESH 2
W IEA PHEMAE S D HFE -

() FRREREXRD: RERHEERR
SUEIREEM -

iy ZTEXRK: aAKEEAmELRSE
R AR T2 E R B IR M -

(i) PUE - R ERIRT A E L B

ﬁﬁ ;

(v) HEBEET : #HEEH (ZT—NF:
BENERER)

V) HERRAREES  RRMERER
ABBRE R

Vi) WIEREFRH  REXBEREEYR
NELAHESZKRANBRAERAYEE
AW o
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(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eizi —EE=A=+—RHItFE)

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(@) Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the Group’s
executive directors monitor the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following basis:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or
amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

Segment results represents pre-tax profit/loss incurred
from each segment without allocation of other
income, other net gains and losses, certain corporate
administrative expenses, share of profit/loss of associate,
certain impairment and central finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker
of the Group for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Segments assets include all tangible, intangible assets
and current assets with the exception of investments
in financial assets and other corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include provisions, lease liabilities and trade
and other payables attributable to the activities of the
individual segments and borrowings managed directly by
the segments.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profit/(loss), the Group’s executive directors are
provided with segment information concerning revenue,
interest income and expenses from cash balances
and borrowings managed directly by the segments,
depreciation and amortisation, impairment losses, and
additions to non-current segment assets (other than
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) used by
the segments in their operations.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R MY AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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S - e e s

5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. 2EHE &)
(@) Segment results (continued) (@) ’“‘B% (fﬂ‘”)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers HE-_ZT-_ZEFR-_F-NF=A
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as =T—HIEFE - Rl R R 2
information regarding the Group's reportable segments PHBEFA NNk BERD &Y
as provided to the Group's executive directors for the MO MERBEENMAAEERITES
purposes of resources allocation and assessment of REEHAEBE R 2RO I 2 ERE
segment performance for the years ended 31 March HEAT

2020 and 2019 is set out below:

Year ended 31 March 2020
BE-TCBECACt-ALEE
Financial
Quotient and

Investment Property

OEM Retail Money  Wholesaling Education  Investment
Business Business Lending Business Business Business Total

il HHRRE E
HEEK SEXK it HERH YEER 3 3t

HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'

000 HKS'000

TEL TEL L TEL TEL TEn TR

Reportable segment revene; TERAMUE:
Dissggregated by fimng of revenve  REIUEEEDE

reCognition
Paint inime NE-ERY 40241 ) - 23,409
Revene from otfier Souroes 3 - 2619 -
Revente from extemal customers RENIRENIE 40,241 ) 2619 B.449 32
Reportable segment profit/loss)  T2RADEH /(B 1724 662 (1.874) (621)
Share of profts less losses of associates — AfEERELATER
Other income frote /) EhIA ()
Otter net losses otz ) EHEESE (1)
Corporate adminisratve expenses PEARRRL
Centralfinance costs RASEIA
Net impairment losses on loan recehables  ERESRESESE
Consolidated loss before taxation RARTHEE
Assets BE
Reportable segment assefs (incudng W2 HATEE (B
Interest in associate) RENANER) ) 44104 1,166
Fouity mstument at firvalue trough— FATEIAZ AR
other comprehensive income KR TE
Financial assets at fairvale trough. -~ BATHEE A
profi o loss SHER
Unallocated head office and comporate. FARSBIRALEE
assels
Consolidted fofal assets GAEEME

71,652
2619

wm

316

119
2
(17,630)
(11962)
)]
(4331)

(32.448)

852
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SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(@) Segment results (continued)

5. o#E®E (#)
(@) ZEBRE (&)

Year ended 31 March 2020
BE-TCEECACt-ALEE

Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilties

Unallocated head offce and corporate
[iabiltes

Consolicated total abites

Other segment information

Addiions to non-Current Segment assets
uring the year

Unallocated

Depreciation for the year
Ungllocated

Interest income from bark ceposits
Unallocated

Finance cost
Unallocated

Depostt and other receivables written off
Unalocated

Mooffication loss upon extension of loan
receivable

Loan recenvables writen off

Net impairment losses)/gains on loan
recenables

(Gain on clisposal of subsilaries

Traoe receivables writen off

Inventory written off

Loss on writen off of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment of
equipment

Share ofprofsles losses of assocites

Interest in associate

Impairment of rade receivables

property, plant and

OEM Retail
Business Business

s . ‘
REER 2EL] il
HKS 000 HKS 000

TH7 TEL

Money
Lending

&
1 wmz 4517 10329

Hﬂhﬁ”&ﬁﬁ

BATHERA
R

A
v

REREMBIGUENE
A

HESRNETBIER

e
EhGEE (58)/
§age -
L :
HaEzpiE
haes
Hane BERREY
1
% BEREE
A

AERHREEATER
IBEDEER
LSRR

(4.003)
(2,645)
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Financial
Quotient and
Investment
Education
Business

Property
[nvestment
Business
igha

S
HK$'000
AR

Wholesaling
Business

kS
HK$'000
TR

%
HKS'000
T

1,69 8218

(3,001

1190
16,590

Al

829

(3,001)
(4

(3,029)

(4.443)
(2,609)

4331)
10
(5,230
(336)

(3)

(924)
1190
16,590
(1,284)
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5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. oEH®E &)
(a) Segment results (continued) (a) 7EPEEZ (&)

Year ended 31 March 2019
B2 Z-NE=A=1-HIFE

OEM Retail Mongy  Wholesaling
Business Business Lending Business
[RER
BUEET TEXH & IRAE S +
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT B TAT TAT TAT
Reportable segment A2HRAHE :
revenue:
Disaggregated by timing of IR ERUHERHE

revenue recognition

Point in time iS5 44,404 1,04 - 23,887 69,332

Revenue from other sources  Ef Rz - - 2,399 - 2399
Revenue from external REIMNPE P

customers 44,404 1,041 2,399 23,887 71,731
Reportable segment TEHHH (HE)/

(loss)/profit Pl (3,072) (3.831) 444 (423 (6,882)
Other income (note 7) EHMOA (B1:27) 9%
Other net gains (note 8) Hib S8 (H328) 141
Corporate administrative RETHA

expenses (16,775)
Net impairment gains on W ET R AR

loan receivables R 15,847
Consolidated loss before ks

taxation (7,074)
Assets B
Reportable segment assets A2BPIEE 10,787 7 68,452 11,284 90,530
Equity instrument at fair BOTESALMZE

value through other WamEETA

comprehensive income 14,000
Financial assets at fair value  #& 2 (& AB240

through profit or loss SREE 9,034
Unallocated head officeand kA B MR

corporate assets BE 844

Consolidated total assets DABERE 114,408
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5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. oEHE &)
(a) Segment results (continued) (a) D EPEE

Year ended 31 March 2019
HE2-T-NE=A=1-HIFE

OEM Retall Money  Wholesaling
Business Business Lending Business Total
Re&fE . ‘ N -
BUEET TEER RE BLEER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT BT AT
Liabilities 8
Reportable segment IEHRSHEE
liabilities 2,281 1,880 1,349 4,802 10,312
Unallocated head officeand kA B &SR
corporate liabilities BE 5,770
Consolidated total liabilities A& ERE 16,082
Other segment Hit A HER
information
Additions to non-current FRREERDNPEE
segment assets during
the year - - 59 1,597 1,656
Unallocated KR 6
1,662
Depreciation and ERMEREH
amortisation for the year 93 1,742 - 265 2,100
Unallocated ADE 1,021
3121
Interest income from bank RTFSHEBMA
deposits - - - - -
Unallocated AP 4
4
Net impairment gainson loan &R AW EE
receivables - - 15,847 - 15,847
Trade receivable written off il FEUFD (134) - - - (134)
Inventory loss caused by ELEHNE iﬂ%i\
flood damage (4,180) (200) - - (4,380)
Provision for litigation RS - (1,735) - - (1,735)
There are no inter-segment revenue for the years ended REBEZZ_ZEFR_ZE-NF=H
31 March 2020 and 2019. =+— Elltﬁrlﬂ’“*ﬂf'ﬁ%l“ °
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(%zi
5.

—EF=R=1+—HBILFE)
SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. 2EHE &)
(b) Revenue from major products and (b) REXEEMEBRBHWE
services
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from TREIKRE FEEmMBRBRARE
its major products and services: Bz DT
2019
—NF
HK$'000
FAT
Garment products AR E f 45,445
Baby products BEED 9,688
Seafood o 14,199
Interest income from loan receivables  FEUEZFS U A 2,399
Tuition fee from financial quotient and R A RIEEH A RI2H
investment education courses 2% -
71,731
(c) Geographical information (c) EEHR
The following is an analysis of geographical location of T ROAEEZREINBE P 2 Was
(i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and (ii) ROAEE 2 W2 - BERE&E - &
the Group's property, plant and equipment, investment BV HEERS WBERREEA
property, rental deposits, goodwill and interests in AIERMMIBA E DT o B HIERL
associates. The geographical location of customers ENERREERBIEMAT 2
is based on the location at which the services were 2o Mm% - WE KRB BREMER
provided or the goods delivered. The geographical HERSHMIBLE HERERE
location of property, plant and equipment, investment E2EBRUE - pBEEms - DiRA
property and rental deposits is based on the physical Oz EEMEMIE - BLREE R
location of the asset under consideration. In the case AR E - RZBE N TEEN
of goodwill, it is based on the location of the operation HhEG o

to which they are allocated. In the case of interests
in associates, it is the location of operations of such
associate.

Revenue from external customers RENBEE 2 WEE

(i) (i)

2019

—NE

HK$'000

FAT

Hong Kong (place of domicile) EFB (REFREM) 65,639
USA 351 726
PRC s 216
Europe M 5,150
71,731
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5. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. oEHE &)
(c) Geographical information (continued) (c) HEER &)
(ii) Non-current assets (i) FRBEE

Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (REFTEH) 1,427
Japan SFN -
1,427
(d) Information about major customers (d) ﬁggzg%}éz&ig
Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of REERAREREGR10%HA L2 &
the Group’s revenue are as follows: P -

OEM Business RER RS TS

— Customer A —BFPA 25,135
— Customer B — ®FB 12,985
Wholesaling Business HEE T

— Customer C —BFC 9,688
— Customer D —ZFD -

6. REVENUE 6. Wz
The principal activities of the Group are disclosed in note 5. NG E AR EE AT LS ¢
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6. REVENUE (Continued) 6. Wz (&)
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (@) W=D
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EXrEERIRBEISHNETFAL
by major products or service lines is as follows: WEso T

2019
—FT-NF

HK$"000
FET

Revenue from contracts with e BB HRE LR 155
customers within the scope of HENEFA LR
HKFRS 15:

Manufacturing and sales of OEM s MHE R ERE
garment products PR % 2= o

Retailing and wholesaling of REBBARERSIERFE
garment products under the mEREERTE
Group’s own brand and high-end &Iy
fashion brand

Wholesaling of seafood HE G E

Wholesaling of baby products HEBREM

Provision of financial quotient and R E RIRER B RE

investment education courses

Revenue from other sources: KA EMIR 2 W
Interest income from loan EREFHZ
receivables FESA
Note: Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers Bifet - W TR H% Fsﬁ&ﬁﬂli THE D
by the timing of revenue recognition and by geographic BEPANREAD ISR EE -

markets is disclosed in note 5.
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(%zi ZEF=-A=1+—HIFE)
6. REVENUE (continued) 6. Wz (&)

(b) The following table shows the amounts of revenue (b) TERARARBESHIFAAWAR
recognised in the current reporting period that were W AR HARER 2 WA £ 58
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included in RiRE P A LB EY
contract liabilities at the beginning of SHRERUA ¢
the reporting period:
Provision of financial quotient and R RIREHERE
investment education courses (Htst28)
(note 28) -

(c) Revenue expected to be recognised in (c) TAHAEAMRERRENKRED
the future arising from contracts with BERFEEFIIVEHNBA
customers in existence at the reporting
date
All sales contracts with customers within the scope BRI WE LR B 155 0 E AR
of HKFRS 15 are for periods of one year or less. As BEPHEAN ZHREA—F I
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price T o 3 a0 E B B RS R A AE A 551555
allocated to these contracts for the remaining unsatisfied FIAEET - BRI RBITZBAEEM
performance obligations is not disclosed. PREZFENZ X HEBRART AR

5% o

(d) For the year ended 31 March 2020, total amount (d) #iz—Z-—ZTF=A=+—HI*
of interest income on financial assets measured at - ?;ﬂ%ﬁ@éﬁﬂiﬁzﬁ@@mﬂéﬁéﬂw
amortised cost, including bank interest income (note 7), WA (BIERTHEHA) (M5
was HK$2,620,000 (2019: HK$2,440,000). 7) A2,620,000%8 T (ZZF — N F -

2,440,000/ 7T) ©
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(Eﬁzi
7.

“EFZA=1+—HILFE)
OTHER INCOME 7. HtlA

12020 2019
— ?

HK$°000 HK$'000
Fi#5 FET

Interest income on financial assets BB HEK AT E 2

measured at amortised cost CREEFEWA
- bank interest income — RITHFBUA
Gross rental income from investment KEMERS WA BT
property
Sundry income FEIAUA
OTHER NET (LOSSES)/GAINS 8. Htth (F#8) WEFHE

12020 2019
—E-8F —E-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT TAT

WEEE - BE MR EZEE

Loss on written off of property, plant and

equipment (note 15) (K1aE15) (K1)
Impairment loss of property, Y% - BB MR ERERE

plant and equipment (note 15) (K17215) (924)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR (M1239)

(note 39) 141
Gain from changes in fair value RHE AT EFT BRI EN

of financial assets mandatorily CREENATEESHELEY

measured at FVPL Weas

— Held for trading —REE=R 400
Loss on disposal of financial assets HERAFETABRNS /R

at FVPL BEFE (V1)
Inventory loss caused by flood HXBHHFERE (Wi723)

damage (note 23) =
Inventory written-off (note 23) WEETFE (F15£23) (336)
Trade receivables written off WS 5 18 (5,230)
Impairment loss of trade receivables H RN FTERERE (1,284)
Deposit and other receivables written off &4 Kz F i Uk 5% T8 $if £ (3,025)
Modification loss upon extension of loan FLICEAFEI B TS IE

receivable &8 (4,443)
Loan receivables written off T SH PE R E SR (2,645)

(17,636)
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9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. KRBiIFIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the R ATEB TR (GTA) THIER &E
following: 2
(@) Finance costs (@) BB

Interest on loans from a shareholder TE—ZBREER T B

(note 26(b)) (K1:126(b)) -
Interest on other borrowings HEEFE (HiF26(0)
(note 26(b)) -

Interest on lease liabilities (note 26(b)) HEBEF B (KiF26(0)) -

Total interest expense on financial REATFEFAEBRZ Z 2/
liabilities not at fair value through BEN S M8
profit or loss -

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EIRAE (BIEEEHM)
emoluments)

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMET 7,622

Contributions to defined contribution TR TR R R R
retirement plans 238
7,860
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR M T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 9. KFAIEE ©)
(c) Other items (c) HfEE

Auditor’'s remuneration 2 B Bl 357 B

— audit service — BatRTS

- other service — Efth AR 75
Cost of inventories (note 23) FERAR (K17#23)
Depreciation of investment REMESE (H7F16)

property (note 16)
Depreciation charge (note 15) WERX (K:15)

- owned property, plant and equipment — BEW% « KB &

(note (i)) (F&0))

— right-of-use assets (note (i) — (ERREE (W)
Amortisation of intangible assets mEERN (Wit17)

(note 17)
Total minimum lease payments for ?EEME?F?}% STHERIZE175%

leases previously classified as NERKEHENHEZ

operating lease under HKAS 17 (note (i) &IEMRERR@EE (H:1()
Rental income from investment WEMEMRES WA

property less direct outgoings of HK$nil B ZHE T

(2019: HK$10,000) (ZZ—4 : 10,000/ 7T)
Net foreign exchange loss SNIE 5 18 F BE
Net impairment losses/(gains) on FEUW B FOREREE (UES)

loan receivables JFH
Provision for litigation ARG
Note (i): BaE0):
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified AEBEHAFEALIETNENEAERS
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at BITSHREEAFE16H - TR T —NF
1 April 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases MA—BRAZEHVESRUEREEES B
which were previously classified as operating leases under HEAESE  ZSEELFDRESE
HKAS 17. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 SRR EEARLTRE o (FRE
April 2019, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise the BEN-_Z—NENA—HBEXERE
depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy NEBEAEE A ARG BELENTT
of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases E MARENMBRUNEREIERRE
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this approach, HANGEREEENHEeSH - EEEH
the comparative information is not restated. See note 3. SET - WSS AR - RHIEES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES
(@ Income tax recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represents:

10.

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEFEH
— Current year — BRIFE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax Al S PTISHL
— Under-provision in prior years —BTEERETR

Deferred tax-origination and reversal
of temporary differences (note 32(a))

Fr8HREX

@

BIERIR — A R ER
Z8 (MiE32())

Income tax expenses FriSBiRx

Notes:

(i) The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

(i) The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for 2020 is
calculated at 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year, except for one subsidiary
of the Group which is a qualifying corporation under the
two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of the assessable
profits are taxed at 8.25% and the assessable profits
above HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary was calculated
at the same basis in 2019. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime are
taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has no
estimated assessable profits derived in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(%zi
10.

—EF-A=THLFEE)

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

@

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)
(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is
not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and
the BVI respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group is not
subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax as the Group has
no subsidiary operated or established in PRC. For the year
ended 31 March 2019, all PRC subsidiaries were subject
to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the standard rate of 25%
on their respective taxable profit during the year.

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting 10ss
at applicable tax rates:

Loss before taxation MR E1E

|

10. FREHBX (40

@

Notional tax calculated at Hong Kong 1£16.5% 2 BAFSHR R
Profits tax rate of 16.5% (note) SEZEHE (M)
Tax effect of: LATKIEZ%M%E“

Share of profits less losses of associate
Different tax rates for subsidiaries

DA FREE E A
REMBIAEREZ 2

AlE1E

operating in other jurisdictions Mg ARz TR
Income not subject to tax BRI A
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2
Temporary differences not REERE RS =58
recognised
Tax losses not recognised RERTIBEE
Statutory tax concession EERIAEE
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR
Income tax expenses FiS ik

Note: The income tax rate in the jurisdiction where the
operations of the Group substantially based is used.

(#&)

(iii)

MM IREARETENE

(%)

RERSHEMRBREZHE ([#
BRLEE]) ZRARRG - R
EEASRRHSHEREBER
RSN ERPTEH -

BE_Z-_THF-FA=-+—HLF
B AEBEFHNTEEEMS
B RERAREER B EL
ARUMBAR - BE-T-NF
ZAZtT-RALFE MAEFEZ
M8 R RR2%EEMER T A Z
FRRRD G FE AT BEEEME
i e

=t

B

Hret -

12020
— e in

2019
—NF
HK$'000
TATT

HK$°000
TR

(34,015)

(5,612)

(196)

(80)
1,592

1,228
4,635

EEARNEREKELEEMER
ERER ZFTSRIRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAI<I§CIAL STATEMENTS D

e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi —EE=A=+—RHItFE)

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 11. EEME

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383
(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2020

Fee

Notes HK$'000
THRT

Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan 2 s )
Ms. Wang Tsz Yue TERLT (i)
Mr. Yuen Yu Sum =RREE (ii)
Mr. Ng Ka Ho REFGAE

(former chief executive) (GIEEHTE) )

Independent non-executive By FTES

directors
Mr. Chan Kim Fai Eddie BalEL s (v)
Mr. Ng Chi Ho, Dennis RERGE (v)
Mr. Chan Pak Qiu B LE (v
Mr. Li Kin Ping FRTi4E (vil)
Ms. Guo Yan Xia PEETT (vii)
Mr. Ma Chi Ming BEREE (i
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RIEE B R AHMEDIE383MNIE L AR (B E
EENGEER) ROIF2HBBEEZEFTHE
e

BE-Z-BF=-A=1+—-HLFE

Retirement

Salaries benefit
and other scheme Total
allowances  contributions  emoluments

ek RINER
Hi2ak SRR #“s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THET



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

11. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 1. EEME &)
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-ZE-NF=A=+—-HLEE
R EE
Salaries benefit
and other scheme Total
Fee allowances contr'\but'\ons emoluments
e f 7
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ OOO
AL TEL AT
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Lau Chun Kavan A s h (i) 210 - 10 220
Ms. Wang Tsz Yue TERZT (i) 26 - - 2
Mr. Ng Ka Ho REFKE
(chief executive) (BEHITE) (iv) 504 - 18 522
Independent non-executive  BuFHTES
directors
Mr. Li Kin Ping FRYEE (vil) 240 - - 240
MSs. GUO Yan Xia SUELTT (viii) 60 - - 60
Mr. Ma Chi Ming et e (ix) 240 - - 240
1,280 - 28 1,308
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RAR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(E!zi —EE=A=+—RHItFE)

11. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

i

) Appointed as an executive director on 16 May 2018

(i Appointed as an executive director on 5 March 2019

(i) Appointed as an executive director on 24 October 2019

(V) Resigned as an executive director on 7 May 2019

(v)  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 6 June
2019

(viy  Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 8
January 2020

(vii)  Resigned as an independent non-executive director on 8 January
2020

(viii)  Removed as an independent non-executive director on 6 June
2019

(ix)  Resigned as an independent non-executive director on 7 May
2019

140 L&A International Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2020

1. ESME @)

Hfaz:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

IS
¥
IS

RZIE
=
n=

o
ot 11
%uﬂ

s

—=

TES

—NFRA+TRNBEZERNTE

“E-NFZRERBRERNITES

—NF+AZ+HBEEZERRIT

—NERALBREEINTES

—RE-AN\BAREERBIIFH

TE-A\HBHEEFRTE

—NERNARNARREILIFNTE

—hWFRAERBEEEIIFNTE

NN NN N N N N N N N N N N SN NN e NN N N N N N N N N N NN NN LN N N NN



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
The five highest paid employees during the year included one
director (2019 one director), details of whose emoluments
are set out in note 11 above. Details of the emoluments of the
remaining four (2019: four) individuals are as follows:

12. BEFHFMAL
RERN  ALERSHFHMATBE—2EE
—NEF: —RES) HHBEER
XM o RIS (22— NF [
£) AL ZHMEBENT

2020 2019
— 7 —%= ﬂi _j_LE'E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Salaries and other allowances e M EAMERL 2,102
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  E{RIEFIETE|Htxx 35
2,137
The emoluments of the four (2019: four) individuals with the NE (ZE—NF W) saFMALz
highest emoluments are within the following bands: FNEELT

HK$nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

2020
—B-FF

2019
—NEF
Number of
individuals

Number of
individuals
A8

Z 702 1,000,000% 7T 4
1,500,0017% 70 22,000,000 7T -

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no
emolument was paid by the Group to the directors or any of
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals
has waived or agreed to waive any emolument for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

HE_Z-_ZER-_FT-NF=A=+—H
IEFE - RE B8 A B 2 B e ]
REFEEIFMATIERMAREERIINA
182 B2E) - SERBERESE - REE T
TERZE-NF=A=T—HIEFE I
BEESEMAZERTMATHELRE
TREEEIE B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~ -
e MR RAR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eki —EE=A=+—RHItFE)

13. DIVIDEND 13. Hﬁé
No dividend was paid or proposed during the years ended 31 HEZT-_TFR-F-NF=-A=1+—H
March 2020 and 2019, nor has any dividend been proposed IE5E - I%ﬂiﬁi&%ﬁ&ﬂﬁﬁ% NEE
since the end of the reporting period. BARE IR RS -
14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BREXREE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on BRERNEIE ZFTEEDERAQA
the loss attributable to the owners of the Company of A AFE(RE1E31,600,0008 T (=&
HK$31,600,000 (2019: HK$9,427,000) and the weighted —jL$ : 9,427,000/ 7T) RFEANE B
average number of 1,280,000,000 (2019: 1,280,000,000) 178 38 A hn#E 7 5 %/ 1,280,000,000
ordinary shares in issue during the year. (ZZF— N5 :1,280,000,000) °
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) BREEEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, diluted BHE_Z_ZFR_ZFZ-NF=H
loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share =+—HIEFE - EBA$WEETE1T
as there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding BITEINNBETER - WERESE
during the years. EE R EREAREEER o
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NOTES TO THE CON

e ISR R MY AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(%Zi

—EFEZA=1+—RALFE)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture and
equipment
W{ﬁuﬂ%

Office
equipment
WAt

<€«

SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. % BERRE

Leasehold

improvements  Motor vehicles

BENELE RE
H

<<

Right-of-use

assets

et <—€—<€—<

Cost S
A1 April 2018 RZE-)\5mA-A 9
Addtions e 132
Reclassification as held for sale note 22) ~ EFPEARENE (H:2) 21
{31 March 2019 N-E-NE=A=1+-A
Impact on nital application of BREREARRREEN
HKFRS 16 (note) 16502 ()
A1 April 2019 R-E-NERA-A
Addtions e
Written-off i

Disposal of a subsidiary (note 39)

HE-FHBLA (1)

{31 March 2020 i Ly

Accumulated depreciation and ZHIERAE
impairment

AT Apr 2018 HZ5-)\EmA-A 15 1553 - 850 - 2018
Charge for the year R ylif his 66 - - 36
Reclassification as held for Sale (note 22~ ExpBARERE (Fitz) (148) - - - - (148)

{31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 WZE-NFZA=+-A

R=E-1ERA-A

Charge for the year EfEY
Impairment loss recognised in profit orloss AR 2 BEEE
Writien-off i
Eliminated on disposal of a subsiciary HE-RNBATRE

(ote 39) (Hi#3)

{31 March 2020 WZZ-EE=A=1-A
Carrying amounts Raf

{31 March 2020 W-E-EE=A=1-A

t 31 March 2019 WIE-NEZAZ+-A 112 4 102 - - 1211
Note: Fet -

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April
2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating lease under HKAS 17. See note 3.

REBFEALETENEERERBTBUBHRE

ERIZE1657 -

HETTHE  UHREMREEEY

WH—FT—NFMA—HNHE
sHERIZE17

BABRAKELHENHEEANERREEE - R

Fi3E3 o

STERRRERAE /2020 £ 143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eti “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15.

Right-of-use assets
The analysis of the carrying amount of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:

M - MERRZE (#)

EREEE

FAREENREES T (RIBAEEER
gl T

31 March
2020
—ECEF

1 April
2019
—NEF
mA—HA
HK$'000
T

=RA=+-H
HK$°000
FTExT

Properties leased for own use, TEEANEEDE -

carried at depreciated cost AT ER AR (i 287
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised BB AN EBENFEZIEE S M
in profit or loss is as follows: T

(Note)
(K132)
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FAEEENITEL H

by class of underlying asset: (ZHEEEEERE D)

Properties leased for own use EEAHEEY -
Interest on lease liabilities (note 9(a)) HEAERE ( /)’/7%9(6)) -
Expense relating to short-term leases and  Ega NIRRT T F= A

other leases with remaining lease term = +—H3 ARG H

ending on or before 31 March 2020 BEREMEEFENRASX -
Total minimum lease payments for leases A& (%kAMRIEE SR

previously classified as operating leases FBIURDEREEHEE) 2

under HKAS 17 IR ER KRBT 612
Notes: Bt
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified REEE BRRKAEBMBREREE1HRLE

retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 April
2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial
recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 April 2019, the Group as a lessee
is required to recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead

REWE  WRER-Z-NAFNA -8B
HRBUAERLHEGMNEAREE  Z5EA
BEENEERESTEBE IR THRERAL
EHE R-T-NFHA-BYLHERERE
BER  AEBERFEANERACHAREE
& MARREBEANSERESFERIZER

of the previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under
operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this
approach, the comparative information is not restated. See note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o Bt 7 SR I

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(E!zi —EE=A=+—HItFE)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) ~ 15. 1% ~ BERRE (4)

"'.'...‘
A T, N N . . N

Right-of-use assets (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, additions to right-
of-use assets were HK$4,866,000. This amount related to
the capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

The cash outflow for leases in the year ended 31 March 2020
was disclosed in note 26(c).

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is set out in note 31.

(i) Properties leased for own use
The Group has obtained the right to use certain
properties as its offices through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 5 years.
The leases do not include option to renew the leases
after the end of the contract term and variable lease
payments.

Impairment assessment

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the directors of the
Company conducted a review of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment and determined that certain of the Group's
furniture and equipment are specially identified to be impaired
because the segments for which these assets are used, mainly
the wholesaling business, sustained continuing loss and in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, these items of
furniture and equipment have no or little commercial value.
Accordingly, an impairment loss of HK$924,000 in respect of
these furniture and equipment have been recognised during
the year.

EREEE (@)

HE_Z-ZF=R=+—HIFE  #H

ff»ééﬁﬁﬁ;iﬂﬁm 866,000/ 7T ° #% & $E T
B T ENENMCEENRER -

HE-_Z-_ZF=-A=+—HULtFEZHE
ZIR e T FE R EE26(C) ©
THEBBMEIBBERD WEIAKEES -
(i) EERANBEEME
AEECEBHER RIS THET
VIEERERAEFEANER - Y
— RO BH2E5F - HETBER

BRHRERR 2 EDEEERAE
HEMK -

B FHE
BE_Z-ZF-_A=1THILFE &R
RIEEHAREEZME - BFEMRIEETT
=6 WHEE A REE TRM R AR R
ERBIE J?Ei%ﬁﬁﬁ;%;réﬁﬁ’]’“ﬁ(z
ERMBEER)) BRKEEBER AL
EEZRR ZEFEMERIEEE ﬂz,ﬂﬁﬂiﬁ
NERFEEE - Bt RFERADERA B
SRAML I RR S RO R (E 5 18 /3924,0008 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 16. REWME
HK$'000
FAIT
Cost RN
At 1 April 2018 RZZF—\FMHA—H 30,300
Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary Y — TR A BB AR LEFERR
(note 39) (K17#39) (30,300)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZE-—NEF=ZA=+—8BK
—E-hFHOA—H -
Additions RE 844
At 31 March 2020 WZE-_ZEF=A=+—H 844
Accumulated depreciation ZEE
At 1 April 2018 RZF—-\FMHA—H -
Charge for the year FAMY 1,014
Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary (note 39) &R E A TR L8 (F7739) (1,014)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—HRK
—E-hFWOA—H -
Charge for the year FRX
At 31 March 2020 RZEZTF=A=+—H
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 March 2020 NZEZZEF=A=+—H
At 31 March 2019 RZZF—-hF=A=+—H -
The Group had no unprovided contractual obligations for future MR-Z_ZTHER_ZF—-NE=ZR=+—H &%
repairs and maintenance as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. IR 1&2%@%&&%%%@2*%%%%@%
ffo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R MY AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(Eti
16.

—EFEZA=1+—RALFE)

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

(a)

(b)

At 31 March 2020, the Group’s investment property is a
freehold residential property situated in Japan.

Fair value measurement of property

The following presents the fair value of the Group's
investment property and information about the fair value
hierarchy at the end of the reporting period, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level into which
a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technigue as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs, i.e, observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

16. REWE (&)

(a)

(b)

R-ZZB-TF=A=+—0 ~5H
RENOTHETEMEMNEAE -

ME 2 X FETE
TXE2IAKERBERARZIEY
ELRAFEERRBEBEERNRFE
WIRBEE BB REERF1BRAF
B ERMRAEN R FERRD /=
EEH - A HEEGSEHERM
FrERMBABBENABRENER
HEID R TRBAR - FEWOT

s FAfMAE:EERFAH
AgUE (A ERHERE
EXRBEERTS EREH
EHORE) fFENAFE

s F_AME:ERE_MRBA
BEAENQTE BERT
HAEF-BRENATBERHA
#iE BABFEREANNAER
ERPARE - THBEH AR
BERATAMEMSEENEA
2B

s F=-AMHE:ERERTAE
KRG ABURFT BN R TE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
L Ere:

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(E!zi —EE=A=+—RHItFE)
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued) 16. BREWE (&)
(b) Fair value measurement of property (b) MEZAFEFTE (@)
(Continued)

At 31 March 2020, the fair value of the Group’s
investment property was approximately HK$849,000,
based on the valuations performed by CHFT Advisory
and Appraisal Ltd., independent professionally qualified
surveyor with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued. The fair value of
investment property disclosed at the end of the reporting
period was categorised as level 2 fair value measurement
which was determined by the surveyor at the end
of each reporting period using market approach by
reference to recent sales price of comparable properties
on a price per square meter basis using market data
which is publicly available. The directors of the Company
have discussion with the surveyor on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each interim and annual reporting date.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had not owned any
investment property.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into
or out of Level 3 (2019: nil). The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS F
e IR AR M T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

BIEE

Service Customer

contract Trademark list Total
RIEEH 5L EERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET BT BT
Cost o
At 1 April 2018 RZE—NFMA—H 9,503 2,868 440 12,811
Derecognised on disposal of HEMB AR
subsidiaries (note 39) MR (H12#39) (9,503) (2,868) - (12,377)
Reclassification as held for  E#FHHEAIFEHE
sale (note 22) (Hfaz22) - - (440) (440)
At 31 March 2019, —E-NF
1 April 2019 and =A=+—8"
31 March 2020 “E-NFWMHA—H
EZFZTF=RH
=+—A
Accumulated E-S g E
amortisation
At 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FNAH—H 7,671 525 37 8,233
Charge for the year FRAXZ 1,584 143 44 1,771
Eliminated on disposal of HEM B A BRF 8
subsidiaries (note 39) (Kt5£39) (9,255) (668) - (9,923)
Reclassification as held for EFHE A5 EHE
sale (note 22) (K1at22) - - (81) 81)
At 31 March 2019, —E-NF
1 April 2019 and =A=+—8"
31 March 2020 —T-NAFWUA—H
M _EB-_TEFE=H
=+—A - - - -
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-ZTF
=A=t+—H
At 31 March 2019 —T—hEF
=A=+—H . - - -

The amortisation charge for the year is included in
in the consolidated statement of

"administrative expenses”

FREHEFRZBEREE
@ [1THRF ] A

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

B REMEEK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

18. GOODWILL

Cost:

At beginning of the year

Derecognised on disposal of
subsidiaries (note 39)

Reclassification as held for sale (note 22)

18. BE

12020 2019
— e

HK$°000
FExT

HK$'000
T

2% N

G|

HEMBARFE FER
(K15#39)

BN BABELE (KiF22)

At end of the year

RER

Accumulated impairment losses:

At beginning of the year

Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries
(note 39)

RETRERRE
R

HEMB R RS (H5239)

At end of the year

RER

Carrying amount at end of the year

RERZRHEE

19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

Cost of investment in associates
(note (a) and (b))

Share of post acquisition profits less losses

and other comprehensive income/
(expense) of associates

19. REEE QN TNER
2020 2019
—E-EH —T—hE
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FAIT

AR R BBV E R

(KizE@ % b)) 487,788 472,388
Db N EEER

i AR ES 18 N2 EAth

Z2EKRA () (43,647)

Less: accumulated impairment loss

B REHREEE

444,141
(427,551)

427,551
(427,551)

Particulars of associates all of which are unlisted corporate S
entities whose quoted market price is not available, as at 31

March 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

TECEER-E-NFZA=+—8"
e NT (BALEAISHIBSRENIELT
) FHB0T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

19. REFERNTIRERS @)

19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Percentage
of equity
Place Full paid-up share/ interests and
ofincorporation/ registered voting power
Name of Registration and capital and attributable to  Principal
company operation number of shares the Company activities
ML B BRBA EHREA AATELBRER
NG KA i B RERGEE EENESE FEXEK
Prestige Concord BVI/Hong Kong 1,000 ordinary shares 30%  Investment
Limited (note a) of US$1 each (2019: nil) holding
Prestige Concord REELRE 1,0000% & A & 30%  WEER
Limited (#fzta) =5 1ETTEE AR (ZZ—NnF |
Red 5 Studios, Inc. United States 65,567,709 47.63%  Inactive
(note b) Common stock (2019: 47.63%)
of US$0.01 each
and 10,180,553
Preferred Stock
(Series B)
of US$0.01 each
Red 5 Studios, Inc. & 65,567 709H Hﬁ 47.63%  EEEDK
(Kiztb) EE0.01E T LBk — L4 © 47.63%)
&10,180,553Hxﬂx
HEEC.0ETTHEL
P&(BZF)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eizi —EE=A=+—RHItFE)

N > y
= dﬂagﬁﬁ'.

19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. REFEQRNER (©)
(a) Prestige Concord Limited (a) Prestige Concord Limited

On 8 October 2019, the Group entered into sales and
purchase agreement ("Agreement”) with Mr. Yuen
Yu Sum, who was appointed by the Company as an
executive director on 24 October 2019, pursuant to which
the Group agreed to purchase 30% of equity interests
in Prestige Concord Limited (“Prestige Concord”), a
limited liability company incorporated in BVI, at the cash
consideration of HK$15,400,000.

Prestige Concord and its subsidiaries mainly generate
revenue through YH Group Limited (“YH"). YH is
principally engaged in provision of financial quotient
and investment experience-sharing seminars and
consultation services which mainly cover (i) property
investment; (i) securities investment; and (i) financial
quotient in Hong Kong. The acquisition was completed
on 8 October 2019.

As at 31 March 2020, Prestige Concord is held as to 70%
by Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, a director of the Company.

As the Group also commenced its business of provision
of financial quotient and investment education courses
during the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
acquired the interest in Prestige Concord in order to
invest resources to expand the share in the financial
quotient and investment education market and to
broaden its customer base as Prestige Concord and
its subsidiaries possess a large customer base and
an extensive network of experienced experts and
professionals in property and stock investment industry.

A guarantee of audited profit with minimum amount of
HK$9,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 has
been undertaken by Mr. Yuen Yu Sum to the Group for
the Group’s acquisition of Prestige Concord, or in case
there is a shortfall, a compensation would be provided
by Mr. Yuen Yu Sum to the Group as stipulated in the
Agreement. According to the audited results for the
year ended 31 December 2019, the profit has meet the
requirement and therefore there is no compensation
receivable by the Group.
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BEARQRRZEANITES) 512
EEGH ((HE]) BUAEER
= LA IR & 1R 815,400,000 TT B A
Prestige Concord Limited (([Prestige

Concord]) » ML X H B Ak
SHIBERAT) BI30%ARIE o

Prestige Concord & EKiEB A AaE 2
W i@YH Group Limited ([YH]) ZE 4
Was - YHEZRFRHEVE RIREK
B ZEERITBRYE - £Z81E0)
MEIRE  (DEHRE - k(BB
7o WEEER-_T—NF+ANR
FERK ©

RZZE=ZTF=FA=+—H - Prestige
Concorda AN A R ER IR R o £ 1
B70% °

HRAEENREBEE_T_TF =4
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Ui B& FAPrestige ConcordiyfEzs » A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o Bt 7 SR I

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(%ti
19.

—EFEZA=1+—RALFE)

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b) Red 5
On 28 April 2016, the Group entered into a sales and
purchase agreement with independent third parties
pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to
purchase 47.63% of equity interests in Red 5 Studios,
Inc. (“Red 5"), a limited liability company incorporated in
Delaware, the United States of America.

Red 5 and its subsidiaries were principally engaged in the
development of innovative entertainment software and
online games in the United States of America, Europe,
the PRC and Southeast Asia. The online game called
Firefall (“Firefall”) was the main product developed by
Red 5. The acquisition was completed on 20 June 2016.
226,022,723 shares of the Company were allotted and
issued to vendors in proportion to numbers of shares
sold by each of the vendors. Cost of investment in Red 5
and its subsidiaries was approximately HK$472,388,000,
which represented the fair value of the ordinary shares
of the Company issued, determined using the published
bid price available on 20 June 2016.

The investment in Red 5 was to provide an opportunity
for the Group to diversify its business into online game
business.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of the material associate
at 31 March 2020, adjusted for any differences in accounting
policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

19. REFERNTIRERS @)

(b) Red 5
MN-TB—RNEMA-+N\R - KEE
BEVE=HVEERE  BUA
EEB KR ZB ARed 5 Studios,
Inc. ([Red 5] @ REFRE BB
EINFEMEZBOBR AR 8947.63%
i

Red SREMBRAREZNEFEE
SR - BOM - B R RS EAIR
IRLEB (- K A AR DR B B o AR AR TR
Firefall ([Firefall]) /Red 5B & #) %
BEMR - WHBEER_-_Z—~FA
BT ° 226,022,723[% A~ A i%
DIEIRE 5 P AR B L I B B e 3%
TFEEH - Red SHREKERTN
& & Bk AN 4 /472,388,000 7T+ B
BT RNENAZTACRAKEE
EBRETARAIEEITEBRAAT
& -

RRed 52BN RAKERHEZ T
EEEB R R 8

P LB R R TR & B S iR R A
HEAER

BEBERERELAR - 8 ? 8175
iﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁikﬂﬁ RARZ
EORF=-A=t+—HNUBERERRKE
L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
e concord and its subsidiaries

Presti

19. REFERNTINER &)

Prestige Concord & E [ B A 7

At 31/3/2020

_HK$'OOO

T

Gross amounts of the associate’s B RN RINER

Non-current assets JEMENEE 16,351
Current assets MEVEE 36,324
Non-current liabilities ERBEE -
Current liabilities mEAE (42,988)
Equity G- i 9,687

From 8/10/2019
(date of acquisition)

t0 31/3/2020
—E-hF+ANR
(YR HR)
BT THF
=A=+—~”
HK$'000
FAT
Gross amounts of the associate’s /NS s O ESK
Revenue WS 21,413
Profit and total comprehensive income w A R BRI R R 3,966
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial it A& R B2 S 5 A BSHRE
information to the carrying amount of the BRI S A R R A BRI ER
interest in an associate recognised in these HER -
consolidated financial statements:
Net assets of the associate B AR EERE 9,687
Proportion of the Group’s ownership IR BB N B P RERE A L B
interest in the associate 30%
Group's share of net assets of the associate REFDGHE N R EEFE 2,906
Goodwill GRS 13,684
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in REBEREE N AR 2 BREE
the associate 16,590
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS |
L EEe:

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(%ti
19.

—EFEZA=1+—RALFE)

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Red 5

For Red 5, there is no management accounts available to the
Group since the business of Red 5 ceased in 2017 and hence
no financial information of Red 5 disclosed. In addition, the
directors of the Company consider there is no reversal of
impairment required for the year ended 31 March 2020 and
2019.

Impairment assessment

In the impairment assessment of the interest in associates,
goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment in associate is not separately recognised. It is
therefore not tested for impairment separately by applying
the requirements for impairment testing on goodwill. Instead,
the entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for
impairment as a single asset, by comparing its recoverable
amount, being the higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal, with its carrying amount.

Prestige Concord

As at 31 March 2020, the recoverable amount of the Group's
interest in Prestige Concord is higher than the carrying amount
and thus no impairment loss is recognised.

19.

REE XTI ERS (&)
Red 5
FiRed 5iME + B —F—tFRed 5XE4X 1

& RNEBUEAESHERRE - Bt
W FERed SZIATEER o ILIh - AT
EERREEZZFER_T-NF=A
=t RIEFEERETRERM o

B R E

FARAEE R R E TR ERT A - 186K
REERARMNKENRRE - FoNEE
I R - MR ER SR EETRE
BHEREMFFETRENR - Bk - &
BENEHREEFSE REEETRIER
A TERBERKRE SRR (AMEREEN
RAFEREERAzBSE) REKHEE
HEITHE -

Prestige Concord
RZEZZTF=A=+—0  A5ER
Prestise Concord®yfgEz A ] Bl & =R
REE - FRERREEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(Eki
19.

—EFEZA=1+—RALFE)

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Impairment assessment (Continued)

Red 5

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Firefall sever was
shut down in July 2017. Red 5 did not generate any income
subsequently and Red 5 faced serious financial difficulties and
management of Red 5 requested the Company for financial
support to fund the mobile version of Firefall.

The Board of the Company decided not to provide further
funding to Red 5 after deliberation consideration of the
followings:

(i) The associate is only an investment in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group;

(i) There were no other probable and concrete business
plan in generation of income for Firefall; and

(i) For the best interest of the Company and its stakeholder,
allocation of resources should be focusing on principal
activities of the Group (i.e. OEM, retail and money lending
business).

The Board passed a resolution on 13 February 2018 concluded
that the Group would not provide further capital injection to
Red 5. As such, the Board decided to provide in full impairment
loss for the interest in Red 5.
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19.

REE N TRNER (8)

WAL (&)

Red 5
REBE_Z-—NF=ZA=+—HItFE
Firefal RIS BER T —+ 5+ AR
Red SB&ET& AR E AR A LA K Red ST ER
EMETSEE - Red SHEIEE B ARQF
RIS T A K B B hRFirefall -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(Eﬁzi

“EFEZA=1+—BIFE)

20. EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE

21.

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unlisted equity investment BAFEEZ
at fair value FELETRAIEE

BAFEFAHEMEE KSR AR
TH
2020 2019

—EEH —=—nEF

HK$'000
FHET

HK$'000
FHT

— Wealth Power Group Limited — Wealth Power Group Limited 14,000
Note: The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at Bfer - PR RIS E Al B b s E AR A T E
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group SHAEMEEKE - THAKRERR AR

considers the investment to be strategic in nature.

The Group holds 35% equity interests in Wealth Power Group Limited
("Wealth Power”), an unlisted company incorporated in BVI. Wealth
Power is an investment holding company indirectly investing in dessert
business in the People’s Republic of China. As the Group did not
assign any management personnel to Wealth Power or participate
in any formulation of financial or operating policies of Wealth Power,
the directors of the Group consider that the Group is not in a position
to exercise significant influence over operations of Wealth Power,
accordingly the investment is not equity accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. The
results of Wealth Power are dealt with in profit or 10ss to the extent of
dividends received/receivable from the investment.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets mandatorily
measured at FVPL TREE

Listed securities held for trading: Hﬁaa B2 ETES

— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong

SEHZ AT ER AR

- E@%-?/%J:mZHx$

EEERILE -

7N BH B Wealth Power Group Limited ([Wealth
Power] » —MIRREBE LS FMARIINIEL
MR A]) KI35%A4E - Wealth Powers —f1% &
ZRRAR HEERFEARENMBEREANH
%75 - AR AL E I R EWealth PowertgIR{E(]
EIEAB - 52 BEWealth Powert) B 75 sl 48 &
BEAGE AR AEEEERALAEETEY
Wealth Powerf) 5@ 2T E AL - Bt
BEESSHEFEBHRNBERNTIRALDE
MIZE - ZIRE W ARAESEEFHEALR © Wealth
Powert) & B U/ EUHE & 2 IR B AR A
REBERA -

BAVEFABENERHEE

u‘l’iz

9,034
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

22. DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE
In March 2019, the Group's management was committed
to a plan to dispose of the entire issued capital of Rex Max
Investments Limited and its non-wholly-owned subsidiary, Inten
International Co., Limited, within the OEM Business segment.
Accordingly, assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries were
presented as a disposal group held for sale. Efforts to sell the
disposal group had commenced prior to 31 March 2019 and

the disposal completed in April 2019.

At 31 March 2019, the disposal group comprised the following

assets and liabilities.

Property, plant and equipment (note 15)

22. HEHEZHEAR
RZZ2-NF=ZA AEEBTEEDHIE
—IEGHEIA & R 2@ RE T 5 B AIRex
Max Investments Limited 2 EIE2E B R
Flinten International Co., Limitedz & &8
BITRRARN - Bk - ZEMBRARIZEERA
BENEVNABFELE 2 HEAR - HEHE
BRZBNR_E-—NF=ZA=+—H2Z7

EEFEEHEEEEEER-_E—NEFN
AT o

—NF=R=+—H  HEHRHA
TEEIAEAX -

W - B KRt (HaE15)

Goodwill (note 18) P (HE18)
Intangible assets (note 17) mEE (K:F17)
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E A EWGRIA
Cash and cash equivalents Re RS EEY
Assets held for sale HIEREEE

Other payables and accrued expenses
Tax payable
Deferred tax liabilities (note 32)

Hub e FRIB N EH RS
JERTRRIA
EETRIEAE (F7732)

Liabilities held for sale

HEREaE

Cumulative income or expenses included in

other comprehensive income

There were no cumulative income or expenses included in
other comprehensive income relating to the disposal group.

SFAHMEERENRTTRAZH
b3

RS L SRR ER 2 FE AR 2 E R ER
E SN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

23. INVENTORIES 23. 78
2020 2019
b St 223 —T-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET +A&7T
Finished goods UK T 6,487
6,487
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an HRABFE LT AERTFEBEINET :

expense and included in profit or l0ss is as follows:

Carrying amount of inventories sold BEHEFERRE 61,957

Inventory loss caused by flood HABHFEEE (H:78)
damage (note 8) 4,380
Inventory written-off (note 8) WiHTFE (M) -
66,337
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance

B EMGIA - IR ER R

24. BEREMEWRE

2019

HK$'000
TAET

Other receivables Hfh e GRIE
Financial assets measured at B AGTEZ
amortised cost TREE
Prepayments TEIRIA
Deposits b7 a
Representing: Rk -
Current mE
Non-current IERE

Prepayments and deposits expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense after more than one year is HK$144,000
(2019: HK$156,000).

All of the other trade and other receivables are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

The Group allows credit period ranging from 30 days to 60
days to customers from OEM Business. For Retail Business, its
revenue mainly comprises of credit sales. Trade receivables
under credit sales are due within 1 month. The Group allows
credit period ranging from 30 days to 60 days to customers
from Wholesaling Business.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in note 42(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR AR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Ccontinued) 24, ESRHMEBWRIE (&)
As of the end of the reporting period, an ageing analysis of the
trade receivables net of loss allowances presented based on
the invoice date is as follows:

N TARREHRRERAH2IINE SR
WorkaE (HIRR S 1R ) HORRER DA -

Within 30 days 30HA 5,552
31 to 60 days 31260H 1,635
61 to 90 days 61290H -
Over 90 days 90H A 90

7,277

25. LOAN RECEIVABLES

Loan receivables arising from

25. EWER

2020 2019
— ? —= ﬂi :i{_niﬁ

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET

RERIEZ ERE R B S

money lending and accrued interest 73,378
Less: Impairment allowances R RERE (9,453)
63,925
Amounts due within one year HIARBEEET—FA
included under current assets EIEA5RIA 63,145
Amounts due after one year PASERBEEIR N —F1&
included under non-current assets B HAFOE 780
63,925
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

25. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)
(i)  All of the Group’s loan receivables are derived from
money lending business carried out in Hong Kong and
are denominated in HKS.

At 31 March 2020, the Group’s loan receivables with
gross amounts of HK$28,979,000 (2019: HK$63,816,000)
are secured loans with collateral which are mainly
properties and unlisted equity interests. The Group is not
permitted to sell or repledge the collateral in the absence
of default by the loan debtors. There has not been any
significant changes in the quality of the collateral held
for the loan receivables. In addition, the Group’s loan
receivables with gross amounts of HK$22,176,000 (2019:
HK$nil) are secured loans with guarantee provided by
independent third parties.

At 31 March 2020, the Group’s loan receivables bear
interest at fixed rates ranging from 3% to 36% (2019: 5%
to 18%) per annum.

(i) Atypical loan generally has a term of 7 weeks to 3 years
(2019: 1 week to 3 years).

(@) Maturity profile
As at the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile
of loan receivables, based on maturity date, is as follows:

Due within 3 months or on demand
Due after 3 months but within
6 months
Due after 6 months but within
12 months
Due after 12 months
Impairment allowances

1218 A 1% 2 81
B

3fE A AR MR EREE
3ME A &E6ME A A EIHf

ofE Az B121E B 35

()

Details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note
42(b).
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25. BWER @)

AEBE A RRERIRENEER
REMEEY - SWABTTEHE

R-E-ZTFE=ZA=+—0 £&E
JE U & X 48 828,979,000 T (= &
—L4F : 63,816,000/870) AEEKHE
o HEHREEAMERIELMR
o REBEEHALEELONGR

TEIHE S BB BRI -
s ERE R ERM o ERE T ES
REb - 1o AREFBEWMETETE
22,176,000 7T (— F— fLE : T8
TL) BEBME = HREERNAK
HER -

MN-ZE-_T=ZF=+—8 AE@Ez
EH&ZE% ﬁﬁ%;ﬂt%%Ziiﬂ
KB (ZZF—NF : 5%218%) ©

HAE I — AR KR B A7E £3F
(=

z—jLE P VAE3FE) o

ECi EHIR - ARFEE P EKRE
XE I ABEREIIIT

\+H+K

2019
—F-NF

HK$'000
TAT

249
26,257
6,699

24,618
(13,790)

44,033

BERASBEEERRFBHRNME

42(b) »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

25. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) . BWRER (&)
(b) MEEEZRDH

(b) Analysed by credit quality

Loan receivables that are credit EERERKER

impaired

— Not past due — AR

- Less than 3 months past due - @HA3E AR

- Over 3 months past due - B EAEAA3(E A

- Over due rescheduled loans - WEEEHEER

Impairment allowances BIERE
Loan receivables that are not FEEREEKRER

credit impaired

- Not past due — R EA

- Less than 3 months past due - @H3ME A K

— Over 3 months past due — s HAFE A3 (E A

Impairment allowances RERE

20,596

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, the directors of the Group RZEZZFR-ZT-NEF=A
consider that the credit risk arising from the credit- E+* B KEEE%M%X BEE
impaired loan receivables is partially mitigated by the BEREERNEERBE S HET

FEEMRAHB YR - Hﬂﬁ n
HAEEE2E T _TFR_

properties owned by certain unlisted companies, the
shares of which are held by the Group as collateral, with
reference to the estimated fair value of the properties —NEF=R=+T—HWHEZMHK a‘|’L\
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. Accordingly, expected FEEEAERYES - Bt R
credit loss of HK$4,931,000 (2019: HK$9,068,000) —E-THF=-ZA=+—H BERL
was recognised for these credit-impaired loan ¥ /23,978,000 L (ZZ — N 4F ¢
receivables with gross amount of HK$23,978,000 32,985,000/ 7T) #)3% % 18 R E e

(2019: HK$32,985,000) as at 31 March 2020. In addition,
expected credit loss of HK$1,945,000 (2019: HK$268,000)
was recognised for unsecured loan receivables with
gross amount of HK$6,335,000 (2019: HK$427,000) which
are credit-impaired as at 31 March 2020.

W E SRR T8 B2 & 85184,931,0007%5
JL (Z =& — 1% : 9,068,000/ JT) °
o RZEZEF=RA=+—8"
B BLAA%E 56,335,000 T (ZE— A,
4 1 427,000 7T) =B REEERT
FEUR B SRR TE B {5 B 581,945,000
BT (ZZ— N 1 268,00087T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Elzi —EE=A=+—RHItFE)

25. BWERR (&)
(c) BRERFMEERE

25. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)
(c) Expected credit loss of loan receivables

Expected credit loss in respect of loan receivables are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is
satisfied that there is no realistic prospect of recovery, in
which case the expected credit loss is written off against
loan receivables directly (see note 2 (j)()

Reconciliation of changes in gross carrying
amount and allowances for loan receivables
The table below provides a reconciliation of the
Group’s gross carrying amount and allowances for loan
receivables for the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The transfers of financial instruments represents the
impact of stage transfers upon the gross carrying
amount and associated allowance for ECL. The net
remeasurement of ECL arising from stage transfers
represents the increase in ECL due to these transfers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

25. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued) . BIWER Z‘%)
(c) Expected credit loss of loan receivables (c) EWEREHEEEE &)
(Continued)
Reconciliation of gross exposure and allowances EWRENZmGFRIEREHERREZ
for loan receivables Eof 3

Non credit - impaired Credit - impaired Total
FESHE E&RE it
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

F1EB EHLEE #ER
Gross  Allowance Gross ~ Allowance Gross ~ Allowance Gross  Allowance

exposure  forECL  exposwre  forECL exposure  forECL  exposwe  forECl
BR  EERE BR  EERE AR EERE BE  BEGE
RESE  BBAE AROE  BERE RGAE  ERAR  AREE  BERE
HSOO  HKS00  HKSO0  HKE00  HKSO0  HKSO0  HKSOD  HKSOO
Thr TR TEn At Thn Ar TR TEn

At 1 Aprl 2018

New lognsffnancing originated

Loans/finencing derecognised orrepaid during the year
(other than write-of)

30% 8] - - R0 B0 uke B30
Bl ] 4120 (29 303 18 &M 132

(25 U (o40) 1 I/ V2 I 1)

Asat 1 Apr 2019
New logns/fnancing orgnated
Loans/fnancing derecognised or repaid during the year

33 %) 3610 @ B3 039 733 (3453
puptL (7186) 2689 @ 882 o0y %1% 91

(other than wite-off) (BAsesn) 24019 k1l (Le9) B (1% 3L W) 34
Morficaon oss BIEE - - - - - -
Transr o 2o expectd et Sge 1 B30 (£1ES) - - -

Transer ohf eime expected cedit s not redi-mpaied ﬁ;‘@ )

(stage) 2 1 B (1 (] 4

Transfer to fetime expected creoitoss credi-mpaired

(sage 3 (14579 B (1618) ) 18,193 ®
Total ransfer befween stages (14,5% 0 (1589 (I (3 - -
Wrtg-off (1) pli - - (2564) 1876 (2645 1900
Impact on year end expect 120 Credlt oS of exposures transferr

befieen tages during te year - - - - - - - -
Movememsduetochangesmcredimsk - - - - - (198 - (19

As 31 March 2000 I 65%) b (C T X 6o I8B (13790

0
.
HKS000
A7

ange In ECLin statement of profit o 0gS

Chargefcret) orte year (15861
Total ECL Charged(ceatt) for te year (15,847
Definitions of Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are detailed in FIRE  FUERRFEIRBRZER

note 42(b)(i). HABIEE42(b) () FF Ak
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R R Y T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 26. BERBACEEYRAMRAERE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION &
(@) cash and cash equivalents comprise: () BekBELEEYERE:
2020 2019
—ECEF TN
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHERE 5,229
Cash and cash equivalents in Wire IR R Az R E &
the consolidated statement of HEZEY
financial position 5,229
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on IRITHSRIEST ARITFERFARIRZ
daily bank deposit rates. B IR BRENF S o
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) EXEMETHNEEYHER

financing activities

Loan from a Other Lease
shareholder  borrowings liabilities Total
RE—%
LI At E HEGE &t

HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
ThL TAT ThL

(Note 30) (Note 31)

) ( )

At 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 R=Z-\E£MA-BR

—E-AE=A=1-H - - - -
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 & e & B £
BRI TE - - 27 27
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NENA—AH - - 27 27
Changes from financing cash flows rﬂ éiﬁ EREERY) 11,451 6,540 (1,373) 16,618
Other changes: Hi e
New leases entered AUREFRE - - 4,866 4,866
Interest expenses (note 9(@)) FEREY (W29 269 260 300 829
Offset against loan receivable (Note) FERE TR (f1:F) (2,000) - - (2,000
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-Z£=H=+-H
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2020, an independent Wit BEZZZTF=-A=1T—HItHF
loan debtor, a shareholder of the Company, and the F;Z* P EBBUEREBA  —EBAR
Group entered into an agreement, pursuant to which a NEIRREREET LB B
repayment of HK$2,000,000 (2019: HK$nil) from the loan It - R ETS A B E #92,000,0007%
debtor was offset against by the outstanding loan amount T (ZE—NF : THT) REHAK
due to a shareholder by the Group. EEERBR 2 KEBEFIKE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 26. BERACEEYRAMAESRE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) B8 #)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERESRLARE
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash HEReRERTAEBREENTIES
flows for leases comprise the following: BT IEE -

Within operating cash flows KER SRR 612
Within financing cash flows BEBESRA -
Note: Bfat -

As explained in note 3, the adoption of HKFRS 16 introduces a BRANFT FESATHL - FRAN B B ISR ERIE
change in classification of cash flows of certain rentals paid on 16N EEEEM N ETHSNBREERE
leases. The comparative amounts have not been restated. All D hRERBIWEES) - B L&
the above amounts relate to the lease rentals paid. P HESAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

27. BEREMENRE

2019

—FT-NF

HK$'000

T

Trade payables B 5 e F0R 143

Accrued staff salaries i ETHS 360

Amounts due to associates (hote (c)) FETRE S A TIRIB (M3 () -

Other accruals and payables HibpEst B8 R ER B 12,179
Financial liabilities measured at LREER AT EC SRIBE

amortised cost 12,682

(@ An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period based on the invoice date is as

follows:

RBmERRENZERAHNE F RN

RERRER OIS

Over 90 days

#A3B90H

143

(b)  All of the trade and other payables are expected to be
settled or recognised as income within one year or are

repayble on demand.

(c) The balances are unsecured, interest fee, repayable on

demand and will be settled in cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. EXEE
2019
—NEF
HK$'000
T
Contract liabilities aRasE
Billings in advance of performance BHIAIIRE 135
135

The contract liabilities primarily related to below: SREEFEETIFIERH

- advance consideration received from the customers — SREMEAREREHEREEEPHK
for the provision of financial quotient and investment FITERARAE - E UL IR ARG BIRERR
education courses, for which revenue is recognised B
when the services have been rendered;

- certain customers are required to pay deposits when — ATEFARTEHEERIFE
they place the sales order, which resulted in contract e WEB (EERAEERNERE
liabilities until the Group delivers the products and the EFESHEMMEFEIER) 64
customers obtain control of the products. B

The significant increase (2019: increase) in contract liabilities REFEHBBRNEEN (ZZE—NF : 18

in the current year was mainly due to the HK$3,075,000 (2019: m EZ2RANREREFEK3,075, Oooﬁé‘m

HK$135,000) advances received from customers resulting in an —E—NF 1350008 70) S A LA EL

increase (2019: increase) in contract liabilities of HK$2,940,000 m(=ZZ—N4F - 1 0) 2,940,0007% 7T (7

(2019: HK$135,000). T — L4 + 135,000 7T) °

There was no revenue recognised in the current reporting B AR BRI SR A R iR 1 S TR

period that related to performance obligations that were ZBHEENWE -

satisfied in prior year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(%zi
28.

29.

—EF-A=T-HILFE)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 28. é‘%’]ﬁﬁ (&)
Movements in contract liabilities

Balance at beginning of the year FEXEERR

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result ~ AEEAS LB ENEE
of recognising revenue during the W tERAEE LB &R
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year

Increase in contract liabilities as a result TEWHE /R BN AR BB B B

of billing in advance of sales activities BB EEM
Balance at end of the year FREEE
LOANS FROM A SHAREHOLDER 29. RE—EBREHNER
As at 31 March 2020, loan from a shareholder of the Company MRZZEZZTF=A=+—H KB —BEXRQ
of HK$9,720,000 (2019: HK$nil) is unsecured and repayable AR BB 09,720,000 T (ZE— N4 -
after 1 year but within 2 years in cash. The effective interest T L) AEEE - AR —FRERME
rates ranged from 4.5% to 5% per annum. WL B EE - BERFENENTF45%E5%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

30. OTHER BORROWINGS 30. Hittfg &
At 31 March 2020, the other borrowings were repayable as RZZEZZTF=A=+—QH  EEEEME
follows: BT
2020
—E-EF
HK$'000
FET
Repayable within 1 year or on demand R—FRNFIRER(EE -
After 1 year but within 2 years R—EEBERRER -
The other borrowings comprise of: HibfEEREE -
()  HK$1,800,000 which is unsecured, interest bearing at () 1,800,000 T AEEE  HEF
15% per annum and repayable on 24 November 2020 5%t B RBER T _FF+—A
—t+mHERER
(i) HK$5,000,000 which is unsecured, interest bearing at (i) 5,000,000/t 0 BERF EEFA
2.5% per month and repayable on 2 September 2021. 25%st ERBR-_ZE=Z—FNA=H
B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R R Y T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HEEE
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TREFMEENHERERE R KBAR
of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the current and HEHARRRNBEZ B BN EREER L1657
previous reporting periods and at the date of transition to B HEIMER T E R EIER
HKFRS 16:

31 March 2020 1 April 2019 (Note) 31 March 2019 (Note)
ZECEFCA=1-H ZE-NEMA-A () ZE-NEZR=1-A (M)
Present Present Present
value of the Total  value of the Total  value of the Total
minimum lease - minimum lease  minimum lease minimum lease minimum lease  minimum lease

fayments  payments  payments  payments  payments  payments
BERE BERE BERE BERE BEHE BfRE
eI HEeE  HENBE HHEE  HINBE B
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS 000

ThL T BT Thn AT
Within 1 year 1R 1,047 163 20 206 - -
Adter 1 year but within 2 years 1204 23 1074 3 1 - -
Adter 2 years but within 5 years 155 2410 310 - - - -
308 4194 3 1 - -
4080 9830 287 0 - -
Less: total future interest expenses B ARASRR A8 (1,750 (39) -
Present value of lease liabities HEARNER 4,080 %7 -
Note: Bt -
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified REECD BERFATBMBREERF 165 LR
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 RIBME  UABR-ZZ—NEMNA— AN
April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were HENERAEERENEERE  wFHER
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. Comparative BEAFEBRB S ERE79 TR EAKCEMA
information as at 31 March 2019 has not been restated. Further details E-WESIN_Z-NF=A=1t—"HNALL
on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 3. B ERBEZE BV BEMELLE 16K

SR SFHIEENIES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

32. DEFERRED TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 32. ZKEPBMRRARAZELERE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities (a) CRFELEREEEREE
recognised
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances TRARGEBRERE M IRET IR
for financial reporting purposes: BRAAT -
2020 2019
g St 223 —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Deferred tax liabilities ELFIBAE 122
Deferred tax assets BB E E (1,567)
(1,445)
The components of deferred tax liabilities and assets RERERE R T AR ELE
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial MIBAENREENHAKLESINT -
position and the movements during the year are as
follows:
Depreciation
allowances
Acquisition in excess
of intangible  of related  Credit loss
assets deprecation allowance Total
BT E FERE
WEEyEE - 2WERG BE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THL THT TAL
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\FNA—H 1,116 2 (4,175) (3,057)
(Credited)/charged to profit or (GtN)/ Mk EEE
loss (note 10(@)) (RaF100) (445) 112 2,616 2,283
Disposal of subsidiaries HEME LR
(note 39) (R15#39) 612) - - (612)
Reclassification as held for B BARBELE
sale (note 22) (Hzt22) (59) - - (59)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1+—H - 114 (1,559 (1,445)
At 1 April 2019 RZT—NEFNA—H - 114 (1,559 (1,445)
Charged to profit or loss il a=hit
(note 10(a)) (Hiz#106) - 8 1,559 1,567
At 31 March 2020 RZZZTF=A=+—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

32. DEFERRED TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$79,248,000 (2019: HK$37,879,000)
available for offset against future profits that may be
carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset was
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2020 (2019: nil) since it is not
probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity.

33. PROVISION FOR LITIGATION

32. BREVBRARAZELERE (&)

(b) RERZELEHREE
R-ZB-ZF=A=+—0 +4%8
1 75 7K B B i 78 65 48 4979,248 00078
T (ZF—N%F : 37,879,000 7T) A
445 54 7T 20 R A 8 £ SR SRR
R-Z-TH=A=+—H @RHE
BB AR R K B T AT AL IR
RICFERBIR A B ABIERGE - &
AR A BB R P RERIBIT Y
HAE (ZZ—NF  §) -

BIEN Y]
Litigation claim

FRAARE
HK$'000

FAET
Note 47(a)
HizF47(a)

At 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 RZE-NFHEA—B R

— = —=

=T —=

F=A=+—H 1,735

The litigation claim brought against Sino Shine Retailing
Limited (“Sino Shine”) arose from a repudiatory breach of a
tenancy agreement between Sino Shine as the tenant and an
independent third party landlord entered into on 27 October
2016. The details of the litigation claim is disclosed in note
47(a).

Though Sino Shine was disposed by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2020, according to the terms in the agreement
for sale and purchase of shares in Sino Shine with the buyer
of Sino Shine, the legal claim incurred for Sino Shine which
related to event before the date of disposal on 20 September
2019 shall be payable by the Group. Accordingly, the provision
for litigation claim of HK$1,735,000 remained a liability of the
Group as at 31 March 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R MY AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(Elzi
34.

—EFEZA=1+—RALFE)

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to
the plan vest immediately.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$193,000 (2019:
HK$238,000) represents contributions paid to the MPF scheme
by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020. As at 31
March 2020, there were no material forfeitures available to
offset the Group’s future contributions (2019: nil).

34.

EERKER

ERHFRARETE
AEBBEEE GBI DTS B
REEE (RMEIGD) EENERRIRY
MAESFHE ((RESF B - RHESH
B2 —AREIRAEA T R BHIURA
el - RiBRESHHE - BEREEHBIA
124 BABRIMA Z5% M st BIFEH 30 - 1
1RBA A M ALAS0,0008 7T A LR © [E BIfE
R ENE B -

sFAIB R R A ZR193,0008 T (ZZE— A
& :238,000 ) NASEHE_T_F
FZA=+—RHIEFERBERFTIRMZ
HR-RZBE_TF=A=+—0H" Iéﬂi
REW S FEAHEEAREE 2 RARER (=
—NEF &) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B
OB BRENT

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(E!zi —EE=A=+—RHItFE)

35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 25 September
2014 for the primary purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to eligible participants, and will expire on 10 October
2024, after which no further options will be granted. Under the
Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company may grant
options to:

(@ any employee or proposed employee (whether fulltime
or part-time and including any executive director),
consultants or advisers of or to the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which
the Company holds an equity interest;

(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of the
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

() any supplier of goods or services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;,

(d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;,

(e)  any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity; and

(fy  any shareholders or any shareholder of any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, there is no
share option granted, exercised or forfeited, and there is no
share option outstanding as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March
2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e & BRI T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(%ti
35.

—EFEZA=1+—RALFE)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company'’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company's shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be
exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option. The exercise price is determined by the directors of
the Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
average closing price of the ordinary shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day), and (i) the closing price of
the ordinary shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option (which
must be a business day).

Each option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one
ordinary share in the Company and is settled gross in shares.

35.

BRERTE ()
RERRBIRREFRIENERT @ RIEZ
sHEIATBER BB RS R R AR BTN S
HIBAR AR RS HITRME910% ° K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 36. EXRREE
(a) Share capital (@ B’=&
(i) Authorised and issued share capital (i) ZEEREBRITRA
Amount

Number of

shares

R EE

Authorised: EE -

At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019,

AZE—)\FWMA—H -

1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 —hWEF=A=1+—8"
ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each —Z—HhFEMNAE—HK
—E-TFEZA=+—H
FRZ0.0478 T 2 EimA% 12,500,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: EERITRAR
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, Eff;:—/\iﬂﬂ—lﬂ .
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 —hEF=A=+—8"
ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each :?fﬁ#ll]ﬁ*a&
—E-EF=A=+—H
FR%0.04% 7T 2 Eiff 1,280,000,000 51,200

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at general
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.

The Company is in the process of implementation
of capital reorganisation (“Capital Reorganisation”)
which include the followings:

a) capital reduction (“Capital Reduction”)
whereby the share capital of the Company
will be reduced by (i) the cancellation of
HK$0.0399 paid-up capital on each issued
share such that each issued share shall
be treated as one fully paid-up share of
HK$0.0001 each (the “New Share”) in the
capital of the Company; and (i) the reduction
of the par value of each and every unissued
share from HK$0.04 to HK$0.0001;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o Bt 7 SR I

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(E!zi ZEF=A=+—ALFE)
36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 36. EXKf#EE (&)
(@) Share capital (continued) (@ B& )
(i) Authorised and issued share capital (i) ZEERERITRAX (&)
(Continued)
b)  share premium cancellation whereby upon by RGOS B R

the Capital Reduction becoming effective, the
entire amount standing to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company will
be cancelled (“Share Premium Cancellation”);

PRI AR + RAE]
Pty st (B R RO HERR 2 22 A0
R (R
EE]l)

c)  the credit arising from the Capital Reduction C)  MRASHIR KT SHAR D R (B
and Share Premium Cancellation will be BEEZERSAREHEAR
applied towards offsetting the accumulated A RIPARRAER A2 H H
losses of the Company as at the effective 2 RETIBAL - fEmREA
date of the Capital Reduction. The balance NRZ RETEAL o BIRE
of credit after offsetting, if any, will be BERRSE (F) B8
transferred to a distributable reserve account BEARRRA IR FEER
of the Company and be applied for such N REFR B BEAER KA
purposes as permitted by all applicable AR Z AR E AR KM N A
laws and the memorandum and articles of BIFEFTEEEERAE
association of the Company and as the board BrR®E R
of directors considers appropriate; and

d)  immediately following the Capital Reduction, d EBEKRAEXHRZ:

the authorised share capital of the Company
will be increased from HK$1,250,000 divided
into 12,500,000,000 New Shares of par value
of HK$0.0001 each to HK$500,000,000 divided
into 5,000,000,000,000 New Shares of par
value of HK$0.0001 each, by the creation of
4,987,500,000,000 additional New Shares of
par value of HK$0.0001 each.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 23 March 2020 (the “EGM"),
the proposed resolution to approve the Capital
Reorganisation and the transactions contemplated
thereunder was duly passed as a special resolution
by way of poll by the shareholders.

KA AEEERAKB
B 1,250,000 7 7T (9 &
12,500,000,0000% & A% ™=
{B0.00017% 7T #9 37 B% 15)
# 1 Z500,000,0007 T
(% % 5,000,000,000,000
f% & % ™ {80.00017% JT
HFTAR D) + F AR
4,987,500,000,0000% & A%
TEI{E0.00017 7T ) BB SN T
B

ML ER AR EA R E IR T HE
TZRXBAREZRERCDE
BRRRARRNR T _FF=
AZtT=RBRZBERERIK
g ([BRRFRIARE]) EARE
BB RRIRES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(%zi

—EF-A=T-HILFE)

36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
(@) Share capital (continued)

(M

Authorised and issued share capital
(Continued)

Subsequent to the passing of the resolution at
the EGM, the Capital Reorganisation will become
effective after the other conditions are fulfilled,
inter alia, the approval from The Grand Court of the
Cayman Islands (the “Court”) and registration of the
order of the Court confirming the Capital Reduction
and the minutes approved by the Court containing
the particulars required under the Companies Law
(2020 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, as amended
or modified from time to time, with respect to the
Capital Reduction.

The Capital Reorganisation has not yet completed
at the date of approval of the financial statements.

(b) Capital and reserves

36. EXRfREE &)
(@ KX #)

)

FEERBBITRA (8)

=y x?%%'JKAtZJ%E%%%
EAFEE - 1 H AR ER
1& - Hxﬁé%ﬁﬁﬁﬁé\ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ
BT (DEBT)) 8 & & 50 fe
R A B 2 AP B A R A
R EREHEHE A RNE
(ZZZTFETM - TR
RSS2 P8 E A B AR A4
EFIE 2 SRR ERR R -

RILEMTEHRRBE EXE

(b) BEAXRKEE

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements RAARERRBAFEF#ESELRE
therein for the current and prior years are presented in BHHNGEERZEE

the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the

financial statements.

Details of the changes in the Company’s individual AR E R R (E B EB D R FE ) R AR

components of equity between the beginning and the
end of the year are set out below:

The Company

BRI -

NS

Share Share Special  Accumulated
capital premium reserve loss Total
R& RHEE RHfE ZitER @it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS' 000
ThT B BT Tin
At 1 April 2018 R=E-)\ENA-A 51,200 618133 56,102 (611,118) 114317
Loss and total comprenensive FREEREERTAE
expense for the year - - - (55,507) (55,507)
At31March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R=F-hE=A=1+-BEk
“Z-NERA-A 51,200 618133 5,102 (666,625) 58810
Loss and total comprehensive FREEREAETAE
expense for the year - - - (9,754) (9,754
At 31 March 2020 RZF-ZE=f=1-H 51,200 618,133 56,102 (676,379) 49,056
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o Bt 7 SR I

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(E!zi —EE=A=+—HItFE)

36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the
Cayman Islands, the share premium account of the
Company is distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which a dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(u).

Fair value reserve (nhon-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
instrument designated at FVOCI under HKFRS 9
that are held at the end of the reporting period (see
note 2(f)).

Special reserve

Special reserve represented the difference
between the nominal amount of the share capital
and share premium of a former subsidiary of the
Company and the nominal amount of the share
capital issued by the Company pursuant to a group
reorganisation.

Other reserve

Other reserve arose from the waiver of loan from a
controlling shareholder of the Company in previous
years.

)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(V)

36. EXRf#E (@)
() REHERRE

10 E
BEHESESRQTE @B
i) - AR Z G EERAT S
KT ARRAIMRE - HEEERE
EDRREE B - AAFAE
Bee BB AR EBT /R H
&1 o

BE R

R EBEETEREGINE
BeHBRREETHNINEE
# o ZRBEREENME2UZ
SEHORRE -

AFEREE (FAERE)

N ERFE (PAER) P
WEMRFENRBE BB
SRR FIFISEIR A FEET
AHMEZEKEHRATAR
FEM R EE)FRE (M
2(f) ©

BRI E

5 B R 1 AN X ] AT BT /B8 2 )
MkABREEERDEEZ
MR Z8 - URARERESE
EEHESHTRARREE -

Hitbf#
HipEBELEBARE —&E
IR BEFEREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

36. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
(d) capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern,
so that they can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

37. OPERATING LEASES
At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases were payable as
follows:

Within one year
After one year but within five years

—FR

36. EXKRf#E (@)

37.

—FRETFAN

(d) BEXERE
AREEREAZ BRAREAEE
FEEEWREN - B RBRREER
(Bl 8 K 75 B At 15 00 3 e SR M) 2 DA R
FREERERAR D ERKRE -

REFLRBREARRE  AREMH
BRMNTREMNRESHE  ARRER
BEAXR - BITHBRSLEEENRD
&7 -

ZA/NCIPY SR = INIL S P S )
HEINEE AR TEFR ©

KEHEE

RZZE—NF=A=+—H ' RETAHH
KEHBERNOARRKEES M REE
T

2019
—F—hEF

HK$'000
TAT

439
235

674

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties
held under leases which were previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially applied HKFRS
16 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances at 1 April
2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to these leases (see
note 3). From 1 April 2019 onwards, future lease payments
are recognised as lease liabilities in the statement of financial
position in accordance with the policies set out in note 2(j), and
the details regarding the Group's future lease payments are
disclosed in note 31.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(Eﬁzi

—EF-A=THLFEE)

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Key management personnel
remuneration

The key management personnel include directors of
the Company (the remuneration for them disclosed in
note 11) and certain highest paid employees disclosed
in note 12 who is director of a principal subsidiary, and
the remuneration for key management personnel are as
follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

ySEGl SR
BB R AR A

38. EXEBERS

(a)

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note
9(b)).

Financing arrangement

During the year ended 31 March 2020, a shareholder of
the Company advanced loans of HK$22,000,000 (2019:
HK$nil) to the Group, which is unsecured, interest-
bearing at 4.5%-5.0% per annum and repayable within 24
months from the draw down dates. At 31 March 2020,
the outstanding loan balance due to a shareholder is
HK$9,720,000 (2019: HK$nil).

The interest expense on loans from a shareholder during
the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to HK$269,000
(2019: HKS$Nil).

(b)

FTEEBASHMH

IZERABRRARAES (BH
B4 B2 OB 5E11) R R ER P 1268

ETEREFHMEES RES—MBIE
MEARIZES  UARTZBEEBAR
ot

2020 2019
BE T NF
HK$'000 HK$'000

FB AT

_?_

F@Ee SR [EIAA] A (R
F9()) °

AE =B
HE-_Z-_ZF=A=+—HILF
B ARRARRAREERNERK
22,000,000 L (== — NF: T8
L) RERAEERR  REF45%
250%:T B kA BRI A B Et24

BREE -5 _?_?i A=+~
B BRBERZAEEERERR

9,720,000/ 7T (= F — jL F:TE
L) °

REBE-_Z-TF=A=+—HILF
B RE—RBRROERMNEFRXS
269,0008TL( =T — N TET) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(Eki

—EFEZA=1+—RALFE)

38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(c) Other transactions

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company
provided a financial guarantee to an independent third
party lender (the “Lender”) for a loan of HK$11,200,000
(the "Loan") granted by the Lender to Prestige Concord,
an associate of the Group. The Loan was then replaced
by another loan of same amount granted by the Lender
which a property indirectly owned by Prestige Concord
was pledged to the Lender, and the financial guarantee
provided by the Company under the Loan was released
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Mr. Yuen Yu Sum, an executive director of the Company,
is interested in this transaction or arrangement to the
extent that Prestige Concord is controlled by him.

184 L&A International Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2020

38. EXBAMAE RS (4)

(c)

HtiR 5
BHE-Z-_ZF=-A=-+—HLHF
B ARARB—EBBILE=ZFE
HATERAD AAEERZ A
TPrestlge Concordfr # i 89 B 5%
11,200,000 7T ([FZER]) MZE R
AREER - ZEFHEEBZHRERAEK
HH S —ERRSENERAER -
MPrestige Concordf# # A /) — 1A
MEAERTFERA - BARAIRNE
AT ROV B ERNEZE
TE= A=+ —BILFEERRR

FE 4 $IPrestige Concordty & T
RATITESTRWRLERZR S
R PP AR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEMBAR
For the year ended 31 March 2020 EEEF=A=+-—HLHF
E
() On 1 April 2019, the Group disposed of the entire () RZE-—NAFOA—AH AEEH
equity interest in Rex Max Investments Limited and EFRex Max Investments Limited &
its subsidiary, Inten International Co., Limited, within H W} B A Flinten International Co.,
the OEM Business segment at total consideration of Limited REZEREEEBE D AN 22 F
HK$500,000. A& - R{E4EEE /500,000 7T °
HK$'000
AT
Consideration received BUWRRE
Cash received =AE 500
Total consideration received R ERE 500

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which & EXZ4IENEEREBEIH :
control was lost:

Property, plant and equipment L EN NG 63
Goodwill [EES 219
Intangible assets mPEE 359
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EAFEWRGRIE 450
Cash and cash equivalents Re MReEED 32
Other payables and accrued expenses HihpEARIB R ETE R (225)
Tax payable FERFLIR (10)
Deferred tax liabilities BRIEHIBAE (59)
Net assets disposed of FrHE&EFAE 829
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENRB A RS

Consideration received ERE 500
Net assets disposed of FritE&EEFE (829)
Non-controlling interests FEPEARE A 332
Gain on disposal HEE 3

The gain on disposal is included in the “other net  H&EWRFT AGZA B R EM
(losses)/gains” line item in the consolidated ZEMEERPH [Htlas
statement of profit or loss and other (F18) F8|I17TEBEF -
comprehensive income.

Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEEEZRERNFEHE
Consideration received in cash and cash BYER e RIRSEEYRE

equivalents 500
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of B THEREMESEEY (32)

468
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(Eﬁzi —EFZAT+—HLEFE)
39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. H:."%Fﬁ%"ﬁ (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 (continued) BE-_Z_ZEF=A=+—HLHF
B (&)
@iy On 20 September 2019, the Group disposed of the entire iy HZE—NAFhLAZ -I— B AEEH
equity interest in Sino Shine Retailing Limited. Within the ERFABTEBRAT 22 ERME -
Retail Business segment at total consideration of HK$1. REEXEB ‘*IZWZW“ BEERE
Jt °

HK$'000
THT

Consideration received BWRRE
Cash received B3R & -
Total consideration received BB RE -

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which
control was lost:

REEFRNEERBEDIN -

Property, plant and equipment (note 15) ME - BB M (HiE15) 7
Other payables and accrued expenses EAb BB R BRI (145)
Net liabilities disposed of FrtEaEFE (138)
Gain on disposal of subsidiary HEME QKR

Consideration received BHRE -
Net liabilities disposed of FrEaERE 138
Gain on disposal & e 138

The gain on disposal is included in the “other net
(losses)/gains” line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Net cash inflow arising on disposal

Consideration received in cash and cash
equivalents

Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

HEWRFAGABRREM
PEREGERTH [EM (&
1B),/ W FE5E | 1TIBE P -

HEELEZBRERNFHE
BEUERE SRS FEEBMRE

B T ERE MR EHEY -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR AR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(Eﬁzi

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

—EF-A=THLFEE)

For the year ended 31 March 2019

(i)

39. HEMEAR @)

On 16 August 2018, the Group disposed of the entire
equity interests in Well Sun Development Limited, which
engaged in property investment, at total consideration of

approximately HK$36,171,000.

g#z—-%

B

) R=F-—NAFNATAB A&E
HEREFRRER AR N2 B
W AREMERE - RERERK
36,171,000/ 7T °

—hE=A=+—HILF

HK$'000
THET

Consideration received 2WRE
Consideration received in cash and cash B S MRS EEYNRE
equivalents 36,171
Total consideration received BERIELREE 36,171
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which %k EZ4IENEERABEIF
control was lost
Investment property (note 16) WEWE (M:16) 29,286
Other receivable, deposit & prepayment HuppgElw s -« e RTafEE 1
Accrued expenses and other payable FERHE R R EMERFIE (331)
Tax payable FERTIIR 61)
Net assets disposed of b EEEFE 28,895
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— R B LA R K
Consideration received EHARIE 36,171
Net assets disposed of FrE&EFA (28,895)
Gain on disposal s 7,276
Less: Transaction costs W RS
Legal cost TEBRRR @an
Agent fee RIZRLAR (365)
Net gain on disposal (included in other net & e 55 (BT AN ISR
gains/(losses) in note 8) Hivlzs/(E518) $%8) 6,870
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HEEEZRERNFE
Consideration received in cash and cash BUERE RIRSEEYRE
equivalents 36,171
Less: Transaction cost B RS (406)
35,765
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(Eﬁzi “EF=A=1+—HILFE)

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 (continued)

(i) On 28 September 2018, the Group disposed of the
entire equity interests in L&A Interholdings Inc. and its
subsidiaries, which carried out Retail Business at total
consideration of HK$300,000.

39. HEKMBAR (&)
EZ-E-NF=A=+—HLHF
E @)
iy MWZE-—NFRLAZF+NH K x£EH
HERLRA Interholdings Inc. K Ef
BARKMEZHRE ENETEXE
% - R{E4RFE A300,0008 T °

HK$'000
THT

Consideration received EWRRE
Consideration received in cash and cash BURE LIRS EEYRE
equivalents 300
Total consideration received Bl (ELEEE 300
Analysis of assets and liabilities over KEEFENEERABIN
which control was lost
Intangible assets (note 17) mREE (Hi17) 2,448
Trade receivables E 5 W IR 13
Other receivable, deposits & prepayments HEfhpEURGRIE ~ e MIBNFUE 419
Tax recoverable GBI EE R 16
Cash and cash equivalents Re KA EEY 557
Trade payables g ENFIA (347)
Other payables H b e RIR (4,458)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 32(a)) EERIBAE (A7+32()) 612)
Net liabilities disposed of FrtEaEFE (1,958)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEME QR NEER
Consideration received BERE 300
Net liabilities disposed of it EaE#E 1,958
Non-controlling interests IR E R (1,389)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of RKEMB A RLZ ZEhlER
the net liabilities of the subsidiaries reclassified B ATHNAEFRE
from equity to profit or loss on loss of control HESRETH»BEER
of subsidiaries I RETIE H =5 (1,633)
Loss on disposal (included in other net HEEE (GT MR EAM
gains/(losses) in note 8) Wz (k518) F58) (764)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEELEZHESREFE
Consideration received in cash and cash BUERE KBS EEYRE
equivalents 300
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances B BEHERE MREEEML
disposed of (557)
(257)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R R MY T

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi ZEF=A=1+—HILFE)

40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. RXATIMB AR ZFHE
COMPANY
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are as RZZ_ZF=A=+—H WBRRZ:
follows: BT
Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully equity attributable
operation paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
RIS - bk BETRBREER FARELRERSL  EEXE
Direct Indirect
HE R
% %
Mutli Vision Development Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share 100 - Investment holding
0f US$1 each
Mutli Vision Development Limited KERUBE /BE TRERETHLER 100 - B
Able Glorious Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share 100 - Investment holding
0f US$1 each
Able Glorious Limited EEREHE/BR RERIEFTHERR 100 - BEER
Peaceful Success Enterprises Limited  BVI/HK 1 ordinary share 100 - Investment holding
of US$1 each
BRAEERAT ZBRuHE /B RERIETH SRR 100 - REABR
Able Glorious (HK) Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share - 100 Provision of financial
quotient and
investment education
courses
Able Glorious (HK) Limited BE/EE REER - 00 REHNERREHEFE
Able Rich Management Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share - 100 Investment holding
of US$1 each
ENERBRAR ABRuBE /B TRERIETHERR - 100 ®EER
L & A Group of Companies Limited HK/HK 38,400,000 - 100 Manufacturing, sales and
ordinary shares retailing of garment
products
HOREERAR Bk /R 38,400,0008% &% - 100 REEREE  HER
et
Times Asia Limited HK/HK 10,000 ordinary shares - 100  Dormant
REARAA Eh/ &R 10,0005 &R - 100 B&EEH
L & A Management Limited BVI/HK 1 ordinary share - 100 Investment holding
of US$1 each
L & A Management Limited ZERAES /B TRERIE TR E R - 00 REAZR
Sun Dynamic Group Limited BVI/HK 3,000 ordinary shares - 100 Investment holding
0f US$1 each
Sun Dynamic Group Limited EBRUEE/EE  300RERIETHLER - 100 REER
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40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40.

COMPANY (Continued)

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully
operation paid-up capital
SRR/ EEh ERTRARER

Maxi Chain Enterprises Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share
RELEBRAF &b/ BR TRE R
Hung Lee Asia Trading Limited HK/HK 100 ordinary shares
ERENESERAR &b/ Eh 100K EBR
L & A Food Trading Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share
EoRmESERAT &b/ BR TRE Rk
L & A Solutions Limited HK/HK 1 ordinary share
L & A Solutions Limited Bk /B REER
Winsky Management Limited HK/HK 100 ordinary shares
BREBERRA Bk /BE 100REBR
Rise More Corporation Limited HK/HK 100 ordinary shares
AR BRAR Bk /B 100 LB
Well Allied Catering Services Limited ~ HK/HK 10,000 ordinary shares
RRERRBERAA BB/ BE 10,000k & Bk

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, there is no subsidiary of the Group
which has material non-controlling interests.

190 L&A International Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2020

RRTIMBRR 2FHE (@)

RIZ-ZFR-F

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
NG R

Direct

EE
%

Indirect
[
%

100
100

70
70

100
100

100
100

100
100

100
100

100
100

Principal activities

Dormant
LEXH

Wholesaling of seafood
istiiZinds

Property investment
ES

Money Lending
A

Dormant
EEXH
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LEXH
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LEXH
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  41. XA FMNFBIRR TR

COMPANY
2020 2019
—ECEF T-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ks FHET BT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 22
Investments in subsidiaries R B ARNRE 1
23
current assets RBEE
Prepayments and deposits %EH‘*-’”IE&fA 55 101
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEWHTB A F2kIE 105,956 114,769
Cash and cash equivalents Eﬁ@&iﬂﬁ%{%% 20 385
106,031 115,255
Current liabilities FBaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHMIB AT A 52,777
Other payables and accrued E e ATRUE R ERT R SR
expenses 3,691
56,468
Net current assets REBEERE 58,787
NET ASSETS BEEFE 58,810
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARKFE
Share capital %N 36(a) 51,200 51,200
Reserves B 36(b) (2,144) 7,610
TOTAL EQUITY e 49,056 58,810
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES
The Group’s major financial instruments include the followings:

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets EEREE

Trade receivables B S WA
Loan receivables JEWE X

Other receivables Hith U zaE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEED

42.

"

EREREEEERBE
AEBEESHTABETIIEE

SR T AR

2020
—EC2F

HK$'000
FTERT

4,733
44,033
268
2,130

Financial assets at amortised cost

REHKAY R BB E

51,164

Equity instrument at FVOCI

BAHES AR MY

BATA
Financial assets at FVPL A EABZNEMEE
Mandatorily measured at FVPL — @ﬁ%lﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁuﬂ\%@ SR E -
Held for trading BIEER
Financial liabilities Ko a=Ri
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMERFIR
Loan from a shareholder ke —BREEK
Other borrowings HthgE
Lease liabilities HEBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LABESERR ARSI BRI SR B F

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and other price risk. The Group’s exposure to these risks
and the financial risk management policies and practices used
by the Group to manage these risks are described below.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
(a) Fair values

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs, that is, unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs, that is, observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

The Group has a team headed by the finance
manager with the assistance of independent
professionally qualified valuers to perform
valuations for the financial instruments, including
unlisted equity investment which is categorised
into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The team
reports directly to the executive directors and the
audit committee. A valuation report with analysis of
changes in fair value measurement is prepared by
the team at each interim and annual reporting date,
and is reviewed and approved by the executive
directors. Discussion of the valuation process and
results with the executive directors and the audit
committee is held every three months to coincide
with the reporting dates.

42. cREMREEEERBEEK &)

(a)

AFE

(i)

BAFPEIBHEHBEERE
&

NFEER
TREIIRBEBEH B RS
AIB1BRAFEAE niEﬂEA
BEPRRAENAEESRT
BEZR¥E EoBAR=EA
FESER - R TEAEIZE
(CXEESSOIZINEGE PN "¢~ S:0 Ik o
REREZMFELNRAE

JE -

o EmGE: EERE-
B ABE (B3R B
ERERAESAHER
GENSEYEL ST )
HERMATE

o  FIAME:ERFE-M
BWARE (AR HEE—
RIRER A B BUR) &t
ENRTE - BTEEAE
BEATAIEREARIE -
TR BRG ABIRBAREE

REHESENEARE

o ESRIGE: EREAT
TEERABEHRHA
¥

AREBEGHEE —Ei M BEES
BEWNE EBIBEERSE
RAEEMOB THS®T
A (BRBRE/ARTEERS
=R LTRARE) £17
fE - ZEEEARITES
NBEZEZEGER - /AR
EHEIRFERE R RS
BRAFEAEZFHHTNMGE
BE - AHRITEFTEHN R
o WEATEEREZEZE
SHAERBRERERETH
o iAo = 88T —
R BERE REI B o
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. eRiEMREE BERBER (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Fair values (continued) (@) ¥E #®)
()  Financial assets and liabilities measured at () BAFEIENTHBEERE
fair value (Continued) & (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) INFEER (E)
Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2020 categorised into
R-B-BF=A=1+—-H2EATIBEZ
AFEFE

Fair value at
31 March
2020 Level 1
R-Z-Zf
SHESlH
AN F—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Recurring fair value

measurements
Assets: BE:
Equity instrument BATESTAEZE
at FVOC| WEMRATA
- Unlisted equity - FEIRARE
investment
Financial assets at FVPL BRFERTABER
TREE
- Held for trading - -FHEEE -

Listed equity securities EmRAES
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. sRIEREEEEREBEK &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Fair values (continued) (@) A¥E#®)
()  Financial assets and liabilities measured at () BAFEIEHNTHBEERE
fair value (Continued) & (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) INFEER (E)
Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2019 categorised into
R-ZE-NE=B=1+—-H2BATIZEZ
AFEFE

Fair value at
31 March
Level 1

ZDVE F-&
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT

Recurring fair value
measurements

Assets: BE:

Equity instrument BATEGARBZE
at FVOCl WEMRATA
- Unlisted equity - FEIRARE

investment
Financial assets at FVPL BRFERABER
TREE

- Held for trading - -FEEE -

Listed equity securities EmRAES

During the vears ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, HE-Z-RFR-F-NF
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level =A :+_ E'Jiif; gt
2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s HE QML EBE - hEE
policy is to recognise transfers between levels of ASEEHF =4 o AEREBR
fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting TR EEEOREPRERD
period in which they occur. HEERRNEE -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. SRIEREEEERBEK (4)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Fair values (continued) (@) ¥E #®)
()  Financial assets and liabilities measured at () BAFEIENTHBEERE
fair value (Continued) & (&)

BRE =R FlEG E R AR
Significant unobservable inputs Range
EARUBERAEE i

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
Valuation techniques

fhER

12.02%-15.24%
(2019: 25% t0 50%)

Discounted cash flow
(2019: Precedent
transaction method)

Unlisted equity instrument Revenue growth rate (note)
(2019: Weighted average

share price)

FEMBRATA RRALRE Wi R (fit) 12.02%-15.24%
(Z2-Nn%: (ZF-N%F : MEFIRE) (ZZ—N5F : 25%E50%)
KR HE)

The fair value of unlisted equity investment is
determined using the discounted cash flow
adjusted for lack of marketability discount and lack
of control discount. The fair value measurement
is negatively correlated to the discount for lack of
marketability, lack of control discount and weighted
average cost of capital.

Note:

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of revenue growth rate by 5%, with all other
variables held constant, would have no impact on the
Group's other comprehensive income as the fair value of
the unlisted equity instrument are HK$nil.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
(a) Fair values (continued)

42. cREMREEEERBEEK &)

(@ 2¥E @

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at () HBAFEIAENEHBEERSA
fair value (Continued) & (&)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BHE=R N FEFZHEN
(Continued) (#&)
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the fair value HE-_Z—-hF=HA=+—H

of unlisted equity instruments was determined
using the market approach by reference to share
price in recent precedent share transactions of

ii& CFELETRATART
BR2ELRRREE KD
B0 32 5 7 B BB B2 R T 35 )%

the investee and the weight was adjusted for EEE - WKEHNRZSHREA
timing of precedent transactions. As at 31 March B - R_ZE-NLF=H
2019, it was estimated that with all other variables =+—0 WHREAEMEER
held constant, an increase/decrease in weighted BAE  MEEHIRELA

average share price by 10% would had increased/
decreased the Group’s other comprehensive

income by HK$1,400,000.

The movements during the year in the balance
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as

follow:

A1 April 2018
Loss recognised in other comprehensive income

T BE10%TE R #8524 S [ E A
2 HEURESIE AN, I8 41,400,000
/%713 °©

FRNZEFE=MAFEFEE
R HBETIAT

Unlisted
equity
securities
kL

BARS
HK$'000
BT

R-Z-\FNA-H 19481
REMEERENEL BB (5,481)

At 31 March 2019
Loss recognised in other comprehensive income

At 31 March 2020

R-E-FF=A=1-H
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
(@) Fair values (continued)

(b)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

Included in other comprehensive income is an
amount of HK$14,000,000 (2019: HK$5,481,000) loss
relating to unlisted equity securities classified as
equity instruments at FVOCI held at the end of the
current reporting period and is reported as changes
of fair value reserve (non-recycling).

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments carried at amortised cost were not
materially different from their fair values at 31
March 2020 and 2019.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to loan
receivables and trade receivables. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. cREREEBERBE ©)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) FEE (&)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Credit risk arising from loan business

The Group has taken measures to identify credit
risks arising from loan business. The Group
manages credit risk at every stage of the risk
management system, including pre-approval,
review and credit approval and post-transaction
monitoring processes. The Group conducts
customer acceptance and due diligence during the
pre-approval process. A transaction is subject to
the review and approval by the executive directors.

During the post-transaction monitoring process,
the Group performs credit evaluations on each
and every major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.

Certain loans granted are backed by collateral
(e.g. property, unlisted equity investments) as
security. The Group also focuses on ascertaining
legal ownership and the valuation of the collateral.
The Group closely monitors the ownership and
the value of the collateral throughout the loan
period. The loan receivables are due by the date as
specified in the corresponding loan agreements.

(i)

REEMFBHEERR

ARE B B BRERE b 8 Bl B R
BEENEERR - $¢Ib"\
R E R RS S ER R
EERR  REESEL - %E
RIEEHEARRZHRERE
Fre RELBED  AEEH®
TEPEHULERBE - X5
BRPITESEERILAE -

RHREFERFT  AKEE
HHERTERPETERN
e ZEFEEINELPBE
BT S ) IR A (EIE B
TEEEFHNBEEMREP
REFMEBRRNEERSE -

ETEENERAER®D (40
ME - FELTRERE) (EE
o REE TR ESHEER®D
HOETE B ERMGE  NEE
PAEEE & 3R A e B2 B AR AR
mEVEEREREME - BIRER
IR EE S e 2T A9 H B
FIH] o
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continuead)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Credit risk arising from loan business
(Continued)

In accordance with accounting policies, if there is
objective evidence that indicates the cash flows
for a particular loan is expected to decrease, and
the amount can be estimated, the loan is recorded
as an impaired loan and the impairment loss is
recognised in profit or 10ss.

The Group’s policy requires regular review of the
quality of individually significant financial assets. For
assets for which an allowance for impairment 10ss
is provided individually, the amount is determined
by an evaluation of the incurred loss at the
reporting date on a case-by-case basis. In making
such assessments, the Group considers the value
of collateral held and expected future cash flows
from the asset.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 43% (2019: 36%) and 81% (2019: 86%) of
the loan receivables was due from the Group's
largest loan debtor and the five largest loan debtors
respectively.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

42. ¢HEAKREEEEREE &)

(b) FEE (&)

(i)

Credit risk arising from loan business
(Continued)

The Group adopts a loan risk classification
approach to manage its loan receivables portfolio
risk. Loan receivables are categorised into the
following stages by the Group:

Stage 1

Loan receivables have not experienced a significant
increase in credit risk since origination and
impairment recognised on the basis of 12 months
expected credit losses (12-month ECLS).

Stage 2

Loan receivables have experienced a significant
increase in credit risk since origination and
impairment is recognised on the basis of lifetime
expected credit losses (Lifetime ECLS non credit-
impaired).

(i)

REEHFBYEERE ()

AEBRBERRER D BEE
BHEWERAESRR - A&
BRI T B B R S ST
DEE

FIEER

R LR ROREER12(E A B
HEEEE (2MEARSBEER
B18) E1THER - B ERN
ZAEER R EARE LN

F2EER

RR LR KR EE R 2 BB
FEBR (BEERENEZH
BHEEER) E1THER &
WERzEERRBEEM -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continuead)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Credit risk arising from loan business
(Continued)

Stage 3

Loan receivables that are in default and considered
credit impaired (Lifetime ECLs credit-impaired).

The Group applies the ECL model to measure the
impairment loss of the loan receivables.

Parameters of ECL measurement

According to whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk and whether there is an impairment
of assets, the Group measures the impairment
loss for different assets with ECL of 12 months or
the entire lifetime respectively. The key measuring
parameters of ECL include probability of default
(PD), loss given default (LGD) and exposure at
default (EAD). Based on the requirements of HKFRS
9, the Group takes into account the quantitative
analysis of historical statistics (such as ratings of
counterparties, manners of guarantees and types
of collaterals, repayments, etc.) and forward-
looking information in order to establish the model
of PD, LGD and EAD.

Relative definitions are listed as follows:

PD refers to the possibility that the debtor will not
be able to fulfil its obligations of repayment over the
next 12 months or throughout the entire remaining
lifetime. The Group’s PD is adjusted based on the
results of the internal rating-based approach, taking
into account the forward-looking information and
deducting the prudential adjustment to reflect the
debtor’'s point-in-time (PIT) PD under the current
macroeconomic environment;
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Credit risk arising from loan business
(Continued)

Parameters of ECL measurement (Continued)

LGD refers to the Group’s expectation of the extent
of the loss resulting from the default exposure.
Depending on the type of counterparty, the method
and priority of the recourse, and the type of
collaterals, the LGD varies;

EAD is the amount that the Group should be
reimbursed at the time of the default in the next 12
months or throughout the entire remaining lifetime.

Forward-looking information

The assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk and the calculation of ECL both involve
forward-looking information. Through the analysis

42. ¢REKREEEEREE &)

(b) FEE (&)

(i)

REEHFBYEERE ()

TR EERT B 28 (&)
BHBRREZHEAEEYHEN
ERREEERREEELN
BH - REXZHFOEL
BRI T AME T RARIER
mERE - BOBERERBER
EN

ERRBM O - EARKI2
8 A e AR T ARG -
FENBER  REBEREE
MHEHE o

HIBEIEE R

BEREE RGN TG RIE
HEEBBRNFEY RATEE
B AEBBBETELR

of historical data, the Group identifies the key Bt MR ER KR
economic indicators that affect the credit risk and AEERRMEREEBEN

ECL of various business types.

The impact of these economic indicators on the PD
and the LGD varies according to different types of
business. The Group applied experts’ judgement
in this process, according to the result of experts’
judgement, the Group predicts these economic
indicators on a quarterly basis and determines the
impact of these economic indicators on the PD and
the LGD by conducting regression analysis.

Modlification of contractual cash flows

A modification or re-negotiation of a contract
between the Group and a counterparty may result
in a change to the contractual cash flows without
resulting in the derecognition of the financial
assets.

PASR A ARAR -

ZERBEZHEANERE
HEREIENTE  HTRAME
BHEAEMTR - AEBEE I
BEFERBTERAEGN A
A BEERHGNER K
SESFEHZRSEBEERE
FTIE0R - WmmETTRISE D
WEZSRBRTEHEORE
KigfiB R E -
BRI 2 B BN
REFEBRZZHFHIERKE
FRESLD - ATRETEEK
IHEREMEENBERATER
SRHREREZE -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continuead)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Credit risk arising from loan business
(Continued)

Modification of contractual cash flows (Continued)
Such restructuring activities include extended
payment term arrangements, repayment schedule
modifications and changes to the interest
settlement method. The risk of default of such
assets after modification is assessed at the
reporting date and compared with the risk under
the original terms at initial recognition, when the
modification is not substantial and so does not
result in derecognition of the original asset and the
book value of the financial asset is recalculated
and the related gain or loss is included in current
profit and loss. The recalculated book value of the
financial asset is determined based on the present
value of the contractual cash flows following the
renegotiation or modification, as calculated using
the original effective interest rate of the financial
asset.

The Group monitors the subsequent performance
of modified assets. The Group may determine
that the credit risk has significantly improved after
restructuring, so that the assets are moved from
Stage 3 or Stage 2 to Stage 1. At 31 March 2020,
the carrying amount of financial assets with such
modified contractual cash flows amounted to
HK$30,116,000 (2019: HKSnil).
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(b)

S8R (&)
(i) XREEHFBHEERRE ()

BB HENEN ()
ERERAEYBRELERNMN R
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BELEETRN - BEEMNENRYL
REXRBEEMHZLETEER
RIERREEER  ~EHE
ERE B HEREREENE
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. sRIEREEEEREBEK &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continuea) (b) EER &)
(i)  Credit risk arising from loan business (i) FKEEFEBWSERLE (&)
(Continued)
(1) Concentrations of risk for loan receivables (1) JEWE A E
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral () HEBERRELES
type with maturity profile R FEU B R EIHR 1B
AT

2020
It 23
Loans secured by
BXAUTREEER
Guarantee
Unsecured Propertiesand  provided by

loans  otherassets third parties Total
HE=H

BERER WERHMEE RIER &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T Tén TER TEn

Due within 3months orondemand  3EAREIHREEREE

Due after 3 months but within 3E Atk {R6{E A MZIH
6 months

Dug after 6 months but within 6{EREE12[EAREIS
12 months

Due after 12 months 12{EREEH

Sub-fotal 15t

Impairment allowances HERE

2019
Z2-NF
Loans secured by
ERAUTREEER
Unsecured  Properties and

loans other assets

EERER NERAMEE

HK$'000 HK$'000

TiEn TiEn
Due within 3 months or on demand JEAMFIHSEEREE 2306 42002 44,508
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 3fE At {R6{E A REIH 6,286 112 6,39
Due after 6 months but within 12 months 6E B &/B 12/ A 3|8 970 20722 21692
Due after 12 months AERE - 780 780
Sub-total Nt 9562 63816 73378
Impairment allowances HERE (30 9,149) 9.453)
9258 54,667 63925
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. cREREEBEEREE ©)
AND POLICIES (continuead)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) FERME &)
(i)  Credit risk arising from loan business (i) FREEXEBWSERLE (&)
(Continued)
(1) Concentrations of risk for loan receivables (1) BREZEFER (&)
(Continued)
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral (i) REFREEE S
type with credit quality WEREREEE
=01

2020
b3
Loans secured by
ERHATREEER
Guarantee
Unsecured  Properties and provided by
loans  otherassets third parties
mE=R
RERER MEREMEE RitER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T T

Loan receivables that are credit ~ E&RHERKER

impaired

- Not past due - K8 = =

- Less than 3 months past due - BEH3EA = = =

- Over 3 months past due - BERE3EA = 197

- Over due rescheduled loans -BHRERER ) 23978 30.116
Sub-fotal 3t b 23,978 30,313
Impairment allowances ERE I (4.931) (6,876)

19,047 23437

Loan receivables that are not REERERNER
credit impaired

- Not past dug - KB 5,000 2174 27,458
- Less than 3 months past due - BBIER = 2 52
- Over 3 months past due - BHRA3EA = - -
Sub-total et ! 2,176 27,510
Impairment allowances WERE (6,810) (6,914)

15,366 20,596
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. sRIEREEEEREBEK &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERBS (&)
(i)  Credit risk arising from loan business (i) FKEEFEBWSERLE (&)
(Continued)
(1) Concentrations of risk for loan receivables (1) EREFmEFEE (F)
(Continued)
(i) Analysis of loan receivables by collateral (i) HEFRERES
type with credit quality (Continued) WEREREEE
=0T (&)
2019
“ENE
Loans secured by
Unsecured
loans
; a5t
HKS'000 HKS'000
ThT B i
Loan receivables that are credit EEHERKER
impaired
- Not past due - RiH 400 - 400
- Less than 3 months past due BE3ER - - _
- Over 3months past due —ZAE;% h83EA 2 32,985 3012
SUb-total INef 47 32985 33412
Impairment allowances HERE (268) (9,068) (9.33)
159 23917 24076
Loan receivables that are not credit REEWECRRES
impaired
- Not past due - RiEH 8902 30,53 3437
- Less than 3 months past due - B3R i) 26 374
- Over 3 months past due - BHEEEA 105 50 15
SUb-total g 9,135 30831 39.966
Impairment allowances HERE (30) (81) (17)
9,099 30,750 39.849
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continuead)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Other credit risk

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 97% (2019: 71%) and 100% (2019: 97%)
of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest trade debtor and the five largest
trade debtors respectively within the OEM Business
and Wholesaling Business segment.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are usually due
within 30 days to 60 days from the date of billing.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
trade customers.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Other credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLS,
which is calculated using a provision matrix.
As the Group's historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group's different
customer bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

42. cREMREEEERBEEK &)

(b)

EERk (&)

(i)

Atz EmbE ()
ESEWHE (&)
AEBERBERZ2HBEREE
BiEMNSE (ERBREERET
B) ST EE 5 WA R
e IR AEBELEERHE
BRI TR TREP D
FBIEEAFBEREZE  FtH
RERBEROBERBEEREZA
SETRATEPHETE ST
Rl o

TREJINR-_Z_ZFR_
*hﬁ—ﬂ —+*EI$’§@2

receivables as at 31 March 2020 and 2019: = B R O & E S ek
%Eﬁﬁ%%ﬁééﬁaéﬂ :
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount  allowance
FHERE RREAE EEEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET
At 31 March 2020: ZEITF=HA=1T—H:
Current (not past due) ,,.éb (R@Hl) - 4,526 -
1-30 days past due #E12E30H - 17 -
31-60 days past due #3120 - - -
61-90 days past due W61 Z290H 13.1% 255 165
Over 91 days past due BRI A 100% 1,119 1,119
6,017 1,284
At 31 March 2019: RZZE—hF=ZA=+—8:
Current (not past due) nE (R@H) - 7,024 -
1-30 days past due #1230 - 163 -
31-60 days past due BHI31Z260H - - -
61-90 days past due BHEI61290H - 90 -
Over 91 days past due AR A - - -
7,277 -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. SRIEREEEEREBEK &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EER &)
(i)  Other credit risk (Continued) (i) EBft=EmE (&)

Trade receivables (Continued) B ZEWE ()
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss BHEBREDEREREEBL
experience and adjusted to reflect differences B I A A BE DA I Bl LS R R 5P 8
between economic conditions during the period BHBBLEAR R - BRR
over which the historic data has been collected, R RS B A FE W R IB TR B 4F
current conditions and the Group’s view of REEEARINERHZER -
economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect FANESHEBFIBEEHERER
of trade receivables during the year is as follows: gEHIT -

HK$'000

T

Balance at beginning of the year FEEH 257

Amounts written off during the year A5 ERE R (257)
Impairment losses recognised during — 4F AR A RIE 18

the year -

Balance at end of the year FARE -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. cREREEBERBE ©)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERB &)
(i)  Other credit risk (Continued) (i) EBftEEmEE (&)

Trade receivables (Continued) B G EWHIE (&)

The following significant changes in the gross IATEZERFIERAZELZ

carrying amounts of trade receivables contributed BN )G BE 1B BN

to the increase (2019: decrease) in the loss (ZZ—NEF  ®mD) -
allowance:

-  origination of new trade receivables net of - ?ﬂﬁA¥ﬁ%%ﬂgﬂﬁz%’\Iﬁ>‘JﬁE
those settled resulted in an increase in 1oss B2 E P REWFIEEH
allowance of HK$1,284,000 (2019: HK$nil); and Eﬂﬁﬁéﬁ # 111,284,000

BIL(ZE—NF - TE
) &

- a write-off of trade receivables with a gross -  WIHE S EWGRIE (A&
carrying amount of HK$nil (2019: HK$257,000), BREIRERNRE) 2
which loss allowance was provided before, R ATHET (=
resulted in a decrease in loss allowance of — N £ : 257,000% 7T)
HK$Nil (2019: HK$257,000). BHEBRRERDTHET

(ZZT— 4 : 257,000/
7T e
STHEBEERERLT /202088 271
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continuead)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(c)

(i)  Other credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of
the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
directors of the Company believe that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year ended
31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group assessed
the ECL for other receivables and deposits were
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest
rate risk arises primarily from loan receivables, bank
deposits, loan from a shareholder, other borrowings and
lease liabilities.

Loan receivables, loan from a shareholder, other
borrowings and lease liabilities at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Bank deposits are carried at low interest rates and the
interest income thereon is not significant.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c)
(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments
at the end of the reporting period:

42. SRIEMREREBERBR 4#)

(c) R (42)

(i)

2020
-_ 7 -_ 7 i
Effective
interest rate

BBRAE

Fixed interest rate

%

BERIE

Financial assets SRIEE
- Loan receivables - EIER 3%-36%
Financial liabilities SRaR
—loans from a shareholder - RE—ZREHER 4.5%-5%
- other borrowings - HiptgE 2.5%-15%
- lease liabilities (note) -HEEE (M) 4.9%-22.2%
Variable interest rate FBF=E
Financial assets SREE
- Cash at bank - RITRE 0.001%
Net FE

Fixed rate instruments
as a percentage of net
interest-bearing financial
instruments

ElEF= TAMGEE
ERIEFERNLL

Note:

The Group has initially applied HKFKS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease
liabilities relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating lease under HKAS 17. Under this
approach, the comparative informations is not restated.

See note 3.

HK$'000

TR

44,033

(9.720)
(6,800)
(4,080)

2,126

25,559

fﬁ—?ﬂfﬁ

%4&%%@*%%@&%& :

2019
“ENE
Effective
interest rate
Flk
% HK$'000
THIT

5%-18% 63,925
0.125% 176
64,101

- 99.7%

Hiit -

REBRBLETENEERER
ERBMBHMEERE 165 - WH —
T-NEMA— HOBRYRTRET
SHE ARERENREEEGTE
AF7R D ARG EHENEER
o RIBULTTE - LA

MT%EW RS -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continuead)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)  Sensitivity analysis
Loan receivables, loans from a shareholder, other
borrowings and lease liabilities are fixed rate
instruments and are insensitive to any change in
interest rates. A change in interest rates at the end
of the reporting period would not affect profit or
loss.

The Group does not have significant exposure
to interest rates arising from variable rate cash
at bank, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is
presented.

Currency risk

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the executive directors monitor
its foreign exchange exposures and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposures should the
need arises. At the end of the reporting period, there
is minimal exposure to currency risk by the Group as
substantially all financial assets and all financial liabilities
recognised are denominated in the functional currency of
the respective Group entities.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to the parent company’s board approval. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. sRIEREEEEREBEK &)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) REBEZRS (#)
The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative RMEIR - AEEZETESRE
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, BEREBEALORIBRNR (BREUAELD
based on the contractual undiscounted payments ML (BFEF ) 2R HEH
including interest payments computed using contractual RZBAITREFHE 2 FEFIE) 25
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of HEARANEEASNO&ET BN
the reporting period and the earliest date the Group can e

be required to pay, is as follows:

2020
St 22
Contractual undiscounted
cash outflow
BNRBERLRL
More than More than
Within 1year 2 years but Carrying

1yearor but less than less than amount

on demand 2 years 5 year Total  at 31 March
R=A

WE# =t-B2

-ERABKER -FLERER BREER a3t REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TR TR TR

Non-derivative financial FTELRER

liabilities
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE
Loan from a shareholder RE—GHEROE
Other borrowings EtfgE
Lease liabilities (note) MEERE (W2
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. eRiEMREE BERBER (&)
AND POLICIES (continuead)
(e) Liquidity risk (continued) REE SRR (4

2019

(e)

—ZTNE
Contractual undiscounted
cash outflow
BHRBRR ST
Within 1 year or Carrying amount
on demand at 31 March
A
=+—B2
—FRHIREKR @it FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT AT AT
Non-derivative financial FTESRER
liabilities
Trade and other payables L5 REMENTIE 12,682 12,682 12,682
12,682 12,682 12,682
Note: Mt -
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified AEBEALEIBIEE X ERBBH
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances REERIE16% - WE T —NFMA
at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases —HOEAEDEI TR - AR LR
which were previously classified as operating leases under BEBEHEAEI7ROEAKLEHED
HKAS 17. Lease liabilities also include amounts relating to new HEEREEAE HEAGTIRIESF
leases entered into during the year. Under this approach, the REFFTHERBNSRE - REBITE
comparative information is not restated. See note 3. BERTTEY - RS-
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. cREREEBERBE ©)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(f) Equity price risk () BREEKER

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity investments held for trading and non-trading
purposes. Other than unguoted securities held for
strategic purposes, all of these investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities
are based on daily monitoring of the performance of
individual securities, other industry indicators, as well as
the Group’s liquidity needs. The portfolio is diversified in
terms of industry distribution.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments are held for long
term strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed
regularly based on the limited information available to the
Group, together with an assessment of their relevance to
the Group's long term strategic plans.

AEEHBELAFIFEERFEESE
BRBRAEENREERERR
BRIEBKES B Vs A M EREZ I
EREREYE LT -

AEBER EMIRERBRZAT LT - B
BHESEHOAKTIERNE (@R F
%~ BfITEEE s RBRNE AR
URAREERTRBEST K - REHE
BEITED M ER2Z T ©

REEMAERERE DHIER DB
BHEH - REASEAISNARE
o EHFHEERR  TETHRER
S B R HERSET SIAERE I AORTA
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

Equity price risk (continued)

At 31 March 2020, it is estimated that an increase/
(decrease) of 10% (2019: 10%) in the relevant stock
market index with all other variables held constant would
have decreased/increased the Group’s loss after tax (and
accumulated losses) as follows:

Change in the relevant equity HEREERAREEZE
price risk variable:

Increase ]

Decrease o

42. cREMREEEERBE &)

(f)

BREERRRE (@)

R-Z-ZF=A=+—-0 “FA
A BERFTEOERT - 8RR
M # LA (FR) 10% (ZF— A

£ :10%)

B A KB R

FriR1& B 1R

(RRFER) BRDAZMERNAT

2020
—ECEE
(Decrease)/
increase in
loss after
tax and

accumulated
losses
BRBEEBER
R
(R2) / B
HK$'000
TExT

(655)
655

2019
—E-NF
(Decrease)/
increase in
loss after
tax and
accumulated
losses
BRBEZEBER
-S|
(R2) 1 B
HK$'000
FEx

There is no effect of the change in the relevant stock
market index on other components of consolidated
equity.

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group's loss after tax (and accumulated
losses) and other components of consolidated equity
that would arise assuming that the changes in the stock
market index had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to equity price risk at the end of the reporting
period. It is also assumed that the fair values of the
Group's equity investments would change in accordance
with the historical correlation with the relevant stock
market index, and that all other variables remain
constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis
for 2019.
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SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE CON
i & B IR SR MY ST

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
(%zi —EE=A=+—HItFE)

43. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 43. BE-F-FF=A=+—HLHF
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED Eaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁiﬂzwjﬁ #
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR AEAIRREZBESE
ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the BEEZEVHHRETIEAS  BEEA
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new GEMAME TIERTAKIETER - LEERT
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 K HEEAIRREREE S _TF=H
March 2020 and which have not been early adopted in these =+ —HIEFERRER - BARRZENS
financial statements. These developments include the following MARPRFERM o AR EIELAT AR EIARLE
which may be relevant to the Group. EiEREE -

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts* BRUBEEENETH Rigs4r
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business? BAUBREEAEIR 2B EBOER
K
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between ERMBREENE0RREE REEFHARENALE
an Investor and its Associate or Joint SEHEAIZBR 2 BT ERRIANAELE
Venture? Bk
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8~ Definition of Material’ BREHENZNREREY EANER
BB B8 2 BETA
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform!’ BAYBREEAED B8 FREEyE
and HKFRS 7 S ERENRREEN S
BERRIETR 2R
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 ] RIZB_TF-A A2 ERBZFE
HAR AR
2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for 2 HWBEARAR TS -_TF—A—Azxkz
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first BRIz B EFEERBRRSR B2 E
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 BattRAEREEN
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 3 AFETE B Bk 2 185 iA 2 12 EAfE A
determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 ¢ RIE-Z—F—-A B 2ERBZFE
BRI AR
In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, B Fa T REBP B RE LR ZEFTR
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting Ih RZE— \FRHEEETHBEREHS
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the HEZR - HIAMEEET (2R AIERE BB
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in BHMEERZEFTAR) R T _TF—H
HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning —Hskz &R 2 FEERAR

on or after 1 January 2020.

STFERERERAT /2020 5% 219



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M AL

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

(%zi
43.

—EFEZA=1+—RALFE)

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 (continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a
Business
The amendments:

. add an optional concentration test that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The election
on whether to apply the optional concentration test is
available on transaction-by-transaction basis;

. clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set
of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs; and

. narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by
focusing on goods and services provided to customers
and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce
Costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business
combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition
date is on or after the first annual reporting period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020, with early application permitted.

The optional concentration test and the amended definition of
a business are not expected to have a significant impact to the
Group.
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43. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures deal with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains
or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary
that does not contain a business in a transaction with an
associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that
associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting
from the remeasurement of investments retained in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair
value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors” interests in the new
associate or joint venture.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information,

o replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

° include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too
broad when deciding what information to disclose in the
financial statements.

. BECER-ZEF=-A=t—HLHF

EeEMERRERZIETAE 5
RIEAIRZREBZEBELE (&)
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BT ERERERBERRREEDLE
BIE Z BRI A RRIRIRE & B E R & N R
BEMRIHNEENEITEZIBR - &
BME  ZFEFTARH  AREEBER
AAERE (ARDEIIR) 2RXFHA
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43. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material (continued)

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group but may affect
the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial
Statements.

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 (the “New Framework")
and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
The New Framework:

reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

. introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights
and a new liability definition that is likely to be broader
than the definition it replaces, but does not change the
distinction between a liability and an equity instrument;

. discusses historical cost and current value measures,
and provides additional guidance on how to select a
measurement basis for a particular asset or liability;

. states that the primary measure of financial performance
is profit or loss, and that only in exceptional
circumstances other comprehensive income will be
used and only for income or expenses that arise from a
change in the current value of an asset or liability; and

° discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIATED FINANCIA STEMENS
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(For the year ended 31 March 2020)
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43. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 43.

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 (continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 (the “New Framework")

and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards
(Continued)

Consequential amendments have been made so that
references in certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New
Framework, whilst some HKFRSs are still referred to the
previous versions of the framework. These amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020, with earlier application permitted. Other than specific
standards which still refer to the previous versions of the
framework, the Group will rely on the New Framework on its
effective date in determining the accounting policies especially
for transactions, events or conditions that are not otherwise
dealt with under the accounting standards.
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MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2020, an independent
loan debtor, a shareholder of the Company, and the Group
entered into an agreement, pursuant to which a repayment of
HK$2,000,000 (2019: HK$nil) from the loan debtor was offset
against by the outstanding loan amount due to a shareholder
by the Group.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Acquisition of subsidiaries

On 11 May 2020, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party to acquire 100%
of the issued shares in Bewisekid Holding Limited and its
subsidiary, Be Wise Kid Education Limited (collectively the
“Bewisekid Group”), which is principally engaged in provision
of the UK property investment experience — sharing seminars
and the provision of play-based learning activities for children
in Hong Kong, for consideration of HK$33,250,000, which will
be satisfied by the issue and allotment of 246,296,296 new
shares of the Company at the issue price of HK$0.135 per
consideration share. The acquisition is expected to increase
the Group's market share and broaden its customer base.

The acquisition of subsidiaries has not yet completed at the
date of approval of the financial statements. According to
the sale and purchase agreement, the long stop date for the
acquisition is 30 June 2020 or such later date as the parties to
the agreement may agree in writing.
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46. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated. Further details of the
changes in accounting policies are disclosed in note 3.

47.

LITIGATION

@

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group
received a writ of summons in relation to a repudiatory
breach of a tenancy agreement between the plaintiff, an
independent third party landlord, and Sino Shine Retailing
Limited, a former subsidiary of the Group, entered into on
27 October 2016, which the plaintiff is claiming the Group
for, inter alia, damages in the sum of approximately
HK$1,735,000 plus interest. As the directors of the Group
consider that it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the
Group recognised the provision of HK$1,735,000 (note
33) which is considered as a reliable estimate that can be
made.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, a petition has
been filed to the court by two shareholders of the
Company (the “Petitioners”), which together holding over
3% of the Company's issued shares, and the Petitioners
filed and served a re-amended petition to the court on 3
December 2019. The Petitioners pray (i) that the Company
be wound up pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32); (ii)
that the court make such other orders as are deemed
to be just and equitable; and (iii) that provision be made
for Petitioners’ costs. The hearing has been adjourned to
6 July 2020 (with 5 days reserved). The directors of the
Company have discussed with the legal counsel of the
Group and with reference to their own experience, they
believe there is a high chance of striking out the petition
and there is no effect on the going concern assumption
as the basis of preparation of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
T FEHEEE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EB-EF —TNF —F—+tF ZZT—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFET FET FETT TETT
Revenue &= 74,271 71,731 57,881 60,830 210,345
Operating 10ss K EIE (32,809) (7,074) (272,116) (298,202) (26,107)
Loss for the year FANEE (34,015) (10,131) (271,246) (297,016) (29,302)
Financial position B IR
Assets and liabilities BENAGE
Total assets BERE 89,536 114,408 150,949 427,420 150,132
Total liabilities BEREE (39,557) (16,082) (13,757) (18,711) (56,370)
49,979 98,326 137,192 408,709 93,762
Capital and reserves BRI
Total equity ViN/NETET PN
attributable to JE(L R AREE
owners of the
Company 52,577 98,177 137,822 407,359 93,762
Non-controlling eI R
interests (2,598) 149 (630) 1,350 -
49,979 98,326 137,192 408,709 93,762
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